



University of Groningen

Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a doseresponse study

Visser. M.J.

IMPORTANT NOTE: You are advised to consult the publisher's version (publisher's PDF) if you wish to cite from it. Please check the document version below.

Document Version Publisher's PDF, also known as Version of record

Publication date: 2003

Link to publication in University of Groningen/UMCG research database

Citation for published version (APA): Visser, M. J. (2003). Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a dose-response study. [S.n.].

Copyright

Other than for strictly personal use, it is not permitted to download or to forward/distribute the text or part of it without the consent of the author(s) and/or copyright holder(s), unless the work is under an open content license (like Creative Commons).

Take-down policy If you believe that this document breaches copyright please contact us providing details, and we will remove access to the work immediately and investigate your claim.

Downloaded from the University of Groningen/UMCG research database (Pure): http://www.rug.nl/research/portal. For technical reasons the number of authors shown on this cover page is limited to 10 maximum.

Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood astma: a dose-response study



Martin Johan Visser

Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a dose-response study

Martin Johan Visser

2003

Visser M.J. Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a dose-response study. Thesis University Groningen with summary in Dutch ISBN 90-367-1745-0

[®] 2003 *M.J. Visser. All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced, stored in a retrieval system, or transmitted in any form or by any means, mechanically, by photocopying, recording or otherwise, without the written permission of the author and the publishers of the articles concerned.*

The printing of this thesis was financially supported by:

GlaxoSmithKline BV, Stichting Astma Bestrijding, Merck Sharp & Dohme BV, ALTANA Pharma BV, 3M Pharma Nederland BV, AstraZeneca, ALK- Abelló BV, Novartis Pharma BV, Amgen Europe BV, Christiaens BV, Boehringer Ingelheim BV, Pfizer BV, Jaeger Toennies Benelux BV, Viatris BV, Zambon Nederland BV.

Lay-out: J.B.J. Heerink

Printed by Drukkerij van Denderen, Groningen, the Netherlands

Stellingen behorend bij het proefschrift

Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a dose-response study

Martin Johan Visser

- 1. Een stepdown benadering met inhalatiesteroïden biedt op de lange termijn geen voordeel ten opzichte van een continue onderhoudsbehandeling bij kinderen met astma.
- 2. Fluticasone propionate heeft een dosisafhankelijk effect op zowel de bronchiale hyperreactiviteit als op systemische bijwerkingen.
- 3. De effectiviteit en de bijwerkingen van hoge doseringen fluticasone propionate worden snel tenietgedaan na het afbouwen van deze hoge doseringen.
- 4. Fluticasone propionate gegeven via een stepdown benadering of in een constante dosis gedurende 2 jaar bij kinderen met astma heeft geen nadelige effecten op lengtegroei, bijnierschorsfunctie of botdichtheid.
- 5. Het gebruik van β_2 -mimetica, peakflow of symptoomscores gezamenlijk of alleen om kortdurende dosis-respons effecten van inhalatiesteroïden aan te tonen is af te raden wanneer men bronchiale hyperreactiviteits metingen tot zijn beschikking heeft.
- 6. Onderhouds therapie met fluticas one propionate in een dosis van 200 μ g/dag is effectief en veilig.
- 7. Bij het titreren van de dosering inhalatiesteroïden bij kinderen met astma hebben het bepalen van de concentratie stikstof monoxide in de uitademingslucht (gemeten middels de "tidal breathing method") en het meten van cytokines in het bloed of gestimuleerde bloed monocyten geen aanvullende waarde.
- 8. De diagnose "astma" bij kinderen tussen 6 en 10 jaar is onzeker.
- 9. Men krijgt eerder een kip door het ei uit te broeden dan door het kapot te slaan (*Abraham Lincoln*).
- 10. De prijzen van kinderkleren in de winkel onderstrepen dat een kind een naar verhouding groot lichaamsoppervlak heeft (*Midas Dekkers*).
- 11. De beste screensaver op de computer is de uitknop.

RIJKSUNIVERSITEIT GRONINGEN

Long-term effects and side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma: a dose-response study

Proefschrift

ter verkrijging van het doctoraat in de Medische Wetenschappen aan de Rijksuniversiteit Groningen op gezag van de Rector Magnificus, dr F. Zwarts, in het openbaar te verdedigen op woensdag 8 januari 2003 om 16.00 uur

door

Martin Johan Visser

geboren op 17 januari 1967 te Vroomshoop

Promotores	:	Prof. dr D.S. Postma Prof. dr E.J. Duiverman
Co-promotor	•	Dr H.F. Kauffman
Referent	:	Dr P.L.P. Brand

ISBN-nummer : 90-367-1745-0

Beoordelingscommissie	:	Prof. dr H.P. van Bever
		Prof. dr J.C. de Jongste
		Prof. dr J.G.R. de Monchy

Paranimfen

: Drs A.T. Post Drs C.H.G.J. van Sambeek elke keer als je begint denk je: is het de moeite wel waard? elke keer als je klaar bent denk je: is het wat? is het niks? daartussen liggen uren dagen maanden- de jaren wijzen het eenmaal uit.

.*

(C. Buddingh'. Uit: Deze kant boven)

Voor mijn moeder, ter nagedachtenis aan mijn vader

Contents

1	Introduction	11
2	The feasibility of airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for studies on childhood asthma <i>European Respiratory Journal 2000; 17: 887-891</i>	43
3	Clinical and immunologic factors associated with the presence or absence of airways hyperresponsiveness in childhood asthma <i>Clinical and Experimental Allergy 2002; 32: 1278-1284</i>	57
4	Short-term growth in asthmatic children using fluticasone propionate <i>CHEST 1998; 113: 584-586</i>	77
5	One-year treatment with different dosing schedules of fluticasone propi- onate in childhood asthma: Effects on hyperresponsiveness, lung func- tion, and height <i>American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine 2001; 164:</i> 2073-2077	85
6	Influence of different dosage schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate on peripheral blood cytokine concentrations in childhood asthma <i>Clinical and Experimental Allergy 2002; 32: 1497-1503</i>	103
7	Dose-dependent suppression of growth velocity, bone metabolism and adrenal cortical function in asthmatic children using the inhaled corticosteroid fluticasone propionate: No long-term effects after dose reduction: A randomised clinical study	123
8	Summary, conclusions and general discussion	141
9	Samenvatting voor de niet-medisch geschoolde	165
	Dankwoord	179

Chapter 1

Introduction

Childhood asthma

Asthma is the most common chronic disease of childhood with a prevalence of approximately 11% in the Netherlands.¹ The disease puts a tremendous burden on both children with asthma and their parents, as well as on healthcare resources.² Over the past decades, the prevalence of childhood asthma has increased considerably, and is still increasing.^{3,4} Thus it is important to optimise treatment of childhood asthma, not only for patients and parents, but also for public health and health care economics.

The major characteristics of asthma in school-aged children, adolescents, and adults are chronic airways inflammation, airways hyperresponsiveness, and reversible airways obstruction.⁵ These characteristics are strongly associated with allergy, in particular to inhaled allergens.⁵ The major presenting symptom in childhood asthma is recurrent wheezing. In subjects older than 6 years of age, (allergic) asthma is the primary cause of recurrent wheeze. In children under the age of 6 years, however, there appear to be at least two different phenotypes of recurrent wheezing (Table 1). One is that of allergic asthma commencing at an early age. Indeed, most cases of allergic asthma first appear in young childhood.⁶ This phenotype is associated with atopy from an early age onwards, and is characterised by recurrent wheezing, both with and without viral respiratory tract infections.^{7–10} Risk factors for this syndrome include maternal atopy, and elevated serum IgE levels.¹¹ This wheezing illness usually persists throughout childhood.¹¹ The other early childhood wheezing phenotype is that of viral induced wheezing ("toddler's asthma" or "transient wheeze") which is characterised by recurrent bouts of wheezing only when the child has a viral upper

respiratory tract infection. In between infections, these children are usually free from respiratory symptoms. This syndrome is <u>not</u> associated with allergy, and wheezing usually disappears between the ages of 4 to 6 years ("transient wheeze").¹¹ Risk factors include diminished airways patency prior to the first wheezing episode^{11–17}, and maternal smoking.¹¹ In clinical practice, there is considerable overlap between these two phenotypes, in terms of symptoms and signs.¹⁰ Objective measurements of lung function and airways hyperresponsiveness are not readily available below 6 years of age. There is some evidence that the nature of inflammation differs between children with different wheezing phenotypes but such an assessment of airways inflammation is not possible in clinical practice.¹⁸ In pre-school children with wheeze, therefore, the clinician has to rely solely on history and physical examination, and a clear distinction between allergic asthma and "toddler's asthma" in this age group is almost impossible.

Table 1: Differences and overlapping features between "toddler's asthma" (e.g. viral associated wheeze/transient wheeze) and allergic asthma (persistent wheeze) in children under six years of age.^{11–17}

Characteristics	"toddlers asthma"	allergic asthma
Complaints/symptoms	especially during URTI	increase of symptoms on exposure to allergic and non-specific stimuli
	symptom-free between URTI	
Most common provoking factor of exacerbation	common cold (=URTI)	common cold (=URTI)
Risk factors	small airways at birth	allergic to inhalation allergens
	parental smoking	parental smoking
	young mother	positive family history of allergy
	low birth weight	eczema
		elevated IgE levels
Effect of inhaled corticosteroids	limited	usually good
Effect of bronchodilators	moderate/good	usually good
Prognosis > 6 years of age	symptoms often disappear	symptoms usually persist

URTI: Upper Respiratory Tract Infection; IgE: immunoglobulin-E

In children older than 6 years, measurements of airways calibre, variation of air flow, and airways hyperresponsiveness are readily available.¹⁹ The usefulness of such measurements for clinical management of asthma, although likely, has not been substantiated by published evidence.²⁰ Within groups of asthmatic patients, correlations between symptoms, lung function, and airways hyperresponsiveness have been de-

scribed²¹ but these relationships are weak and variable, both within and between patients.²² The two measurements most closely associated to the degree of airways inflammation are airways hyperresponsiveness and exhaled nitric oxide.^{23–26}

Inflammation and corticosteroid responsiveness in (childhood) asthma

It has now been well established that asthma is caused by an ongoing inflammatory process in the airways wall.⁵ Chronic airways inflammation in asthma is characterised by infiltration of CD4+ T-helper (Th2) cells and eosinophils into the airways wall.^{5,27,28} These cells, when activated, produce a myriad of mediators^{29–32}, with a characteristic predominance of Th2-type cytokines (interleukin(IL)-4, IL-5, and IL-10) over Th1-type cytokines (interferon-gamma (INF- γ), IL-2, IL-12).^{33–38}

Upon inhalation of allergens eosinophils are recruited from the bone marrow, migrating to the airways.³⁹ The migration and adhesion of peripheral blood eosinophils to the inflammatory sites is enhanced by adhesion molecules, such as ICAM-1. A soluble form of ICAM-1 (sICAM-1) is elevated in the peripheral blood of asthmatic children^{40–42}, compatible with an increase in the number of eosinophils in blood, airways and sputum of asthmatic individuals.^{40–43} Both *in vitro* and *in vivo* studies in asthmatic children have demonstrated that corticosteroids reduce sICAM-1 levels^{44–46}, eosinophil counts and serum eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP) concentrations.^{47–49}

Studies in adult asthmatics have demonstrated that oral corticosteroids inhibit mRNA expression of IL-4, IL-5, and INF- γ as well as their related cytokine production in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid and lung tissue.^{50,51} Inhaled corticosteroids reduce serum levels of IL-5 and increase IL-10 levels in adult asthmatics.^{52,53} Studies in asthmatic children have shown a reduction in serum IL-5, but not in serum IL-4 concentrations after therapy with oral prednisolone.⁵⁴ Treatment with inhaled corticosteroids was associated with a reduction in mRNA encoding IL-4 and IL-5, an increase in INF- γ mRNA expression from stimulated blood peripheral mononuclear cells (PBMCs)^{55–57}, a decrease in serum IL-5,⁵⁸ and an increase levels of the anti-inflammatory cytokine IL-10.⁵⁹

The available evidence, therefore, supports the concept that inhaled corticosteroids effectively inhibit the inflammatory cascade in asthma, which is associated with a reduction in clinical symptoms and exacerbations. A major limitation in paediatric studies on the effects of inhaled corticosteroids with respect to reduction of asthmatic airways inflammation is that most studies have used peripheral blood as the

source for inflammatory cells. It is unclear whether this is a useful reflection of inflammation in the airways of asthmatic children.

Clinical efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma

Because asthma is characterised by chronic airways inflammation, anti-inflammatory therapy, in particular with inhaled corticosteroids, is the cornerstone of asthma management.^{60–62} Studies on clinical efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids have been performed generally with beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP), budesonide (BUD) and fluticasone propionate (FP).

"Stepdown" approach in childhood asthma

Most clinical studies of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma examined fixed dosages of inhaled corticosteroids during prolonged periods of time.^{63,64} There is considerable evidence suggesting that the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on asthma symptoms, lung function, and airways hyperresponsiveness are, at least partly, dose-dependent.^{65–70} Therefore, current guidelines suggest to start inhaled corticosteroid therapy in childhood asthma with a relatively high dose (aimed at reducing airways inflammation powerfully and effectively). This high starting dose is subsequently tapered down to the lowest effective dose ("stepdown" approach).^{60–62,71,72} Guidelines also suggest to double the dose of inhaled corticosteroids during an exacerbation of symptoms.⁶⁰ Popular as this stepdown strategy may be, there is hardly any evidence from clinical trials to support this practice.

One study in asthmatic children, aged 6 months to 3 years, compared a stepdown approach with a constant dose approach with nebulised BUD suspension.⁷³ Patients from the stepdown group showed a more rapid improvement in asthma symptoms (which was sustained during follow-up) when compared to the constant dose group. This study, however, did not evaluate objective assessments (lung function, airways hyperresponsiveness), and had a short follow-up time (6 weeks), limiting the generalisability to daily clinical practice.

Airways hyperresponsiveness, lung function (forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁), peak expiratory flow (PEF)) and symptoms are the most commonly used parameters to assess the clinical efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids.

Airways hyperresponsiveness

Airways hyperresponsiveness is one of the cardinal features of childhood asthma⁷⁴, and is commonly used as an end point in clinical trials in school-aged asthmatic children. During treatment with inhaled corticosteroids, airways hyperresponsiveness shows a marked improvement which continues throughout the first 2 years of therapy (Figure 1).^{63,75–77} Cessation of inhaled corticosteroids results in an increase in airways hyperresponsiveness to pre-treatment levels.^{78,79} Most children with asthma will rapidly develop (near-)normal levels of lung function after starting therapy with inhaled corticosteroids (Figure 2).^{63,75–77,80} This suggests that airways obstruction is an invalid inclusion criterion in clinical trials of asthmatic children already using inhaled corticosteroids.⁸¹ It has not been investigated whether this also holds true for airways hyperresponsiveness.

Limited data is available on the effect of different doses of inhaled corticosteroids on airways hyperresponsiveness in asthmatic children. One study found no difference in the improvement of airways hyperresponsiveness between children using BUD 100 and 200 μ g/day for 12 weeks.⁸² In another study, however, airways hyperresponsiveness improved significantly more in asthmatic children (6-14 years) using FP 400 μ g/day than in children using FP 200 μ g/day after 6 months of treatment.⁶⁷ No data are available on higher dosages of inhaled corticosteroids.

Figure 1: Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on airways hyperresponsiveness during long-term treatment of asthmatic children (after van Essen-Zandvliet et al^{63}), reprinted with permission of the publisher). Note the different pattern with change over time as compared to changes in FEV₁ (Figure 2).



Lung function

Several studies have demonstrated a dose-dependent effect of inhaled corticosteroids on FEV₁.^{65-67,70,79} The improvement of FEV₁ after introduction of inhaled corticosteroids is most pronounced during the first few weeks of therapy, and reaches a plateau within 3 months, making FEV₁ an insensitive parameter to monitor long-term treatment of inhaled corticosteroids (Figure 2).^{63,71,75,76}

PEF also improves during inhaled corticosteroid therapy in a similar way as FEV₁ over time, with little, if any, evidence of a dose-response relationship. $^{65-68,70,83,84}$

Figure 2: Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on lung function in asthmatic children (after Verberne et al^{70}). Note the different pattern of changes over time as compared to changes in PD₂₀ (Figure 1).



Symptoms/use of β_2 *-agonists*

Especially in young children, who are not able to perform lung function tests, symptoms and use of rescue β_2 -agonists are commonly used to monitor response to inhaled corticosteroid therapy. These parameters improve rapidly after therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children, independent of the dose used.^{65–68,73}

Exhaled nitric oxide (eNO)

Asthmatic children have higher levels of eNO compared to healthy controls^{85–88}, and inhaled corticosteroids reduce eNO levels in asthmatic subjects to normal levels.^{89–91} There is limited evidence suggesting a dose-dependent effect of inhaled corticosteroids on eNO levels (Figure 3).⁹²

Figure 3: Differences in exhaled nitric oxide (eNO) levels in adult asthmatics before (B) and after (A) four weeks treatment with placebo, budesonide 100 μ g/day or budesonide 400 μ g/day.



* p < 0.05; ** p < 0.01, after Jatakanon et al 92

In conclusion, airways hyperresponsiveness is the best available parameter to monitor long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids as yet, not only to test its effectiveness but also to assess a dose-response relationship. In contrast, lung function, symptoms and use of rescue medication are of limited value in guiding the dose of inhaled corticosteroids (Table 2).

Table 2: Measurements for determining efficacy of therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.

No DRR	DRR (short-term)	DRR (short-term and long-term)
Symptoms	FEV ₁	Airways hyperresponsiveness
Use of rescue medication (β_2 -agonists)	Exhaled NO	
PEF		

DRR: Dose-Response Relationship

It remains to be established whether stepping up, stepping down or a fixed dose of inhaled corticosteroids is the best approach in asthma management. For proper evaluation of this research question, airways hyperresponsiveness appears to be the preferred primary end-point.

Side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma

Local side-effects

Local side-effects due to deposition of inhaled corticosteroids in the pharynx and larynx include oropharyngeal candidiasis, dysphonia and perioral dermatitis.

Oropharyngeal candidiasis is caused by a steroid-induced diminished mucosal immune response.^{93,94} In a series of 639 children treated with BDP (mean dose 720 μ g/day) or BUD (mean dose 835 μ g/day), Dubus and co-workers reported a prevalence of 11% of doctor diagnosed "clinical oral candidiasis" in both treatment groups.⁹³ This prevalence rate is extremely high compared to other studies. One other case series of 229 children using inhaled corticosteroids (BDP > 500 μ g/day) only reported oral candidiasis in one patient.⁹⁵ In two controlled clinical trials, oropharyngeal candidiasis was seen no more frequently in the group treated with inhaled corticosteroids than in the cromoglycate group (both 0%).^{96,97}

Dysphonia is thought to be caused by a non-specific myopathy of the laryngeal muscles.⁹⁸ A dose-dependent risk of dysphonia has been described for both BDP and BUD.^{99–101} Dysphonia has been reported in up to 11 to 20% of children using inhaled BDP or BUD.^{93,97}

Cough is frequently reported by children using inhaled corticosteroids delivered by dry-powder inhalers, whereas perioral dermatitis is most commonly observed during treatment with inhaled corticosteroids delivered by nebulizers or by metered dose inhalers (MDI) attached to a holding chamber with facemask.

Systemic side-effects

Inhaled corticosteroids can exert systemic side-effects when part of the inhaled dose reaches the bloodstream through absorption from the gut (after swallowing the drug as deposited in the oropharynx) or the lung (Figure 4).^{102–104} When using an MDI without a spacer, or a dry powder inhaler (DPI), up to 60% of the inhaled corticosteroid

dose is deposited in the oropharynx.^{105,106} Use of a spacer device reduces oropharyngeal deposition and hence the amount of inhaled corticosteroids absorbed from the gut^{107,108}, thereby reducing systemic absorption and systemic side-effects.^{109,110} The systemic bioavailability of inhaled corticosteroids from the gut is dependent on the degree of first-pass inactivation of the liver. The inactivation of the steroid is larger for FP (99%) and BUD (90%) than for BDP (70%).¹¹¹

Systemic bioavailability is mainly determined, however, by the quantity of drug deposited in the lung¹¹², and increased lung deposition will lead to an increase in systemic bioavailability (Figure 4).

Figure 4: Systemic bioavailability of inhaled corticosteroids depends on absorbtion from the gut and lung (after Brand¹¹²).



Effects on growth

Like any chronic disease, chronic untreated or undertreated asthma may cause poor prepubertal growth, which is more pronounced in boys than in girls.^{113–116} In addition, the onset of puberty is delayed^{113–116}, accentuating reduced height in young teenagers with asthma. The pubertal growth spurt, although delayed, is normal and

attained adult height of asthmatics is normal.^{112,114,117,118} Longitudinal studies have demonstrated that height standard deviation scores in asthmatic children who were not treated with inhaled corticosteroids correlated negatively with the severity of asthma: poor lung function and poor asthma control were associated with lower height standard deviation scores.^{71,116,119}

Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on growth can be assessed by short-term (weeks), medium-term (months) and long-term (years) studies.

Short-term studies

Short-term growth can be assessed by means of knemometry, which measures lower leg length with an accuracy of 0.1 mm. Knemometry measurements allow detection of minimal changes, even within days.^{120,121} During treatment with prednisolone 2.5 mg/day for 2 weeks, it was thus shown that lower leg growth was completely arrested.¹²² Short-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (varying from 2 to 8 weeks) has been shown to reduce lower leg length in a dose-dependent fashion (Figure 5).^{123–126} Although knemometry is a highly sensitive tool to detect systemic side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids¹²⁷, it does not predict long-term growth or final height.^{128–130}

Medium-term studies

Systemic corticosteroids retard growth of children, even at doses as low as 5 mg/day.^{131,132} Prospective randomised controlled trials investigating the effects of BDP showed a significant growth reduction of approximately 1 cm/year in asthmatic children (doses ranging from 320 to 400 μ g/day) compared to controls during follow-up for up to 7-12 months.^{75,77,133,134} During long-term therapy with BUD (dose 400 to 710 μ g/day), a similar growth reduction was found during the first year of treatment,^{71,135} but not during further treatment for 4-6 years.¹³⁵ Two studies using FP in a dose of 100 and 200 and μ g/day in asthmatic children, aged 4 to 12 years, reported no difference in height growth rates between FP and non-steroid therapy (placebo or sodium cromoglycate) after one year treatment.^{136,137} In a meta-analysis, however, the effects of inhaled FP on growth in asthmatic children (aged 7-16 years), were statistically significant and dose-dependent, amounting to a growth reduction of 0.5 cm/year at each 200 μ g of inhaled corticosteroid/day).^{112,138}

Figure 5: Results of knemometric growth studies during 2-8 weeks therapy with beclomethasone dipropionate (BDP), budesonide (BUD), fluticasone propionate (FP), or placebo. Result a are given as mean lower leg growth rate (mm/week) with 95% confidence intervals; values above zero indicate reduced lower leg growth during therapy with inhaled corticosteroids (after Brand¹¹²). MDI: metered dose inhaler; DPI: dry powder inhaler.



Long-term studies (adult height)

Several long-term studies on effects of inhaled corticosteroids on final adult height have been published.^{113,119,139–142} These studies have shown that prolonged use of inhaled corticosteroids in doses up to 900 μ g/day did not result in reduction of final attained height.

Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal (HPA) axis

Exogenous corticosteroids, administered systemically, decrease adreno-corticotropicreleasing hormone (ACTH) levels through negative feedback on glucocorticoid receptors in the pituitary gland and hypothalamus.¹⁴³ As a consequence, prolonged systemic steroid therapy may cause adrenal cortical failure. When, under these circumstances, exogenous corticosteroids are suddenly withdrawn or when the body must mount a response to severe physiological stress, such adrenal failure may express itself in insufficient release of endogenous cortisol, and severe clinical illness (Addison's crises). Such events have also been described after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroid therapy, but appear to be rare.^{144,145} A large body of evidence is available on the effects of inhaled corticosteroids on the HPA axis. In order to compare results of these studies, the methodology of the HPA axis function tests must be reviewed.

The function of the HPA axis can be assessed by two different types of tests: screenings tests, which measure basal adrenal cortical function, and dynamic stimulation tests, which assess adrenal cortical reserve (Table 3).¹⁰²

Table 3: Screening tests and dynamic stimulation tests to assess basal adrenal cortical function (in ascending order of sensitivity).

Screening tests (basal cortisol secretion/excretion)	Stimulation tests (reserve)
Plasma cortisol levels (8.00 am)	ACTH test (250 μ g) high dose
Integrated plasma cortisol levels (12 or 24-hours)	CRH test (100 μ g)
Urinary free cortisol (morning sample or 24-hours)	ACTH test (0.5 μ g) low dose
24-hours urine cortisol metabolite excretion	

ACTH: Adreno-Cortico Tropic releasing Hormone; CRH: Corticotroop Releasing Hormone.

Screening tests

Basal adrenal cortical function can be tested, in ascending order of sensitivity, by single measurements of morning plasma cortisol, repeated assessments of plasma cortisol over 24 hours (integrated cortisol levels, expressed as area under the curve), 24hour urinary free cortisol (with creatinine correction), or 24-hours cortisol metabolite excretion.

Single measurements of (8.00 a.m.) morning plasma cortisol are known to be insensitive to assess HPA axis function, because there is a marked diurnal and day-to-day variability in these levels (due to the pulsatile secretion of cortisol rather than a gradual release during the day).^{146–149} Twenty-four hour integrated measurement of plasma cortisol levels is a far more sensitive method to detect changes in adrenal cortical activity, brought about by exogenous steroids.^{149,150} However, it is not very well suited for use in studies with children, because this method requires multiple venous sampling.

Urine is easily collected in children. There are two methods available to assess adrenal cortical function from urine samples. Free urinary cortisol excretion in overnight or 24-hours' urine provides a global impression of adrenal cortical function and it is independent of circadian changes in plasma cortisol levels.^{149–151} It is more useful to detect excessive cortisol secretion (e.g. Cushing syndrome) than adrenal cortical suppression^{151–153}, although it is more sensitive to detect adrenal cortical suppression than are single plasma cortisol samples.¹⁴⁹

The most sensitive method to assess adrenal cortical suppression by exogenous steroids is the measurement of excretion of cortisol metabolites in 24-hours' urine.^{151,154,155} Studies using this method have shown dose-dependent effects of inhaled corticosteroids on the HPA axis in asthmatic children.^{151,154,155}

Studies have been performed on the effects of BDP, BUD and FP on the HPA axis function in childhood asthma. We will here only discuss the effects of FP in asthmatic children, because this is the compound used in the studies presented in this thesis.

Placebo controlled studies of FP in asthmatic children have shown that serum cortisol levels are not affected when doses of 100 or 200 μ g/day are used for short periods of time.^{156,157} No difference in serum cortisol levels were found when FP 200 and 400 μ g/day were compared with the same dosages of BUD or BDP, for 8 weeks up to 20 months.^{158,159} Studies comparing the effects of different dosages of FP and placebo on 24-hours' and overnight urinary cortisol excretion have shown clear and consistent dose-dependent effects in doses ranging from 200 to 1250 μ g daily.^{126,157–162} In addition, high dose inhaled FP therapy was associated with diminished adrenal cortical reserve in ACTH stimulation tests.¹⁶³ No differences between the effects on adrenal cortical function of 200 to 750 μ g/day FP and similar (equipotent) dosages of BUD or BDP have been detected.^{159,164,165} A recent meta-analysis on systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroids showed a significantly greater risk of dose-related adrenal cortical suppression for FP than for BDP or BUD.¹⁶⁶

Effects of corticosteroids on bone metabolism

In adults, cross-sectional studies have shown weak, but significant associations between the use (and the dose used) of inhaled corticosteroids and bone mineral density.^{167–169} Because the axial skeleton contains a higher proportion of trabecular bone, which is metabolically more active than cortical bone, the effects of corticosteroids can best be studies in this type of bone (i.e. the vertebrae, ribs).¹⁷⁰

The mechanism for this corticosteroid induced decrease in bone mass in adults is unclear but is hypothesised to involve different actions, both direct and indirect in origin. Inhibition of new bone formation is a direct effect of corticosteroids, whereas indirect effects include increased urinary calcium excretion, reduction in intestinal calcium absorption, secondary hyperparathyroidism (resulting in increased bone resorption), and effects on the pituitary-gonadal and pituitary-adrenal axes.^{171,172}

Effects of inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism can be assessed in two ways:

- 1. Biochemical markers. Table 4 shows different biochemical markers for bone formation and resorption, which may reflect short-term effects of (inhaled) corticosteroids.^{173,174} Osteocalcin, alkaline phosphatase, and type 1 collagen are products from osteoblasts (bone formation), whereas pyridinoline and deoxypyridinoline are degradation products from collagen (bone resorption). It has been suggested that both markers of bone formation and resorption need to be measured at the same time for a reliable assessment of effects of corticosteroids on bone turnover.¹⁷⁴
- 2. Bone mineral density can be assessed by dual X-ray absorptiometry (DEXA) of parts of the skeleton (e.g. lumbar spine and femoral head), or the whole body. Densitometry of skeletal segments can also be performed by ultrasound.¹⁷⁴ Such methods are useful to assess the effects of long-term therapy with (inhaled) corticosteroids on bone.

Longitudinal studies on effects of inhaled corticosteroids on markers of bone metabolism in childhood asthma have mainly been performed with BDP and BUD. It has been demonstrated that both BDP and BUD in dosages up to 800 μ g/day in asthmatic children reduce bone metabolism.^{175–178}

Cross sectional studies of asthmatic children (aged 6 to 13 years) treated with inhaled BDP, BUD or FP, however, showed no decreased bone mineral density when compared to healthy controls.^{179–182} During long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (BDP and BUD), no decrease in bone density in asthmatic children (aged 6 to 9 years)

has been found.^{135,159,178,183} It appears, therefore, that adults and children differ in their sensitivity to steroid-induced osteopenia.

Few studies have assessed the effects of FP on bone metabolism in asthmatic children. Two short-term prospective studies, comparing BDP 400 μ g/day and BUD 400 μ g/day with FP 400 μ g/day, showed no changes over 3 months or differences between different inhaled corticosteroids in bone formation, bone resorption or bone mineral density.^{158,159}

 Table 4: Biochemical markers of bone turnover.

Bone formation	Bone resorption
Serum osteocalcin	Serum tartrate resistant acid phophatase (TRAP)
Serum alkaline phosphatase (bone spe- cific)	Serum cross-linked carboxyterminal telopeptide of type 1 collagen (1CTP)
Serum carboxyterminal propeptide of type 1 procollagen (P1CP)	Urinary hydroxyproline
Serum aminoterminal propeptide of type 1 procollagen (P1NP)	Urinary pyridinoline
	Urinary deoxypyridinoline
	Urinary calcium

Aims of the study

In the study presented in this thesis two different treatment approaches with inhaled FP are compared in asthmatic children, 6 to 10 years of age, with respect to efficacy and safety (systemic side-effects) parameters. We compared a high dose of inhaled FP (1000 μ g/day, with two monthly reductions to 500, 200, and 100 μ g/day, stepdown approach) with a median FP dose (200 μ g/day, constant dose approach), given for two years. The results of the study are presented in the following chapters of this thesis.

- 1. Airways hyperresponsiveness is frequently used as an end-point in clinical trials assessing the efficacy of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma. During the patient recruitment period of the study described in this thesis, we examined the feasibility of moderately severe airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for clinical trials in school-aged asthmatic children. This is described in **Chapter 2**.
- 2. During the run-in and wash-out phase of our study, approximately half of the asthmatic children did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after with-drawal of inhaled corticosteroids. We hypothesised that these non-hyperresponsive children represented the non-atopic transient wheezers or "toddler's asthma"), whereas the hyperresponsive children would reflect atopic persistent wheezers (allergic asthma) described by others. Hyperresponsive and non-hyperresponsive children were examined for differences in demographic, clinical, and immunological features (**Chapter 3**).
- 3. Inhaled corticosteroids are able to reduce lower leg growth (as assessed by knemometry) in a dose-dependent fashion. Most studies have compared different dosages and types of inhaled corticosteroids with each other. In **chapter 4** we describe the comparison between FP 200 μ g/day (by dry powder inhaler) and β_2 -agonists only for 2 weeks on lower leg growth.
- 4. It has been well established that the effects of inhaled corticosteroids on airways hyperresponsiveness and airways inflammation are at least partly dosedependent. For this reason, international guidelines on treatment of asthma advise to start inhaled corticosteroid therapy with a relatively high dose, tapering off to a lower dose. Most studies on inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma use a constant dose. No clinical studies have compared these two treatment strategies. In **chapter 5** we describe the results of 1-year treatment with two different dosage schedules of inhaled FP on airways hyperresponsiveness, lung function, symptoms and height.

- 5. Asthma is an inflammatory disease with a Th2-skewing of the immune response, resulting in an increase of interleukin (IL)-4, IL-5, and IL-10 levels, and a decrease of interferon-gamma (INF- γ) levels. Most knowledge on airways inflammation in asthma is inferred from studies in adults. These studies, however, generally have used invasive techniques (bronchoalveolar lavage and bronchial biopsy), which are not feasible in children. **Chapter 6** gives the results of the study investigating the effect of different dosages of inhaled FP on cytokine levels in peripheral blood samples and on the cytokine production capacity of stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells.
- 6. Although inhaled corticosteroids are considered to be first-line treatment in childhood asthma, there is concern about their potential systemic side-effects with respect to growth, adrenal cortical function and bone metabolism. In **chapter 7** we describe the results of our 2-year prospective study with two different dose-regimens of FP in children with mild to moderate asthma on these parameters.

References

- [1] Cuijpers CE, Wesseling GJ, Swaen GM, Sturmans F, Wouters EF. Asthma-related symptoms and lung function in primary school children. *J Asthma* 1994; 31:301-12.
- [2] von Mutius E. The burden of childhood asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 2000; 82 Suppl 2:II2-II5.
- [3] The International Study of Asthma and Allergies in Childhood (ISAAC) Steering Committee. Worldwide variation in prevalence of symptoms of asthma, allergic rhinoconjunctivitis, and atopic eczema: ISAAC. *Lancet* 1998; 351:1225-32.
- [4] Anderson HR, Butland BK, Strachan DP. Trends in prevalence and severity of childhood asthma. *BMJ* 1994; 308:1600-4.
- [5] Busse WW, Lemanske RFJr. Asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2001; 344:350-62.
- [6] Croner S, Kjellman NI. Natural history of bronchial asthma in childhood. A prospective study from birth up to 12-14 years of age. *Allergy* 1992; 47:150-7.
- [7] Silverman M. Out of the mouths of babes and sucklings: lessons from early childhood asthma. *Thorax* 1993; 48:1200-4.
- [8] Silverman M. Asthma and wheezing in young children. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:181-2.
- [9] Silverman M, Wilson N. Asthma-time for a change of name? *Arch Dis Child* 1997; 77:62-4.
- [10] Silverman M, Wilson N. Wheezing phenotypes in childhood. Thorax 1997; 52:936-7.
- [11] Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. The Group Health Medical Associates. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:133-8.
- [12] Martinez FD, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Holberg CJ, Taussig LM. Diminished lung function as a predisposing factor for wheezing respiratory illness in infants. N Engl J Med 1988; 319:1112-7.
- [13] Castro-Rodriguez JA, Holberg CJ, Wright AL, Martinez FD. A clinical index to define risk of asthma in young children with recurrent wheezing. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; 162:1403-6.
- [14] Clough JB, Keeping KA, Edwards LC, Freeman WM, Warner JA, Warner JO. Can we predict which wheezy infants will continue to wheeze? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:1473-80.
- [15] Csonka P, Kaila M, Laippala P, Kuusela AL, Ashorn P. Wheezing in early life and asthma at school age: predictors of symptom persistence. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2000; 11:225-9.
- [16] Park ES, Golding J, Carswell F, Stewart-Brown S. Preschool wheezing and prognosis at 10. *Arch Dis Child* 1986; 61:642-6.

- [17] Wennergren G. Prediction of outcome after wheezing in infancy. *Acta Paediatr* 2001; 90:840-2.
- [18] Stevenson EC, Turner G, Heaney LG, Schock BC, Taylor R, Gallagher T, Ennis M, Shields MD. Bronchoalveolar lavage findings suggest two different forms of childhood asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:1027-35.
- [19] Brand PLP. Practical interpretation of lung function tests in asthma. In: David TJ, ed. Recent advances in Paediatrics. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, 2000: 77-109.
- [20] Landau LI. The value of lung function in guiding drug therapy in childhood asthma. *Eur Respir Rev* 1994; 4:10-4.
- [21] Brand PL, Duiverman EJ, Postma DS, Waalkens HJ, Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: relationship to symptoms, atopy, airways obstruction and hyperresponsiveness. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:1242-7.
- [22] Brand PL, Duiverman EJ, Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: correlation with symptoms, airways obstruction, and hyperresponsiveness during long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Thorax* 1999; 54:103-7.
- [23] Baraldi E, Zanconato S. The labyrinth of asthma phenotypes and exhaled NO. *Thorax* 2001; 56:333-5.
- [24] Ferguson AC, Wong FW. Bronchial hyperresponsiveness in asthmatic children. Correlation with macrophages and eosinophils in broncholavage fluid. *Chest* 1989; 96:988-91.
- [25] Ferguson AC, Whitelaw M, Brown H. Correlation of bronchial eosinophil and mast cell activation with bronchial hyperresponsiveness in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:609-13.
- [26] Payne DN, Wilson NM, James A, Hablas H, Agrafioti C, Bush A. Evidence for different subgroups of difficult asthma in children. *Thorax* 2001; 56:345-50.
- [27] Lemanske RF, Jr. Inflammation in childhood asthma and other wheezing disorders. *Pediatrics* 2002; 109:368-72.
- [28] Kay AB. Allergy and allergic diseases. First of two parts. *N Engl J Med* 2001; 344:30-7.
- [29] Robinson DS, Hamid Q, Ying S, Tsicopoulos A, Barkans J, Bentley AM, Corrigan C, Durham SR, Kay AB. Predominant TH2-like bronchoalveolar T-lymphocyte population in atopic asthma. *N Engl J Med* 1992; 326:298-304.
- [30] Bradley BL, Azzawi M, Jacobson M, Assoufi B, Collins JV, Irani AM, Schwartz LB, Durham SR, Jeffery PK, Kay AB. Eosinophils, T-lymphocytes, mast cells, neutrophils, and macrophages in bronchial biopsy specimens from atopic subjects with asthma: comparison with biopsy specimens from atopic subjects without asthma and normal control subjects and relationship to bronchial hyperresponsiveness. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1991; 88:661-74.

- [31] Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Cytokines in asthma. Thorax 1999; 54:825-57.
- [32] Crea AE, Nakhosteen JA, Lee TH. Mediator concentrations in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid of patients with mild asymptomatic bronchial asthma. *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:190-5.
- [33] Kuo ML, Huang JL, Yeh KW, Li PS, Hsieh KH. Evaluation of Th1/Th2 ratio and cytokine production profile during acute exacerbation and convalescence in asthmatic children. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2001; 86:272-6.
- [34] Hoekstra MO, Hoekstra Y, De Reus D, Rutgers B, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Interleukin-4, interferon-gamma and interleukin-5 in peripheral blood of children with moderate atopic asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:1254-60.
- [35] Krug N, Jung T, Napp U, Wagner K, Schultze-Werninghaus G, Heusser C, Rieger CH, Schauer U, Fabel H. Frequencies of T cells expressing interleukin-4 and interleukin-5 in atopic asthmatic children. Comparison with atopic asthmatic adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:754-9.
- [36] Tang M, Kemp A, Varigos G. IL-4 and interferon-gamma production in children with atopic disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1993; 92:120-4.
- [37] Tang C, Rolland JM, Ward C, Quan B, Walters EH. IL-5 production by bronchoalveolar lavage and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in asthma and atopy. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:624-32.
- [38] Koning H, Neijens HJ, Baert MR, Oranje AP, Savelkoul HF. T cells subsets and cytokines in allergic and non-allergic children. II. Analysis of IL-5 and IL-10 mRNA expression and protein production. *Cytokine* 1997; 9:427-36.
- [39] Gauvreau GM, Watson RM, O'Byrne PM. Kinetics of allergen-induced airway eosinophilic cytokine production and airway inflammation. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:640-7.
- [40] El Sawy IH, Badr-El-Din OM, El Azzouni OE, Motawae HA. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in sera of children with bronchial asthma exacerbation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 1999; 119:126-32.
- [41] Oymar K, Bjerknes R. Differential patterns of circulating adhesion molecules in children with bronchial asthma and acute bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9:73-9.
- [42] Marguet C, Dean TP, Warner JO. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1) and interferon- gamma in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from children with airway diseases. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; 162:1016-22.
- [43] Oh JW, Lee HB, Kim CR, Yum MK, Koh YJ, Moon SJ, Kang JO, Park IK. Analysis of induced sputum to examine the effects of inhaled corticosteroid on airway inflammation in children with asthma. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 1999; 82:491-6.
- [44] Wang JH, Devalia JL, Sapsford RJ, Davies RJ. Effect of corticosteroids on release of RANTES and sICAM-1 from cultured human bronchial epithelial cells, induced by TNF-alpha. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:834-40.

- [45] Cengizlier R, Demirpolat E, Tulek N, Cakmak F. Circulating ICAM-1 levels in bronchial asthma and the effect of inhaled corticosteroids. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2000; 84:539-41.
- [46] Marguet C, Dean TP, Warner JO. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1) and interferon- gamma in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid from children with airway diseases. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; 162:1016-22.
- [47] Koller DY, Herouy Y, Gotz M, Hagel E, Urbanek R, Eichler I. Clinical value of monitoring eosinophil activity in asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1995; 73:413-7.
- [48] Juntunen-Backman K, Jarvinen P, Sorva R. Serum eosinophil cationic protein during treatment of asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1993; 92:34-8.
- [49] Hoekstra MO, Grol MH, Hovenga H, Bouman K, Stijnen T, Koeter GH, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Eosinophil and mast cell parameters in children with stable moderate asthma. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9:143-9.
- [50] Robinson D, Hamid Q, Ying S, Bentley A, Assoufi B, Durham S, Kay AB. Prednisolone treatment in asthma is associated with modulation of bronchoalveolar lavage cell interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993; 148:401-6.
- [51] Bentley AM, Hamid Q, Robinson DS, Schotman E, Meng Q, Assoufi B, Kay AB, Durham SR. Prednisolone treatment in asthma. Reduction in the numbers of eosinophils, T cells, tryptase-only positive mast cells, and modulation of IL-4, IL-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression within the bronchial mucosa. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 153:551-6.
- [52] Corrigan CJ, Haczku A, Gemou-Engesaeth V, Doi S, Kikuchi Y, Takatsu K, Durham SR, Kay AB. CD4 T-lymphocyte activation in asthma is accompanied by increased serum concentrations of interleukin-5. Effect of glucocorticoid therapy. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993; 147:540-7.
- [53] John M, Lim S, Seybold J, Jose P, Robichaud A, O'Connor B, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Inhaled corticosteroids increase interleukin-10 but reduce macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and interferon-gamma release from alveolar macrophages in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 157:256-62.
- [54] El Radhi AS, Hogg CL, Bungre JK, Bush A, Corrigan CJ. Effect of oral glucocorticoid treatment on serum inflammatory markers in acute asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 2000; 83:158-62.
- [55] Tang RB, Chen SJ. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor and interleukin-4 in sera of asthmatic children before and after a prednisolone course. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2001; 86:314-7.
- [56] Gemou-Engesaeth V, Fagerhol MK, Toda M, Hamid Q, Halvorsen S, Groegaard JB, Corrigan CJ. Expression of activation markers and cytokine mRNA by peripheral blood CD4 and CD8 T cells in atopic and nonatopic childhood asthma: effect of inhaled glucocorticoid therapy. *Pediatrics* 2002; 109:E24.

- [57] Gemou-Engesaeth V, Bush A, Kay AB, Hamid Q, Corrigan CJ. Inhaled glucocorticoid therapy of childhood asthma is associated with reduced peripheral blood T cell activation and 'Th2-type' cytokine mRNA expression. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99:695-703.
- [58] Hughes JM, Rimmer SJ, Salome CM, Hodge L, Liu-Brennan D, Woolcock AJ, Armour CL. Eosinophilia, interleukin-5, and tumour necrosis factor-alpha in asthmatic children. *Allergy* 2001; 56:412-8.
- [59] Stelmach I, Jerzynska J, Kuna P. A randomized, double-blind trial of the effect of glucocorticoid, antileukotriene and beta-agonist treatment on IL-10 serum levels in children with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 2002; 32:264-9.
- [60] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [61] Asthma in adults and schoolchildren. The General Practioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S2-8.
- [62] Asthma in children under five years of age. The General Practitioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S9-20.
- [63] van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness, and symptoms in children with asthma. The Dutch Chronic Non-specific Lung Disease Study Group. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1992; 146:547-54.
- [64] Calpin C, Macarthur C, Stephens D, Feldman W, Parkin PC. Effectiveness of prophylactic inhaled steroids in childhood asthma: a systemic review of the literature. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 100:452-7.
- [65] Shapiro G, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Mendelson L, Pearlman D, Schwartz RH, Szefler SJ. Dose-related efficacy of budesonide administered via a dry powder inhaler in the treatment of children with moderate to severe persistent asthma. *J Pediatr* 1998; 132:976-82.
- [66] Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose- response study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1995; 95:29-33.
- [67] Hofstra WB, Neijens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Kouwenberg JM, Mulder PG, Kuethe MC, Sterk PJ. Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:415-23.
- [68] Baker JW, Mellon M, Wald J, Welch M, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K. A multiple-dosing, placebo-controlled study of budesonide inhalation suspension given once or twice daily for treatment of persistent asthma in young children and infants. *Pediatrics* 1999; 103:414-21.
- [69] Bisgaard H, Gillies J, Groenewald M, Maden C. The effect of inhaled fluticasone propionate in the treatment of young asthmatic children: a dose comparison study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:126-31.
- [70] Verberne AA, Frost C, Duiverman EJ, Grol MH, Kerrebijn KF. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:213-9.
- [71] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long-term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. *Respir Med* 1994; 88:373-81.
- [72] Wennergren G, Nordvall SL, Hedlin G, Moller C, Wille S, Asbrink NE. Nebulized budesonide for the treatment of moderate to severe asthma in infants and toddlers. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85:183-9.
- [73] Volovitz B, Soferman R, Blau H, Nussinovitch M, Varsano I. Rapid induction of clinical response with a short-term high-dose starting schedule of budesonide nebulizing suspension in young children with recurrent wheezing episodes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:464-9.
- [74] Wilson N, Silverman M. Bronchial responsiveness and its measurement. In: Silverman M, ed. Childhood asthma and other wheezing disorders. London: Chapman & Hall, 1995: 141-74.
- [75] Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H., Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1997; 156:688-95.
- [76] Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Neijens HJ. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and beta- agonists on the bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1987; 79:653-9.
- [77] Simons FE. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. *N Engl J Med* 1997; 337:1659-65.
- [78] Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Gerritsen J, Duiverman EJ, Knol K, Kerrebijn KF. Cessation of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide) in children with asthma results in deterioration. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:1252-7.
- [79] Gershman NH, Wong HH, Liu JT, Fahy JV. Low- and high-dose fluticasone propionate in asthma; effects during and after treatment. *Eur Respir J* 2000; 15:11-8.

- [80] Korppi M, Remes K. Asthma treatment in schoolchildren: lung function in different therapeutic groups. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85:190-4.
- [81] Cockcroft DW, Jokic R, Marciniuk DD, Fitzpatrick MF. The current dilemma with spirometric inclusion criteria for asthma drug trials. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 1997; 79:226-8.
- [82] Jonasson G, Carlsen KH, Blomqvist P. Clinical efficacy of low-dose inhaled budesonide once or twice daily in children with mild asthma not previously treated with steroids. *Eur Respir J* 1998; 12:1099-104.
- [83] Shapiro G, Mendelson L, Kraemer MJ, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K, Smith JA. Efficacy and safety of budesonide inhalation suspension (Pulmicort Respules) in young children with inhaled steroid-dependent, persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:789-96.
- [84] Chanez P, Karlstrom R, Godard P. High or standard initial dose of budesonide to control mild-to-moderate asthma? Eur Respir J 2001; 17: 856-62.
- [85] Visser MJ, de Wit M, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. Exhaled nitric oxide in children measured by tidal breathing method: differences between asthmatics and nonasthmatic controls. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:434-7.
- [86] Nelson BV, Sears S, Woods J, Ling CY, Hunt J, Clapper LM, Gaston B. Expired nitric oxide as a marker for childhood asthma. *J Pediatr* 1997; 130:423-7.
- [87] Artlich A, Hagenah JU, Jonas S, Ahrens P, Gortner L. Exhaled nitric oxide in childhood asthma. *Eur J Pediatr* 1996; 155:698-701.
- [88] Avital A, Uwyyed K, Berkman N, Godfrey S, Bar-Yishay E, Springer C. Exhaled nitric oxide and asthma in young children. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2001; 32:308-13.
- [89] Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Changes in the dose of inhaled steroid affect exhaled nitric oxide levels in asthmatic patients. *Eur Respir J* 1996; 9:196-201.
- [90] Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Barnes PJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids decrease nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 153:454-7.
- [91] van Rensen EL, Straathof KC, Veselic-Charvat MA, Zwinderman AH, Bel EH, Sterk PJ. Effect of inhaled steroids on airway hyperresponsiveness, sputum eosinophils, and exhaled nitric oxide levels in patients with asthma. *Thorax* 1999; 54:403-8.
- [92] Jatakanon A, Kharitonov S, Lim S, Barnes PJ. Effect of differing doses of inhaled budesonide on markers of airway inflammation in patients with mild asthma. *Thorax* 1999; 54:108-14.
- [93] Dubus JC, Marguet C, Deschildre A, Mely L, Le Roux P, Brouard J, Huiart L. Local side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children: influence of drug, dose, age, and device. *Allergy* 2001; 56:944-8.
- [94] Carlsen KH. Inhaled steroids and local side-effects. *Allergy* 2001; 56:925-7.

- [95] Shaw NJ, Edmunds AT. Inhaled beclomethasone and oral candidiasis. *Arch Dis Child* 1986; 61:788-90.
- [96] Price JF, Weller PH. Comparison of fluticasone propionate and sodium cromoglycate for the treatment of childhood asthma (an open parallel group study). *Respir Med* 1995; 89:363-8.
- [97] Agertoft L, Larsen FE, Pedersen S. Posterior subcapsular cataracts, bruises and hoarseness in children with asthma receiving long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide. *Eur Respir J* 1998; 12:130-5.
- [98] Williams AJ, Baghat MS, Stableforth DE, Cayton RM, Shenoi PM, Skinner C. Dysphonia caused by inhaled steroids: recognition of a characteristic laryngeal abnormality. *Thorax* 1983; 38:813-21.
- [99] Toogood JH, Jennings B, Baskerville J, Anderson J, Johansson SA. Dosing regimen of budesonide and occurrence of oropharyngeal complications. *Eur J Respir Dis* 1984; 65:35-44.
- [100] Brown HM, Storey G. Beclomethasone dipropionate steriod aerosol in treatment of perennial allergic asthma in children. *Br Med J* 1973; 3:161-4.
- [101] Williamson IJ, Matusiewicz SP, Brown PH, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Frequency of voice problems and cough in patients using pressurized aerosol inhaled steroid preparations. *Eur Respir J* 1995; 8:590-2.
- [102] Lipworth BJ, Seckl JR. Measures for detecting systemic bioactivity with inhaled and intranasal corticosteroids. *Thorax* 1997; 52:476-82.
- [103] Pedersen S, O'Byrne P. A comparison of the efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids in asthma. *Allergy* 1997; 52:1-34.
- [104] Russell G. Inhaled corticosteroid therapy in children: an assessment of the potential for side effects. *Thorax* 1994; 49:1185-8.
- [105] Newman SP, Moren F, Trofast E, Talaee N, Clarke SW. Deposition and clinical efficacy of terbutaline sulphate from Turbuhaler, a new multi-dose powder inhaler. *Eur Respir J* 1989; 2:247-52.
- [106] Wildhaber JH, Devadason SG, Wilson JM, Roller C, Lagana T, Borgstrom L, LeSouef PN. Lung deposition of budesonide from turbuhaler in asthmatic children. *Eur J Pediatr* 1998; 157:1017-22.
- [107] Newman SP, Millar AB, Lennard-Jones TR, Moren F, Clarke SW. Improvement of pressurised aerosol deposition with Nebuhaler spacer device. *Thorax* 1984; 39:935-41.
- [108] Tal A, Golan H, Grauer N, Aviram M, Albin D, Quastel MR. Deposition pattern of radiolabeled salbutamol inhaled from a metered- dose inhaler by means of a spacer with mask in young children with airway obstruction. *J Pediatr* 1996; 128:479-84.
- [109] Selroos O, Halme M. Effect of a volumatic spacer and mouth rinsing on systemic absorption of inhaled corticosteroids from a metered dose inhaler and dry powder inhaler. *Thorax* 1991; 46:891-4.

- [110] Brown PH, Blundell G, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Do large volume spacer devices reduce the systemic effects of high dose inhaled corticosteroids? *Thorax* 1990; 45:736-9.
- [111] Barnes PJ, Pedersen S, Busse WW. Efficacy and safety of inhaled corticosteroids. New developments. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 157:S1-S3.
- [112] Brand PL. Inhaled corticosteroids reduce growth. Or do they? Eur Respir J 2001; 17:287-94.
- [113] Balfour-Lynn L. Growth and childhood asthma. Arch Dis Child 1986; 61:1049-55.
- [114] Balfour-Lynn L. Effect of asthma on growth and puberty. *Pediatrician* 1987; 14:237-41.
- [115] Martin AJ, Landau LI, Phelan PD. The effect on growth of childhood asthma. *Acta Paediatr Scand* 1981; 70:683-8.
- [116] Ninan TK, Russell G. Asthma, inhaled corticosteroid treatment, and growth. *Arch Dis Child* 1992; 67:703-5.
- [117] Russell G. Asthma and growth. Arch Dis Child 1993; 69:695-8.
- [118] Pedersen S. Do inhaled corticosteroids inhibit growth in children? Am J Respir Crit Care Med 2001; 164:521-35.
- [119] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1064-9.
- [120] Hermanussen M, Geiger-Benoit K, Burmeister J, Sippell WG. Knemometry in childhood: accuracy and standardization of a new technique of lower leg length measurement. Ann Hum Biol 1988; 15:1-15.
- [121] MacKenzie C. Knemometry. Respir Med 1994; 88 Suppl A:39-43.
- [122] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Short term linear growth in asthmatic children during treatment with prednisolone. *BMJ* 1990; 301:145-8.
- [123] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Controlled study of linear growth in asthmatic children during treatment with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. *Pediatrics* 1992; 89:839-42.
- [124] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Growth of asthmatic children during treatment with budesonide: a double blind trial. *BMJ* 1991; 303:163-5.
- [125] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Short-term growth during treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate and beclomethasone dipropionate. Arch Dis Child 1993; 68:673-6.
- [126] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Short-term knemometry and urine cortisol excretion in children treated with fluticasone propionate and budesonide: a dose response study. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:1507-12.
- [127] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Measures of systemic activity of inhaled glucocorticosteroids in children: a comparison of urine cortisol excretion and knemometry. *Respir Med* 1995; 89:347-9.

- [128] Karlberg J, Gelander L, Albertsson-Wikland K. Distinctions between short and long term human growth studies. *Acta Paediatr* 1993; 82:631-4.
- [129] Wales JK, Milner RD. Knemometry in assessment of linear growth. Arch Dis Child 1987; 62:166-71.
- [130] Hermanussen M, Burmeister J. Standards for the predictive accuracy of short term body height and lower leg length measurements on half annual growth rates. Arch Dis Child 1989; 64:259-63.
- [131] Oberger E, Engstrom I, Karlberg J. Long-term treatment with glucocorticoids/ACTH in asthmatic children. III. Effects on growth and adult height. Acta Paediatr Scand 1990; 79:77-83.
- [132] Kerrebijn KF, de Kroon JP. Effect on height of corticosteroid therapy in asthmatic children. *Arch Dis Child* 1968; 43:556-61.
- [133] Tinkelman DG, Reed CE, Nelson HS, Offord KP. Aerosol beclomethasone dipropionate compared with theophylline as primary treatment of chronic, mild to moderately severe asthma in children. *Pediatrics* 1993; 92:64-77.
- [134] Doull IJ, Freezer NJ, Holgate ST. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1995; 151:1715-9.
- [135] The Childhood Asthma Management Program Research Group. Long-Term Effects of Budesonide or Nedocromil in Children with Asthma. N Engl J Med 2000; 343:1054-63.
- [136] Price JF, Russell G, Hindmarsh PC, Weller P, Heaf DP, Williams J. Growth during one year of treatment with fluticasone propionate or sodium cromoglycate in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1997; 24:178-86.
- [137] Allen DB, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Nathan RA, Tinkelman DG, Vandewalker ML, Konig P. Growth in asthmatic children treated with fluticasone propionate. Fluticasone Propionate Asthma Study Group. J Pediatr 1998; 132:472-7.
- [138] Sharek PJ, Bergman DA. The effect of inhaled steroids on the linear growth of children with asthma: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 2000; 106:E8.
- [139] Silverstein MD, Yunginger JW, Reed CE, Petterson T, Zimmerman D, Li JT, O'Fallon WM. Attained adult height after childhood asthma: effect of glucocorticoid therapy. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:466-74.
- [140] Van Bever HP, Desager KN, Lijssens N, Weyler JJ, Du Caju MV. Does treatment of asthmatic children with inhaled corticosteroids affect their adult height? *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1999; 27:369-75.
- [141] Inoue T, Doi S, Takamatsu I, Murayama N, Kameda M, Toyoshima K. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate on growth of asthmatic children. J Asthma 1999; 36:159-64.
- [142] Norjavaara E, Gerhardsson D, V, Lindmark B. Reduced height in swedish men with asthma at the age of conscription for military service. J Pediatr 2000; 137:25-9.

- [143] Keller-Wood ME, Dallman MF. Corticosteroid inhibition of ACTH secretion. Endocr Rev 1984; 5:1-24.
- [144] Zwaan CM, Odink RJ, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Dankert-Roelse JE, Bokma JA. Acute adrenal insufficiency after discontinuation of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. *Lancet* 1992; 340:1289-90.
- [145] Wong J, Black P. Acute adrenal insufficiency associated with high dose inhaled steroids. *BMJ* 1992; 304:1415.
- [146] Holt PR, Lowndes DW, Smithies E, Dixon GT. The effect of an inhaled steroid on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis-which tests should be used? *Clin Exp Allergy* 1990; 20:145-9.
- [147] Onishi S, Miyazawa G, Nishimura Y, Sugiyama S, Yamakawa T, Inagaki H, Katoh T, Itoh S, Isobe K. Postnatal development of circadian rhythm in serum cortisol levels in children. *Pediatrics* 1983; 72:399-404.
- [148] Weitzman ED, Fukushima D, Nogeire C, Roffwarg H, Gallagher TF, Hellman L. Twenty-four hour pattern of the episodic secretion of cortisol in normal subjects. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1971; 33:14-22.
- [149] Brown PH, Blundell G, Greening AP, Crompton GK. Screening for hypothalamopituitary-adrenal axis suppression in asthmatics taking high dose inhaled corticosteroids. *Respir Med* 1991; 85:511-6.
- [150] Honour JW. Hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal axis. *Respir Med* 1994; 88 Suppl A:9-13.
- [151] Priftis K, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function in asthma. Arch Dis Child 1990; 65:838-40.
- [152] Honour JW. The adrenal cortex. In: Brook CGD, ed. Clinical paediatric endocrinology. Oxford: Blackwell, 1996: 435-52.
- [153] Zeitlin S, Wood P, Evans A, Radford M. Overnight urine growth hormone, cortisol and adenosine 3' 5' cyclic monophosphate excretion in children with chronic asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. *Respir Med* 1993; 87:445-8.
- [154] Yiallouros PK, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function and high dose inhaled corticosteroids for asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1997; 76:405-10.
- [155] Bisgaard H, Damkjaer NM, Andersen B, Andersen P, Foged N, Fuglsang G, Host A, Leth C, Pedersen M, Pelck I. Adrenal function in children with bronchial asthma treated with beclomethasone dipropionate or budesonide. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1988; 81:1088-95.
- [156] MacKenzie CA, Weinberg EG, Tabachnik E, Taylor M, Havnen J, Crescenzi K. A placebo controlled trial of fluticasone propionate in asthmatic children. *Eur J Pediatr* 1993; 152:856-60.
- [157] Hoekstra MO, Grol MH, Bouman K, Stijnen T, Koeter GH, Kauffman HF, Gerritsen J. Fluticasone propionate in children with moderate asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 154:1039-44.

- [158] Hoekx JC, Hedlin G, Pedersen W, Sorva R, Hollingworth K, Efthimiou J. Fluticasone propionate compared with budesonide: a double-blind trial in asthmatic children using powder devices at a dosage of 400 microg x day(-1). *Eur Respir* J 1996; 9:2263-72.
- [159] Rao R, Gregson RK, Jones AC, Miles EA, Campbell MJ, Warner JO. Systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids on growth and bone turnover in childhood asthma: a comparison of fluticasone with beclomethasone. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:87-94.
- [160] Lipworth BJ, Clark DJ, McFarlane LC. Adrenocortical activity with repeated twice daily dosing of fluticasone propionate and budesonide given via a large volume spacer to asthmatic school children. *Thorax* 1997; 52:686-9.
- [161] Clark DJ, Clark RA, Lipworth BJ. Adrenal suppression with inhaled budesonide and fluticasone propionate given by large volume spacer to asthmatic children. *Thorax* 1996; 51:941-3.
- [162] Kannisto S, Korppi M, Remes K, Voutilainen R. Adrenal suppression, evaluated by a low dose adrenocorticotropin test, and growth in asthmatic children treated with inhaled steroids. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2000; 85:652-7.
- [163] Todd G, Dunlop K, McNaboe J, Ryan MF, Carson D, Shields MD. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children treated with high- dose fluticasone propionate. *Lancet* 1996; 348:27-9.
- [164] Fitzgerald D, Van Asperen P, Mellis C, Honner M, Smith L, Ambler G. Fluticasone propionate 750 micrograms/day versus beclomethasone dipropionate 1500 micrograms/day: comparison of efficacy and adrenal function in paediatric asthma. *Thorax* 1998; 53:656-61.
- [165] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. A randomized, double-blind dose reduction study to compare the minimal effective dose of budesonide Turbuhaler and fluticasone propionate Diskhaler. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1997; 99:773-80.
- [166] Lipworth BJ. Systemic adverse effects of inhaled corticosteroid therapy: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Arch Intern Med* 1999; 159:941-55.
- [167] Toogood JH, Baskerville JC, Markov AE, Hodsman AB, Fraher LJ, Jennings B, Haddad RG, Drost D. Bone mineral density and the risk of fracture in patients receiving long-term inhaled steroid therapy for asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1995; 96:157-66.
- [168] Israel E, Banerjee TR, Fitzmaurice GM, Kotlov TV, LaHive K, LeBoff MS. Effects of inhaled glucocorticoids on bone density in premenopausal women. N Engl J Med 2001; 345:941-7.
- [169] Wong CA, Walsh LJ, Smith CJ, Wisniewski AF, Lewis SA, Hubbard R, Cawte S, Green DJ, Pringle M, Tattersfield AE. Inhaled corticosteroid use and bonemineral density in patients with asthma. *Lancet* 2000; 355:1399-403.

- [170] Lukert BP, Raisz LG. Glucocorticoid-induced osteoporosis: pathogenesis and management. *Ann Intern Med* 1990; 112:352-64.
- [171] Hosking DJ. Effects of corticosteroids on bone turnover. *Respir Med* 1993; 87 Suppl A:15-20.
- [172] Boyd G. Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on bone. *Respir Med* 1994; 88 Suppl A:45-50.
- [173] Risteli L, Risteli J. Biochemical markers of bone metabolism. *Ann Med* 1993; 25:385-93.
- [174] Efthimiou J, Barnes PJ. Effect of inhaled corticosteroids on bones and growth. *Eur Respir J* 1998; 11:1167-77.
- [175] Sorva R, Turpeinen M, Juntunen-Backman K, Karonen SL, Sorva A. Effects of inhaled budesonide on serum markers of bone metabolism in children with asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1992; 90:808-15.
- [176] Birkebaek NH, Esberg G, Andersen K, Wolthers O, Hassager C. Bone and collagen turnover during treatment with inhaled dry powder budesonide and beclomethasone dipropionate. *Arch Dis Child* 1995; 73:524-7.
- [177] Wolthers OD, Juul A, Hansen M, Muller J, Pedersen S. The insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover in asthmatic children treated with inhaled budesonide. *Acta Paediatr* 1995; 84:393-7.
- [178] Baraldi E, Bollini MC, De Marchi A, Zacchello F. Effect of beclomethasone dipropionate on bone mineral content assessed by X-ray densitometry in asthmatic children: a longitudinal evaluation. *Eur Respir J* 1994; 7:710-4.
- [179] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Bone mineral density in children with asthma receiving long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 157:178-83.
- [180] Kinberg KA, Hopp RJ, Biven RE, Gallagher JC. Bone mineral density in normal and asthmatic children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1994; 94:490-7.
- [181] Hopp RJ, Degan JA, Phelan J, Lappe J, Gallagher GC. Cross-sectional study of bone density in asthmatic children. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1995; 20:189-92.
- [182] Reilly SM, Hambleton G, Adams JE, Mughal MZ. Bone density in asthmatic children treated with inhaled corticosteroids. *Arch Dis Child* 2001; 84:183-4.
- [183] Martinati LC, Bertoldo F, Gasperi E, Fortunati P, Lo C, V, Boner AL. Longitudinal evaluation of bone mass in asthmatic children treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate or cromolyn sodium. *Allergy* 1998; 53:705-8.

Chapter 2

The feasibility of airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for studies on childhood asthma

A.W.A. Kamps¹, M.J. Visser², T.W. de Vries³, W.M.C. van Aalderen⁴, D.S. Postma², P.L.P. Brand¹.

¹Department of Paediatrics, Division of Paediatric Pulmonology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands. ²Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands.

³Department of Paediatrics, Medical Center Leeuwarden, the Netherlands.

⁴Department of Paediatrics, Emma Children's Hospital, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

Abstract

The feasibility of moderately severe airways hyperresponsiveness (AH) was examined as an inclusion criterion for clinical trials in asthmatic children.

During the baseline period of a long-term clinical trial in asthmatic children, maintenance therapy with fluticasone (200 μ g/day) was stopped for a maximum of 8 weeks and methacholine challenges were performed at 2-week intervals or earlier if the patients' condition deteriorated. Patients were eligible to continue the study if the provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in forced expiratory volume in 1 second (FEV₁)(PD₂₀) was < 80 μ g.

Fifty-one percent of the children did not develop a $PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$ after withdrawal of fluticasone. Patients with or without a $PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$ did not differ in duration of asthma, duration of treatment, or peak flow variation. Patients with a $PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$ had higher levels of total and specific immunoglobulin-E, and lower levels of FEV₁ and mean maximal expiratory than patients with a $PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$. Forty-four percent of the patients with a $PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$ did not have any symptoms during the wash-out period and 39% of these patients remained free from symptoms during one year follow-up.

The results of this study suggest that recruiting asthmatic children for clinical trials may be difficult if airways hyperresponsiveness is used as the sole inclusion criterion.

Introduction

Current guidelines for the treatment of childhood asthma emphasise the use of inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) as first-line treatment.^{1,2} Airways hyperresponsiveness (AH) continues to improve throughout the first 2 yrs after institution of ICS therapy.^{3–5} Therefore, if differences between various types or dosages of ICS are to be examined in clinical trials, the extent to which AH improves is a useful end-point. This is why a certain degree of AH has been frequently used as an inclusion criterion for clinical trials in childhood asthma over the past years.^{3,6,7}

Children with asthma who are currently approached for participation in clinical trials generally use ICS therapy already, sometimes even for many years. Most of these patients will have a normal or near-normal level of lung function.⁸ As a result, a certain degree of airways obstruction may no longer be a valid inclusion criterion for clinical trials in childhood asthma.⁹ Although not formally investigated so far, this might be the case for AH as well.

During the patient recruitment period of an ongoing long-term study comparing different dosing schedules of ICS, the feasibility of moderately severe AH was examined as an inclusion criterion for clinical trials in school-aged asthmatic children.

Patients and methods

For this report, baseline data from an ongoing long-term study on ICS in childhood asthma were used. In this study, two dosage schedules of ICS are compared over a period of 2 yrs, using the improvement in AH as one of the main end-points. In order to be able to detect differences between different dosage schedules of ICS during the study period (rather than comparing ICS to placebo), moderate-to-severe AH (defined as a provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁)(PD₂₀) of < 80 μ g) after withdrawal of ICS was an inclusion criterion.

Children, 6-10 yrs of age, with a clinical diagnosis of asthma, were recruited from the outpatient clinics of the three participating hospitals. None of these patients had, due to their age at presentation, undergone methacholine challenges before entering the study. After obtaining written informed parental consent, patients were switched from their usual maintenance therapy to fluticasone propionate 100 μ g *b.i.d.* via dry powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®]), GlaxoWellcome) for 6 weeks (run-in period). No other maintenance treatment for asthma was allowed. The main objective of this run-in pe-

riod was to familiarise all patients with the inhaler device to be used during the whole study period. At the end of the run-in period, a baseline methacholine provocation test was performed. Subsequently, fluticasone propionate was stopped for a period of maximal 8 weeks (wash-out), and patients were only allowed to use inhaled short acting bronchodilator (salbutamol) for relief of symptoms. Methacholine provocation tests were performed at 2-week intervals or earlier if symptoms of asthma increased. The methacholine tests were performed with a dosimeter method as described elsewhere.¹⁰ The usual cut-off level between "normal" airways responsiveness and AH using this method is a PD₂₀ of 150 μ g.¹¹

At each follow-up visit patients were asked if they had experienced symptoms of cough, wheeze, or dyspnea. During the wash-out period, patients kept a diary in which symptoms and peak expiratory flow (PEF) were recorded. The highest of three PEF manoeuvres was recorded in the morning and evening. PEF variation was calculated as the lowest PEF level during the first 2 weeks of the wash-out period as a percentage of the highest PEF level recorded in this period (low%high).⁴

The patients entered the randomised part of the study as soon as they developed AH ($PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$). If PD_{20} was $\ge 80 \ \mu g$ after a wash-out period of maximally 8 weeks, patients were withdrawn from the study and treated according to the judgement of their paediatric pulmonologist. Follow-up data from these patients were collected from their medical records.

In all patients, blood was drawn for determination of total and allergen-specific immunoglobulin-E (IgE) concentrations. Allergen-specific IgE concentrations (to house dust mite, grass and tree pollen, and cat and dog dander) were determined by a radio-allergosorbent test (RAST) (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden). A RAST test was considered positive when the result read class 2 or higher. From their medical records, the mean daily dose of ICS (cumulative dose divided by time of treatment in days) was determined.

Differences between groups were analysed using the Mann-Whitney U-test and Chisquared test as appropriate. To examine whether age was associated with AH, logistic regression analysis was carried out. Seasonal variation in the degree of AH was tested by nonparametric analysis of variance (ANOVA).

The study was approved by the ethics review boards of all three participating hospitals.

Results

Patient characteristics

Ninety-five children completed the run-in and wash-out period of the study. All patients had been treated with ICS for asthma before entering the study. At the end of the 6-week run-in period, during which all patients used 200 μ g fluticasone daily, 8 (8.4%) had a PD₂₀ < 80 μ g, and 14 (14.7%) had a PD₂₀ < 150 μ g.

Table 1: Demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients with and without airways hyperresponsiveness (AH).

	AH	No AH	<i>p-</i> value ^a
	PD ₂₀ < 80 µg	$PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$	
Subjects n	47	48	
Age (years)	8.1±1.2	8.2±1.2	0.54
Male children (%)	52	57	0.74
Duration of asthma (years)	5.1 ± 2.0	5.0 ± 2.1	0.74
Duration of ICS (years)	2.7±1.5	2.5±1.7	0.48
Mean daily dose of ICS received prior to entering study (μ g)	361±97	328±104	0.12
$\ensuremath{FEV}\xspace_1$ at end of washout period (% pred.)	92.1±16.8	98.3±18.0	0.03
$\ensuremath{MEF_{50}}\xspace$ at end of washout period (% pred.)	63.5±23.3	72.1±22.0	0.03
PEF (Low%High) ^b	72.1±12.3	74.3±13.5	0.33
IgE (kU/L)	457 (29-3966)	132 (2-4500)	0.001
RAST (positive %)	80.0	54.0	0.01
PD ₂₀ (μg)	31.8 (3.5-76)	665.3 (95-1565)	< 0.0001

Data are presented as mean±SD, or as geometric mean (range).

^aMann-Whitney U-test or χ^2 -test

^bPeak expiratory flow (PEF) variation calculated as the lowest PEF as a percentage of the highest PEF level recorded during the first two weeks of the wash-out period.

ICS: inhaled corticosteroids; FEV_1 : forced expiratory volume in one second; MEF_{50} : mean maximal expiratory flow; lgE: immunoglobulin-E; RAST: radioallergosorbent test; PD₂₀: provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in FEV₁.

There were no data available on previous tests of airways hyperresponsiveness before the patients were using ICS. Forty-seven (49%) of the 95 patients who completed the run-in and wash-out period developed AH (PD₂₀ < 80 μ g), and 48 (51%) did not. The latter group had significantly higher FEV₁ %pred and maximal expiratory flow (MEF₅₀) %pred values, and lower IgE levels as well as a lower prevalence of **RAST** positivity. Demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients are presented in Table 1. Forty-three (90%) of the 48 patients with a PD₂₀ \geq 80 μ g, had a PD₂₀ > 150 μ g. Age was not associated with AH (odds ratio 0.9; 95% confidence intervals 0.7- 1.3).

Symptoms during the wash-out period and after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids

During the 8-wk wash-out period, 21 (44%) of the patients without AH had no symptoms of cough, wheeze or dyspnea on exertion. These children were considered to be in clinical remission of their asthma. The other 27 patients (56%) reported asthmatic symptoms, including cough in 16 and wheeze in 10 (Figure 1). Characteristics of the patients with a $PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$ with and without any symptoms during the wash-out period are presented in Table 2. All patients with a $PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$ reported symptoms of asthma during the wash-out period.

Figure 1: Symptoms of asthma in patients without airways hyperresponsiveness (AH) both during the wash-out period and the follow-up period. Four patients were lost to follow-up.



After withdrawal from the trial, patients without AH were followed-up for a median period of 13 months (2-32 months). Four patients were lost to follow-up because they moved to another area or missed follow-up appointments. Of the remaining 44 patients, 17 (39%) remained free from symptoms. The remainder had mild asthmatic symptoms (cough in 13, wheeze in 7, dyspnea on exertion in 7, Figure 1). More than half of these patients were atopic with at least one positive RAST test (Table 1).

Table 2: Demographic and clinical characteristics of the patients with provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁)(PD₂₀) \ge 80 μ g with and without symptoms during the wash-out period.

	AH PD ₂₀ < 80 μg	No AH PD ₂₀ \geq 80 μ g	<i>p</i> -value ^a
100	With symptoms	Without symptoms	
Subjects n	27	21	
Age (years)	8.1±1.2	8.3±1.1	0.76
Male children (%)	75	42	0.01
Duration of asthma (years)	4.7±2.1	5.5±2.0	0.26
Duration of ICS (years)	2.5±1.6	2.7±1.9	0.77
Mean daily dose of ICS received prior to entering study (µg)	303±84	340±81	0.14
FEV ₁ at end of washout period (% pred.)	96.6±21.0	101.6±12.8	0.73
MEF ₅₀ at end of washout period (% pred.)	69.0±25.1	77.5±16.1	0.30
PEF (Low%High) ^b	69.8±15.4	80.5±7.8	0.02
IgE (kU/L)	195 (18-1538)	87 (2-4500)	0.27
RAST positive (%)	60.0	54.0	0.32
PD ₂₀ (µg)	562.3 (136-1565)	912 (182-1565)	0.03

Data are presented as mean±SD, or as geometric mean (range).

^aMann-Whitney U-test or χ^2 -test.

^bPeak expiratory flow (PEF) variation calculated as the lowest PEF as a percentage of the highest PEF level recorded during the first two weeks of the wash-out period.

ICS: inhaled corticosteroids; FEV₁: forced expiratory volume in one second; MEF₅₀: mean maximal expiratory flow; IgE: immunoglobulin-E; RAST: radioallergosorbent test; PD₂₀: provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in FEV₁.

Seasonal variation in AH

There was a seasonal variation in the degree of AH in the patients. AH was significantly lower in the spring (April, May, and June) than in the winter, summer, and autumn (non-parametric ANOVA, p = 0.01) (Figure 2).

Figure 2: Seasonal variation in the degree of airways hyperresponsiveness. Horizontal lines represent geometric mean values of provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% fall in forced expiratory volume in one second PD_{20} for each season. The PD_{20} is significantly higher during the spring months (nonparametric analysis of variance, p = 0.01). (Jan-Mar: January to March, Apr-Jun: April to June, Jul-Sep: July to September, Oct-Dec: October to December).



Discussion

Although many children with mild asthma in population studies may not show AH, previous hospital-based studies of childhood asthma suggested that most, if not all, school-aged asthmatic children had AH.^{3,6,7,12–14} The results of the present study show that at present many school-aged children in the Netherlands who have been treated with ICS because of asthma for prolonged periods of time, do not have AH after withdrawal of ICS (whether defined as a PD₂₀ < 80 or < 150 μ g).⁶ Other researchers in Western Europe share the same experience (A.A.P.H. Vaessen-Verberne, Amphia Medical Center, Breda, the Netherlands and S. Pedersen, Kolding Hospital, Kolding, Denmark, personal communication).

A drawback of the present study is the lack of data on presence or absence of AH prior to entering the trial. This, however, reflects current practice in pre-school children. Methacholine challenges using FEV_1 to monitor responses are not feasible in this age group. Therefore, although it is possible that some nonhyperresponsiveness children in the present study were never hyperresponsive, testing this hypothesis is unlikely to be successful. Nevertheless, they all had persistent respiratory symptoms initially, severe enough to be referred to a paediatric pulmonologist.

Most of the children in this study had been diagnosed with and treated for asthma from pre-school age onwards. It is now clear that wheezing during pre-school years is a heterogeneous condition that may be transient in many children.¹⁵ The children who did not develop AH and remained asymptomatic after withdrawal of ICS in this study could thus be viewed as transient wheezers without AH.^{16,17} The present findings of a higher prevalence of atopic sensitisation in children with AH than in those without AH is in agreement with earlier findings in such transient wheezers.¹⁵ Furthermore, the larger degree of PEF variation in symptomatic than in asymptomatic children without AH also fits with this observation as well.¹⁶ In contrast, the fact that almost half of the patients developed AH while most of them did not demonstrate AH during treatment with ICS, favours a diagnosis of asthma in these patients. In prospective studies, the only feature predicting which wheezers will cease wheezing is the lack of atopy.^{15,16,18} The proportion of atopic patients in the present study's nonhyperresponsive patients (54%, Table 1) is higher than that in studies from England (36%) and USA (32%).^{15,18} This suggests that in the present study group, there were more atopic patients with transient wheeze than in previous studies. A striking difference between these previous studies and the present one is the more widespread use of ICS from early age onwards in this study group. Because this study group was not characterised extensively and prospectively at a young age, it is impossible to come to a definite conclusion whether the nonhyperresponsive patients in this study were transient wheezers or truly asthmatics in long-lasting clinical remission.

A recent study from Canada showed that almost all asthmatic children who had been treated in a hospital clinic from the age of 3-4 yrs onwards demonstrated AH when re-examined 6 yrs later, whether they were symptomatic or not.¹⁴ In the latter study, only 40% of the symptomatic patients were using regular maintenance treatment with ICS, whereas all asthmatic children in the present study had used ICS for 0.2-7.6 yrs. Tentatively, the lack of AH in the present study in many children after withdrawal of ICS may reflect a long-lasting remission of childhood asthma caused by ICS therapy when instituted at an early age and continued for a prolonged period of time. It has been shown that withdrawal of ICS in older asthmatic children and adults results in rapid deterioration of symptoms and AH.^{19,20} It is possible that ICS therapy in

young children could truly stop asthmatic airways inflammation before it becomes persistent and irreversible.²¹ An interesting observation in this respect is that both FEV_1 and MEF_{50} , reflecting large airways calibre and small airways respectively, were significantly higher in children without AH than in children with AH. This suggests a beneficial effect of prolonged ICS therapy on both large and small airways function in young children with asthma. This is in agreement with the observation of chronic persistent asthmatic inflammation in both large and small airways in adults.²²

There was a lower level of AH in the children tested during the spring months (Figure 2). This could be due to low exposure to house dust mite,²³ the predominant inhalant allergen in the Netherlands, or a lower viral infection load. It is unlikely, however, that this phenomenon is responsible for the lack of AH observed in approximately one-half of the asthmatic children in the present study, because only 26 children were tested during the spring months (Figure 2), and eight of them showed AH.

Even though many of the asthmatic children failed to show AH (as traditionally defined), the PD_{20} level after withdrawal of ICS was significantly lower in the group of children who re-developed asthmatic symptoms during further follow-up than in the children who remained asymptomatic (Table 2). This suggests that because ICS are used broadly in the majority of children with asthma, cut-off levels for AH may need to be redefined.

There are several ways to assess AH in children, and it has been argued that "indirect" AH (as assessed by, for example, exercise, adenosine, or hypertonic saline) would be more closely related to current asthma than "direct challenge" (methacholine) that was used in the present study.^{24,25} Further studies are needed to determine whether the present findings are reproduced when using an indirect challenge test.

In summary, this study shows that airways responsiveness may be markedly reduced (to levels usually encountered in nonasthmatics) after withdrawal of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids in 6-10 yr old children with asthma. In addition, recruiting asthmatic children for clinical trials may be difficult if airways hyperresponsiveness is used as the sole inclusion criterion.

Acknowledgements

This study was sponsored by GlaxoWellcome (the Netherlands).

References

- [1] The British Thoracic Society, The National Asthma Campaign, The Royal College of Physicians of London in association with the general practitioner in asthma group, the British paediatric respiratory society, the Royal College of paediatrics and child health. The British guidelines on asthma management: 1995 review and position statement. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl. 1:S2-21.
- [2] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [3] van Essen-Zandvliet EEM, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness, and symptoms in children with asthma. The Dutch Chronic Non-specific Lung Disease Study Group. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1992; 146:547-54.
- [4] Brand PLP, Duiverman EJ, Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EEM, Kerrebijn KF, and the Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: correlation with symptoms, airways obstruction, and hyperresponsiveness during long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Thorax* 1999; 54:103-7.
- [5] Hofstra WB, Neijens HJ, Duiverman EJ, *et al.* Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:415-23.
- [6] Verberne AAPH, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H., Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688-95.
- [7] Verberne AAPH, Frost C, Duiverman EJ, Grol MH, Kerrebijn KF. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:213-9.
- [8] Korppi M, Remes K. Asthma treatment in schoolchildren: lung function in different therapeutic groups. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85:190-4.
- [9] Cockcroft DW, Jokic R, Marciniuk DD, Fitzpatrick MF. The current dilemma with spirometric inclusion criteria for asthma drug trials. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 1997; 79:226-8.
- [10] Birnie DW, thoe Schwartzenberg GWS, Hop WCJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EEM, Kerrebijn KF. Does the outcome of the tidal breathing and dosimeter methods of assessing bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma depend on age? *Thorax* 1990; 45:199-202.

- [11] Duiverman EJ, Neijens HJ, van Strik R, Affourtit MJ, Kerrebijn KF. Lung function and bronchial responsiveness in children who had infantile bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1987; 3:38-44.
- [12] Pattemore PK, Asher MI, Harrison AC, Mitchell EA, Rea HH, Stewart AW. The interrelationship among bronchial hyperresponsiveness, the diagnosis of asthma, and asthma symptoms. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1990; 142:549-54.
- [13] Sears MR, Jones DT, Holdaway MD, *et al.* Prevalence of bronchial reactivity to inhaled methacholine in New Zealand children. *Thorax* 1986; 41:283-9.
- [14] Gautrin D, Lapierre J-G, Malo J-L, Infante-Rivard C. Airway hyperresponsiveness and symptoms of asthma in a six-year follow- up study of childhood asthma. *Chest* 1999; 116:1659-64.
- [15] Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ, and the Group Health Medical Associates. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. The Group Health Medical Associates. N Engl J Med 1995; 332:133-8.
- [16] Stein RT, Holberg CJ, Morgan WJ, *et al.* Peak flow variability, methacholine responsiveness and atopy as markers for detecting different wheezing phenotypes in childhood. *Thorax* 1997; 52:946-52.
- [17] Gruber W, Eber E, Steinbrugger B, Modl M, Weinhandl E, Zach MS. Atopy, lung function and bronchial responsiveness in symptom-free paediatric asthma patients. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:1041-5.
- [18] Wilson NM, Dore CJ, Silverman M. Factors relating to the severity of symptoms at 5 yrs in children with severe wheeze in the first 2 yrs of life. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:346-53.
- [19] In't Veen JCCM, Smits HH, Hiemstra PS, Zwinderman AE, Sterk PJ, Bel EH. Lung function and sputum characteristics of patients with severe asthma during an induced exacerbation by double-blind steroid withdrawal. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:93-9.
- [20] Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, et al. Cessation of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide) in children with asthma results in deterioration. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:1252-7.
- [21] Pedersen S. Why does airway inflammation persist? Is it failure to treat early? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2000; 161:S182-S185.
- [22] Kraft M, Martin RJ, Wilson S, Djukanovic R, Holgate ST. Lymphocyte and eosinophil influx into alveolar tissue in nocturnal asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 159:228-34.
- [23] van der Heide S, de Monchy JG, De Vries K, Dubois AE, Kauffman HF. Seasonal differences in airway hyperresponsiveness in asthmatic patients: relationship with allergen exposure and sensitization to house dust mites. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:627-33.

- [24] Avital A, Springer C, Bar-Yishay E, Godfrey S. Adenosine, methacholine, and exercise challenges in children with asthma or paediatric chronic obstructive pulmonary disease. *Thorax* 1995; 50:511-6.
- [25] Rieler J. Nonpharmacological challenges in the assessment of bronchial responsiveness. *Eur Respir Mon* 1997; 5:115-35.

Chapter 3

Clinical and immunologic factors associated with the presence or absence of airways hyperresponsiveness in childhood asthma

M.J. Visser¹, P.L.P. Brand², H.M. Boezen³, W.M.C. van Aalderen⁴, H.F. Kauffman⁵, D.S. Postma¹.

¹ Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands.

²Department of Paediatrics, Division of Paediatric Pulmonology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands. ³Department of Epidemiology & Statistics, University of Groningen, the Netherlands.

⁴Department of Paediatrics, Emma Children's Hospital, Academic Medical Center, Amsterdam, the Netherlands.

⁵Department of Allergology, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

Abstract

Background During the baseline period of a clinical trial comparing different dosage schedules of inhaled steroids, asthmatic children (aged 6-10 years) were expected to meet the inclusion criterion of airways hyperresponsiveness (PD_{20} methacholine < 80 μ g) after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids for 2-8 weeks. However, many children failed to do so.

Objective It has been shown that young wheezing children may outgrow their symptoms. We investigated if differences between children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids were compatible with differences between transient and persistent wheezers found in other studies.

Methods Seventy-eight children entered the study, of which 41 developed airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids, and 37 did not. These two groups of children were compared with respect to differences in demographic, clinical, and immunological features (IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and INF- γ produced by Con A stimulated peripheral mononuclear cells (PBMCs) and serum IL-4, IL-5 and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1)).

Results Hyperresponsive children had more atopic features (positive RAST, high IgE, eczema), lower levels of FEV₁ and lower concentrations of sICAM-1 than non-hyperresponsive children. Apart from a borderline significantly higher IL-4 production in the hyperresponsive group, other immunologic parameters were comparable. Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that high serum IgE, low FEV₁, and low sICAM-1 levels were independently associated with the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness after stopping inhaled corticosteroids. Atopy was associated with higher concentrations of IL-4 in the hyperresponsive group.

Conclusion After withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids many children previously diagnosed with asthma did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness. We conclude that hyperresponsive children share features with persistent wheezers as found in previous studies, whereas the non-hyperresponsive children may represent transient wheezers.

Introduction

Airways hyperresponsiveness is one of the cardinal features of childhood asthma.¹ In population surveys, children with mild asthma symptoms may not be hyperresponsive to bronchoconstrictor stimuli.^{2,3} In contrast, airways hyperresponsiveness is observed almost invariably in hospital-based studies of school-aged asthmatic children.^{4–6} As airways hyperresponsiveness shows pronounced and prolonged improvement during long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids, it is commonly used as an end-point in trials assessing effects of these drugs in this age group.^{5–8}

When we designed a long-term clinical study comparing effects of different dosage schedules of inhaled corticosteroids in school-aged children with asthma, we aimed to include patients with moderate to severe airways hyperresponsiveness. To our surprise, approximately half of the recruited asthmatic children did not show airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroid therapy and many of these children remained symptom-free.⁹ We hypothesised that these non-hyperresponsive children after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids represented non-atopic transient wheezers, whereas hyperresponsive children would reflect atopic persistent wheezers.¹⁰ This study was designed to test that hypothesis. Children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids therapy hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids.

Methods

Patients

Seventy-eight children, aged 6 to 10 years, with a history of recurrent troublesome wheezing, severe enough in the past to be treated with inhaled corticosteroids (at that time diagnosed as 'asthma') entered the baseline period of a long-term clinical trial comparing two different dosage schedules of inhaled corticosteroids in child-hood asthma.¹¹ Patients were treated for 6 weeks with fluticasone propionate (FP) 100 μ g twice daily *via* a dry powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®], GlaxoWellcome Zeist, the Netherlands), followed by a wash-out period of 2-8 weeks during which no inhaled corticosteroids or other anti-inflammatory drugs were allowed, but only salbutamol via Diskhaler[®] (200 μ g) on demand. During the wash-out period, patients returned to the clinic every 2 weeks (or earlier when asthmatic symptoms worsened) for measurement of airways hyperresponsiveness. We expected most children to develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids but to our

surprise, 37 (47%) showed no airways hyperresponsiveness 8 weeks after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids (non-hyperresponsive children). The remaining 41 children (53%) did show airways hyperresponsiveness (hyperresponsive children).

Questionnaire

A questionnaire was used to obtain data on birth weight, maternal smoking during pregnancy, infant feeding practices, age of onset and duration of asthmatic symptoms, duration of inhaled corticosteroid use, family composition, personal history of eczema, the presence of furry pets, and smoking in the household.

Diary

During the run-in and wash-out period, patients kept a diary of symptom scores and recorded peak expiratory flow (PEF) twice daily. All patients received a new Mini Wright®PEF meter (Clement Clarke, Hartlow, UK) and standardized instructions on how to use it. PEF variation was expressed as low%high (the lowest PEF value observed over the recording period expressed as a percentage of the highest value obtained during that period).¹²

Lung function

Expiratory flow-volume curves were obtained with a Jaeger Masterlab pneumotachograph (Eric Jaeger GmbH, Würzburg, Germany) according to the guidelines of the European Respiratory Society.¹³

Methacholine challenge

Methacholine challenge was performed using a dosimeter method.¹⁴ Briefly, methacholine was nebulised with a DeVilbiss 646 nebuliser attached to a Rosenthal-French dosimeter. Inhaled doses were doubled from 3.0 to 1565 μ g. Three minutes after each dose, FEV₁ was measured, and the test was stopped when FEV₁ had fallen by 20% or more or when the highest concentration of methacholine had been nebulized. PD₂₀ methacholine was determined by linear interpolation.

Atopy

Blood was drawn at the end of the wash-out period (when children did not use inhaled corticosteroids) for eosinophil counts, total and specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) to house dust mite, grass and tree pollen, cat and dog dander, determined by the Pharmacia MasterCap analysis (Pharmacia & Upjohn, Uppsala, Sweden) according to the protocol of the manufacturer, with a range in IgE of 2-2000 U/mL. Values above 2000 U/mL were further quantified by dilution.

Nitric oxide in exhaled air

Nitric oxide in exhaled air (eNO) was measured with a chemiluminescence analyser (Eco Physics, Basel, Switzerland) using a tidal breathing method.¹⁵ Exhaled air was collected in a 40-L polyethylene Douglas bag, and continuously sampled for eNO content. A plateau phase of eNO was reached between 4 and 6 min. The mean concentration of this plateau was recorded in parts per billion (p.p.b.).

Laboratory measurements

Laboratory measurements were performed as described previously.¹⁶ Briefly, 10 mL diluted blood was layered on a 4 Lymphoprep solution (Nycomed Pharma A.S., Oslo, Norway, density of 1.077 g/mL) in a polypropylene tube. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs, $1*10^6$ cells/mL in RPMI-1640 medium plus 10% FCS) were cultured in a 24 wells plate (Costar, Badhoevedorp, the Netherlands), and were activated with 10 μ g Concanavalin A (Sigma Alderich Chemie B.V., Zwijndrecht, the Netherlands). The cells were incubated for 24 h, 37 °C, 5% CO₂, followed by centrifugation at 590 g, 10 min in a polypropylene tube, and the supernatant collected and stored in polypropylene tubes at -80 °C for further analyses.

Cytokine and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 measurements

Assays for supernatants for IL-4, IL-4 high Sensitive assay (for serum), and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1) were from R & D Systems Europe, Abindon, United Kingdom. Assays for INF- γ were from Amersham Life Science, Roosendaal, the Netherlands, IL-10 from Centraal Laboratorium Bloedtransfusie, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and IL-5 measured according to Borger et al.^{16,17} The detection limit was 0.010 pg/mL and 0.1 pg/mL for IL-4 and IL-5, respectively. Concentrations of IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and INF- γ in serum and supernatants of activated PBMCs were determined as described above. sICAM-1 was only determined in the serum samples. When IL-4 and IL-5 were undetectable in the serum, the detection limit was used for statistical analysis.

Statistical analysis

Statistical analysis was performed using SPSS for Windows, version 10.0. Distributions of all different parameters were inspected visually by normal probability plots. The Kolmogorov-Smirnov test was used to formally test distributions for normality. Because the distributions of total IgE and eosinophil counts were skewed, analyses were performed on log_{10} -normalized data. Student's *t*-test or Mann-Whitney *U*-test were used if appropriate. The χ^2 test was used to test differences in proportions.

Multivariate logistic regression analysis was performed on the following variables to assess their association with airways hyperresponsiveness and atopy: breastfeeding (more than three months), maternal smoking during pregnancy, birth weight, family history, presence of eczema, presence of furry pets, presence of older siblings, duration of use of inhaled corticosteroids, mean daily dose of inhaled corticosteroids, more than one positive RAST test, log IgE, eosinophil counts, FEV₁, MEF₅₀, Ln IL-4 (PBMCs), Ln INF- γ (PBMCs), Ln sICAM-1 (serum), and log IL-4/log INF- γ (both PBMCs). Both analyses were performed with adjustment for age, sex, and height. Two-sided *p*-values < 0.05 were considered to be statistically significant. Confidence intervals (CI) for differences between medians were calculated using confidence interval analysis.

Ethics

The protocol of the study was approved by the medical ethics committee of the University Hospital Groningen and written informed consent was obtained from all parents or guardians of the participating children.

Results

Patients

Characteristics of hyperresponsive and non-hyperresponsive children are presented in Tables 1 and 2. Hyperresponsive children were more likely to have a history of eczema (Table 1), had higher concentrations of serum IgE (Table 2 and Figure 1a) and were more likely to have more than one positive RAST test compared to nonhyperresponsive children. Hyperresponsive children had higher concentrations of eNO than non-hyperresponsive children (Table 2). Presence of a furry pet was more common in non-hyperresponsive children (Table 1).

Table 1: Demographic characteristics of the children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness.

	PD ₂₀ < 80 μg	$PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Subjects n	41	37	
Age at study entry (years)	8.2 (1.1)	8.2 (1.2)	0.97
Male sex (%)	58.5	45.9	0.27
Height (cm)	131.4 (7.9)	133.2 (9.8)	0.41
Breastfeeding > 3 months (%)	73.7	64.7	0.56
Maternal smoking during pregnancy (%)	17.6	21.9	0.67
Birth weight (g) ^b	3375 (1670-4500)	3525 (1420-4500)	0.26
Age at first wheezing episode (years) ^b	1.8 (0.1-7.0)	1.7 (0.1-9.0)	0.31
Family history (%)	51.3	51.4	0.1
Presence of eczema (%)	79.5	56.8	0.03
Presence of furry pet (%)	18.9	40	0.049
Older siblings (%)	65.6	64.7	0.94
Duration of inhaled corticosteroids (years)	2.6 (1.4)	2.6 (1.9)	0.95
Mean daily dose of inhaled corticos- teroids (µg/day)	370 (108)	344 (102)	0.27

^aStudent's *t*-test, Mann-Whitney *U*-test, or χ^2 test as appropriate. Values are presented as mean values (SD) or as median (range ^b).

Lung function

Hyperresponsive children had significantly lower FEV_1 , MEF_{50} and PEF values than non-hyperresponsive patients (Table 2 and Figure 1b). No significant difference in PEF-variation was found between the two groups.

Table 2: Laboratory and lung function characteristics of the children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness.

	$PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$	$PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Subjects n	41	37	
IgE (kU/L) ^b	407 (32-3980)	166 (2-5011)	0.04
\geq 1 RAST (%) ^c	82.1	57.1	0.02
RAST house dust mite + (%)	76.9	48.6	0.01
Eosinophil counts (1*10 ⁹ /L)	0.65 (0.13-2.34)	0.48 (0.10-2.10)	0.1
Exhaled NO (ppb)	17.5 (3-30)	11.0 (4-21)	0.01
FEV ₁ (L)	1.47 (0.74-2.47)	1.64 (0.72-2.50)	0.01
FEV ₁ (%pred.)	91.0 (44.0-129.0)	104.0 (93.0-129.0)	0.04
Lowest PEF as % of highest	72.5 (36.4-89.3)	75.0 (41.2-93.3)	0.4
MEF ₅₀ (L/s)	1.47 (0.40-2.45)	2.00 (0.27-3.06)	0.001
MEF ₅₀ (%pred.)	58.6 (17.1-121.6)	81.5 (12.2-148.5)	0.005
Mean morning PEF (L/min)	197 (113-287)	224 (79-347)	0.003

Values are presented as median (range).

^aMann-Whitney *U*-test, or χ^2 test as appropriate.

^bIgE and eosinophil counts are presented as geometric mean (range).

^cRAST test was considered positive when the result read class 2 or higher.

Immunological parameters, serum

IL-4 was detectable in the serum of 22 hyperresponsive children (54%) and in 13 (35%) non-hyperresponsive children, without a significant difference between the two groups (Table 3). No significant difference was found either when only the detectable concentrations of serum IL-4 were analysed.

Serum IL-5 was detectable in 23 children (56%) with and in 19 (51%) without airways hyperresponsiveness, and no difference was found between the groups (Table 3). No significant differences were found when analysing only the detectable concentrations of serum IL-5. sICAM-1 was detectable in all children and was significantly lower in the group with a $PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$ compared to the group with a $PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$ (Table 3 and Figure 1c).

Table 3: Immunologic characteristics of asthmatic children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness.

	PD ₂₀ < 80 μg	$PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$	<i>p</i> -value ^a
Subjects n	41	37	
In serum			
IL-4 (pg/mL)	0.042 (0.010-5.13)	0.01 (0.010-2.86)	0.29
IL-5 (pg/mL)	0.66 (0.10-19.72)	0.77 (0.10-10.23)	0.68
sICAM-1 (ng/mL)	290.8 (213.6-441.0)	328.6 (133.2-661.0)	0.006
In supernatants from stin	nulated PBMCs		
IL-4 (pg/mL)	36.94 (6.87-200.60)	33.49 (11.44-76.76)	0.07
IL-5 (pg/mL)	210.6 (32.6-730.2)	226.8 (36.3-646.5)	0.85
IL-10 (pg/mL)	307.9 (31.0-1165.0)	315.3 (9.9-744.6)	0.45
INF-y (pg/mL)	276.6 (30.84-1762.00)	249.5 (38.93-900.20)	0.57
Log IL-4/log INF-y	0.65 (0.38-1.37)	0.64 (0.42-0.82)	0.25

Values are presented as median (range).

^aMann-Whitney U-test.

Relationship of PD₂₀ with supernatants of Con A stimulated PBMCs

IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and INF- γ were detectable in supernatants of Con A stimulated PBMCs of all participants (Table 3). There was a borderline significant difference between children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness for IL-4 (Table 3). Otherwise, no significant differences were found (Table 3 and Figure 1d).

Figure 1: Differences between children with $(PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g)$ and without $(PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g)$ airways hyperresponsiveness, and with $(\ge 1 \text{ RAST})$ and without atopy (< 1 RAST). a) IgE concentration, b) FEV₁ % predicted, c) sICAM-1 in serum, and d) ratio of log IL-4 and log INF- γ .



*Relationship of PD*₂₀ *with allergy, lung function, and demographic markers*

Multivariate logistic regression analysis showed that the independent significant predictors of airways hyperresponsiveness (adjusted for age, sex, and height) at age 8 years were: \geq 1 RAST, presence of eczema, log IgE, Ln IL-4 in Con A stimulated PBMCs, Ln sICAM-1 in serum, presence of furry pets, MEF₅₀, and FEV₁(Table 4).

 Table 4: Multivariate logistic regression analysis with airways hyperresponsiveness and atopy as dependent variables, for all independent variables separately (adjusted for age, sex, and height).

	Methacholine-positive	Presence of atopy
	$(PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g)$	(≥ 1 RAST)
	Odds Ratio (95% CI)	Odds Ratio (95% CI)
Subjects n	41	37
Breastfeeding > 3 month	1.55 (0.35-6.71)	3.28 (0.40-26.84)
Maternal smoking during pregnancy	0.79 (0.22-2.75)	1.26 (0.30-5.21)
Birth weight	0.99 (0.99-1.00)	0.99 (0.99-1.00)
Family history	1.03 (0.40-2.59)	0.40 (0.13-1.22)
Eczema	2.84 (1.01-7.97)ª	4.75 (1.49-15.08) ^b
Furry pet	0.31 (0.10-0.96) ^a	0.66 (0.20-2.16)
Older sibling	1.27 (0.41-3.90)	1.49 (0.42-5.31)
Duration of ICS ^c	0.96 (0.72-1.27)	0.82 (0.59-1.12)
Mean daily dose of ICS	1.00 (0.99-1.00)	1.00 (0.99-1.00)
$\geq 1 \text{ RAST}$	3.09 (1.03-9.21)	n.a.
Presence of PD ₂₀	n.a.	3.10 (1.04-9.26) ^a
IgE	2.26 (1.03-4.95) ^a	26.28 (5.31-129.90) ^b
Eosinophil counts	3.68 (0.79-17.14)	53.37 $(5.53-514.68)^b$
FEVI	0.098 (0.016-0.58) ^a	0.15 (0.022-1.15)
MEF ₅₀	0.19 (0.072-0.53) ^b	0.65 (0.26-1.60)
IL-4 (PBMC)	2.38 (1.02-5.53) ^a	1.64 (0.67-4.02)
INF-y (PBMC)	1.73 (0.62-4.83)	0.53 (0.20-1.41)
sICAM-1 (serum)	0.074 (0.007-0.73) ^a	0.33 (0.027-4.07)

 $^{a}p < 0.05.$

b p < 0.01.

^cInhaled corticosteroids.

n.a. not applicable. IgE, eosinophil counts, IL-4, INF- γ , and sICAM-1 values are logarithmically transformed in order to obtain a normal distribution.

Atopy

Since the prevalence of atopy was higher in the group of hyperresponsive children, we hypothesized that the observed higher IL-4 level in the hyperresponsive children (Table 3) was due to atopy. We therefore analysed differences between atopic and non-atopic children separately (atopy defined as ≥ 1 positive RAST). Atopic children had significantly higher serum IgE levels than non-atopic children (Figure 1a), and significantly higher eosinophil counts as well (mean $0.67*10^9$ /L, range $0.19-2.37*10^9$ /L vs. $0.30*10^9$ /L, $0.10-1.31*10^9$ /L, p < 0.001, respectively). No differences in FEV₁ % predicted levels were found between the atopic and non-atopic children (Figure 1b).

Atopic and non-atopic children did not differ significantly with respect to sICAM-1 levels (Figure 1c), or serum IL-4 levels.

Levels of IL-4 from Con A stimulated PBMCs were higher in atopic children than in non-atopic children (median 36.0 pg/mL, range 6.9-127.1 pg/mL versus 25.6 pg/mL, 11.4-200.6 pg/mL, respectively, p = 0.06). The ratio of log IL-4/log INF- γ was significantly higher in the atopic group compared to the non-atopic (p = 0.03, Figure. 1d).

Multivariate logistic regression analysis with atopy as the dependent variable was performed on the same independent parameters as used with airways hyperresponsiveness.

Independent significant predictors associated with atopy (adjusted for age, sex, and height) at age 8 years were: eosinophil counts, IgE, presence of eczema, and presence of airways hyperresponsiveness (Table 4). No immunologic parameter contributed to atopy.

Discussion

This study examined children who had been using inhaled corticosteroids for years because of recurrent troublesome wheezing. After withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids, 53% were hyperresponsive and 47% were non-hyperresponsive, and most children were symptom free. The most important factors associated with airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids were high serum IgE level, a history of eczema, low level of FEV₁, and low serum sICAM-1 level.

It is surprising that about half of the children did not show airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. All children had been referred
to our University Hospital outpatient clinic because of troublesome recurrent wheezing which, at that time, was diagnosed as asthma, and required treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. Several reports have shown that airways hyperresponsiveness improves after therapy with inhaled corticosteroids.^{5,6,18,19} Usually, cessation of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma is accompanied by a deterioration of asthma symptoms and hyperresponsiveness.^{20,21} Our findings can not be explained by differences in duration and dose of inhaled corticosteroids between hyperresponsive and non-hyperresponsive children (Table 1). The most likely explanation for our results therefore is that the non-hyperresponsive children had transient wheeze in retrospect, and that the hyperresponsive children reflect persistent wheezers. The observations that the hyperresponsive children in our study were more likely to be atopic (reflected by the presence of eczema (Table 1), higher IgE levels, positive RAST tests), and had elevated eNO levels, and lower levels of lung function (Table 2), are in accordance with this hypothesis.^{4,10,22,23}

After withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids, hyperresponsive children had significantly lower levels of lung function compared to the non-hyperresponsive children. In addition, FEV₁ was a significant independent factor associated with the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness in our group of children. This is also in accordance with population studies, showing that persistent wheezers at the age of 6 years had lower levels of lung function compared to transient wheezers.¹⁰ These persistent wheezers also had airways hyperresponsiveness at the age of 11 years.²² Taken together, our findings support the hypothesis that there are at least two types of childhood wheezing with different outcome: one with and one without airways hyperresponsiveness at later age, and that the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness is associated with high concentrations of IgE and lower levels of lung function.

Furry pets were less likely to be present in households with hyperresponsive children compared to households of non-hyperresponsive children (Table 1). This finding remained significant even after adjusting for atopy, family history, and lung function (Table 4). This suggests that keeping pets may protect against developing airways hyperresponsiveness.^{24,25} Alternatively, it may be due to selection bias ('healthy child effect').

Strong evidence supports the concept that the development of asthma and allergy is associated with a Th2 skewing of the immune response.²⁶ Compatible with this Th2 skewing, recent studies have shown elevated concentrations of IL-4 and IL-5, and/or reduced concentrations of INF- γ in children with asthma and eczema compared to healthy controls.^{16,27–29} In this study, hyperresponsive children had more features of atopy compared to the non-hyperresponsive children. Therefore, we expected to find higher concentrations of IL-4 and IL-5 in serum or in PBMC-stimulated supernatants,

and/or lower concentrations of IL-10 and INF- γ in the hyperresponsive children. Indeed, there was a borderline significant difference for IL-4 in Con A stimulated PBMCs with higher concentrations for the hyperresponsive group. We could not, however, demonstrate significant differences in IL-4 (serum) and IL-5 (both in serum and Con A stimulated PBMCs). This could not be explained by differences in undetectable levels of these two cytokines. Tang and co-workers found elevated IL-4 and reduced INF- γ levels in atopic asthmatic children when compared to healthy controls, but not in non-atopic asthmatics.³⁰ In accordance with this, atopic children in our study had higher IL-4 (PBMC) levels and higher IL-4/ INF- γ ratios than non-atopic children (Figure 1d). A trend towards the same difference was apparent when comparing atopic and non-atopic hyperresponsive children. It thus appears that Th2 skewing is associated with atopy and not associated with airways hyperresponsiveness.^{16, 30}

Membrane bound ICAM-1 is an adhesion molecule necessary for cell-cell adhesion at inflammatory sites. sICAM-1 is thought to be derived through shedding of membrane bound ICAM-1, apparently by proteolytic cleavage.³¹ We are the first to show that concentrations of sICAM-1 in serum are significantly associated with airways hyperresponsiveness (Table 3 and 4, Figure 1c). Similar concentrations of sICAM-1 in atopic and non-atopic children were found, indicating that sICAM-1 is not associated with atopy. One previous study showed no difference in sICAM-1 levels between healthy and asthmatic children (independent of atopy)³², but other workers found elevated concentrations of sICAM-1 in asthmatic children compared to non-asthmatic controls, both when the disease stable and during an exacerbation.^{33,34} It has been suggested that sICAM-1 may block cell-cell interactions, hampering inflammatory responses.³⁵ Thus, low sICAM-1 concentrations may facilitate inflammation and airways hyperresponsiveness.

In summary, children with airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids share features with persistent wheezers as observed in epidemiologic studies, including atopy (i.e. higher levels of serum IgE) and a lower level of lung function. Our results show that Th2 skewing, as represented by levels of IL-4 and INF- γ produced by PBMCs, reflects the presence of atopy rather than that of hyper-responsiveness. In contrast, airways hyperresponsiveness and not atopy was associated with lower sICAM-1 levels, possibly reflecting airway wall inflammation. The large degree of overlap in serum IgE, cytokine levels and lung function parameters between the two groups, shows that these parameters are not useful in predicting which child will or will not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids.

A considerable proportion of children diagnosed with and treated for asthma from a young age onwards did not have airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. This emphasises the need to stop or at least reduce inhaled corticosteroids in young children to the lowest effective dose.

The challenge still is to find a specific and sensitive diagnostic tool that helps to discriminate between transient wheezers, in whom inhaled corticosteroid therapy can be withdrawn, and persistent wheezers in whom this is not possible. Our results suggest that cytokine levels from peripheral blood are unlikely to be useful for that purpose.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank A.W.A. Kamps and T.W. de Vries for including children in the study, and D.M. de Reus, B. Dijkhuizen, and J. Zonderland for performing the laboratory measurements during the study.

This study was supported by GlaxoSmithKline B.V. the Netherlands, De Stichting Astma Bestrijding, University Hospital Groningen, and the University of Groningen.

References

- Wilson N, Silverman M. Bronchial responsiveness and its measurement. In: Silverman M, ed. Childhood asthma and other wheezing disorders. London: Chapman & Hall, 1995: 141-74.
- [2] Pattemore PK, Asher Ml, Harrison AC, Mitchell EA, Rea HH, Stewart AW. The interrelationship among bronchial hyperresponsiveness, the diagnosis of asthma, and asthma symptoms. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1990; 142:549-54.
- [3] Sears MR, Jones DT, Holdaway MD, Hewitt CJ, Flannery EM, Herbison GP, Silva PA. Prevalence of bronchial reactivity to inhaled methacholine in New Zealand children. *Thorax* 1986; 41:283-9.
- [4] Murray AB, Ferguson AC, Morrison B. Airway responsiveness to histamine as a test for overall severity of asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1981; 68:119-24.
- [5] van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness, and symptoms in children with asthma. The Dutch Chronic Nonspecific Lung Disease Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1992; 146:547-54.
- [6] Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H., Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1997; 156:688-95.
- [7] Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Neijens HJ. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and beta- agonists on the bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1987; 79:653-9.
- [8] Simons FE. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1659-65.
- [9] Kamps AW, Visser MJ, de Vries TW, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. The feasibility of airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for studies on childhood asthma. *Eur Respir J* 2001; 17:887-91.
- [10] Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. The Group Health Medical Associates. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:133-8.
- [11] Visser MJ, Postma DS, Arends LR, de Vries TW, Duiverman EJ, Brand PL. One-year treatment with different dosing schedules of fluticasone propionate in childhood asthma. Effects on hyperresponsiveness, lung function, and height. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001; 164:2073-7.

- [12] Brand PL, Duiverman EJ, Postma DS, Waalkens HJ, Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: relationship to symptoms, atopy, airways obstruction and hyperresponsiveness. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:1242-7.
- [13] Quanjer PH, Tammeling GJ, Cotes JE, Pedersen OF, Peslin R, Yernault JC. Lung volumes and forced ventilatory flows. Report Working Party Standardization of Lung Function Tests, European Community for Steel and Coal. Official Statement of the European Respiratory Society. *Eur Respir J Suppl* 1993; 16:5-40.
- [14] Birnie D, thoe Schwartzenberg GW, Hop WC, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Does the outcome of the tidal breathing and dosimeter methods of assessing bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma depend on age? *Thorax* 1990; 45:199-202.
- [15] Visser MJ, de Wit M, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. Exhaled nitric oxide in children measured by tidal breathing method: differences between asthmatics and nonasthmatic controls. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:434-7.
- [16] Hoekstra MO, Hoekstra Y, De Reus D, Rutgers B, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Interleukin-4, interferon-gamma and interleukin-5 in peripheral blood of children with moderate atopic asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:1254-60.
- [17] Borger P, Vellenga E, Gringhuis SI, Timmerman JA, Lummen C, Postma DS, Kauffman HF. Prostaglandin E2 differentially modulates IL-5 gene expression in activated human T lymphocytes depending on the costimulatory signal. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1998; 101:231-40.
- [18] van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Kerrebijn KF. Remission of childhood asthma after long-term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide): can it be achieved? Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Eur Respir J* 1994; 7:63-8.
- [19] Grol MH, Gerritsen J, Vonk JM, Schouten JP, Koeter GH, Rijcken B, Postma DS. Risk factors for growth and decline of lung function in asthmatic individuals up to age 42 years. A 30-year follow-up study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:1830-7.
- [20] Haahtela T, Jarvinen M, Kava T, Kiviranta K, Koskinen S, Lehtonen K, Nikander K, Persson T, Selroos O, Sovijarvi A. Effects of reducing or discontinuing inhaled budesonide in patients with mild asthma. *N Engl J Med* 1994; 331:700-5.
- [21] Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Gerritsen J, Duiverman EJ, Knol K, Kerrebijn KF. Cessation of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide) in children with asthma results in deterioration. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993; 148:1252-7.
- [22] Stein RT, Holberg CJ, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Lombardi E, Taussig L, Martinez FD. Peak flow variability, methacholine responsiveness and atopy as markers for detecting different wheezing phenotypes in childhood. *Thorax* 1997; 52:946-52.

- [23] Martinez FD, Stern DA, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Halonen M. Differential immune responses to acute lower respiratory illness in early life and subsequent development of persistent wheezing and asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:915-20.
- [24] Nafstad P, Magnus P, Gaarder PI, Jaakkola JJ. Exposure to pets and atopy-related diseases in the first 4 years of life. *Allergy* 2001; 56:307-12.
- [25] Hesselmar B, Aberg N, Aberg B, Eriksson B, Bjorksten B. Does early exposure to cat or dog protect against later allergy development? *Clin Exp Allergy* 1999; 29:611-7.
- [26] Holt PG, Clough JB, Holt BJ, Baron-Hay MJ, Rose AH, Robinson BW, Thomas WR. Genetic 'risk' for atopy is associated with delayed postnatal maturation of T-cell competence. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1992; 22:1093-9.
- [27] Leech SC, Price JF, Holmes BJ, Kemeny DM. Nonatopic wheezy children have reduced interferon-gamma. *Allergy* 2000; 55:74-8.
- [28] Krug N, Jung T, Napp U, Wagner K, Schultze-Werninghaus G, Heusser C, Rieger CH, Schauer U, Fabel H. Frequencies of T cells expressing interleukin-4 and interleukin-5 in atopic asthmatic children. Comparison with atopic asthmatic adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:754-9.
- [29] Koning H, Neijens HJ, Baert MR, Oranje AP, Savelkoul HF. T cells subsets and cytokines in allergic and non-allergic children. II. Analysis of IL-5 and IL-10 mRNA expression and protein production. *Cytokine* 1997; 9:427-36.
- [30] Tang ML, Coleman J, Kemp AS. Interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma production in atopic and non-atopic children with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1995; 25:515-21.
- [31] Rothlein R, Mainolfi EA, Czajkowski M, Marlin SD. A form of circulating ICAM-1 in human serum. *J Immunol* 1991; 147:3788-93.
- [32] Laan MP, Koning H, Baert MR, Oranje AP, Buurman WA, Savelkoul HF, Neijens HJ. Levels of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1, soluble E- selectin, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor p55 and p75 in atopic children. *Allergy* 1998; 53:51-8.
- [33] El Sawy IH, Badr-El-Din OM, El Azzouni OE, Motawae HA. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in sera of children with bronchial asthma exacerbation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 1999; 119:126-32.
- [34] Oymar K, Bjerknes R. Differential patterns of circulating adhesion molecules in children with bronchial asthma and acute bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9:73-9.
- [35] Meyer DM, Dustin ML, Carron CP. Characterization of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 ectodomain (sICAM-1) as an inhibitor of lymphocyte functionassociated molecule-1 interaction with ICAM-1. *J Immunol* 1995; 155:3578-84.

Chapter 4

Short-term growth in asthmatic children using fluticasone propionate

M.J. VISSER¹, W.M.C. VAN AALDEREN¹, B.M. ELLIOTT², R.J. ODINK², P.L.P. BRAND¹.

¹Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands.

²Department of Paediatric Endocrinology, Beatrix Children's Hospital, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

Abstract

Background Inhaled corticosteroids may reduce short-term growth velocity in asthmatic children and knemometry is the most sensitive tool to detect this short-term growth suppression.

Study objective To compare lower leg growth velocity, as measured by knemometry, in asthmatic children during and after treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP), 100 μ g twice daily.

Design Nonrandomised open trial.

Setting University hospital, outpatient clinic for paediatric pulmonology.

Patients Twenty-one asthmatic children (13 boys), aged 6-10 year.

Interventions Inhalation of FP from a dry powder inhaler, 100 μ g, twice daily for 6 weeks, followed by 2 weeks during which only an inhaled β_2 -agonist was used on demand (washout). During treatment and washout periods, patients were seen every 2 weeks at the same time of day.

Measurements and results Lower leg growth velocity measured by knemometry during FP treatment was not significantly different from that during wash-out (p = 0.33, one-way analysis of variance).

Conclusions No significant suppression of lower leg growth velocity was found in prepubertal asthmatic children using FP, 100 μ g, by dry powder inhaler twice daily for 6 weeks.

Introduction

There is increasing concern about the side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids in children with asthma, in particular regarding their effect on growth. Knemometry is the most sensitive tool to detect short-term growth suppression in asthmatic children using inhaled corticosteroids.¹ Previous studies using this method have shown dosedependent suppression of short-term growth for both beclomethasone dipropionate and budesonide.^{2,3} The effect of inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP; GlaxoWellcome; Zeist, the Netherlands) on short-term growth has been evaluated in another study, but the effect was compared with that of beclomethasone dipropionate and not with a period without inhaled corticosteroids.⁴ We, therefore, studied short-term growth by knemometry in children both during and after six weeks treatment with inhaled FP.

Material and methods

The present study was undertaken during the baseline period of an ongoing longterm clinical trial on effects and side-effects of two different treatment schedules of FP. The baseline period of this trial consisted of a 6-week run-in period during which patients inhaled FP from a dry-powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®]; GlaxoWellcome; Greenford, UK) at a dose of 100 μ g twice daily, followed by a 2-week washout period during which patients used no inhaled corticosteroids or other anti-inflammatory drugs but only inhaled β_2 -agonists on demand. Before the run-in period, all patients were using inhaled corticosteroids (100 to 400 μ g daily). Treatment during these periods was not blinded and the treatment order was fixed. Compliance was checked at the end of the 6-week treatment period with FP by counting the blisters used.

Children were eligible for the study if they were 6 to 10 years of age, were prepubertal (according to Tanner,^{5,6} and had no disease other than asthma. Power calculations showed that 12 patients would be sufficient to detect a 50% reduction in lower leg growth rate between treatment with or without inhaled FP with a power of 90%.^{2,3}

All patients received standardised instructions on how to use the dry-power inhaler. During both the run-in and washout period, patients were seen every 2 weeks. At each of these follow-up visits, inhaler technique was checked and knemometry was performed. Knemometry was performed according to published recommendations by a single trained antropometrist (BME) at a fixed time of day.⁷ The knemometer used was one manufactured by the inventor.⁷ Each lower leg was measured 6 times; the median of the measurements was used for analysis.

Informed consent was obtained from all children and their parents and the study was approved by the local ethics committee.

Results

Twenty-one patients completed the study. Clinical characteristics are shown in the table 1.

 Table 1: Characteristics of patients.

Characteristic	No.
Subjects n (male)	21 (13)
Age (years)	8.0 (range 6.1-9.7)
FEV_1 , % pred at start of study, mean (SD)	103 (18)
FEV_1 , % pred at end of study, mean (SD)	102 (19)
Height SDS, mean (SD)	-0.3 (1)

% pred = percentage predicted; SDS=Standard Deviation Score.⁷

Figure 1 shows the lower leg growth velocity during 6 weeks of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (run-in phase) and during 2 weeks without inhaled corticosteroids (washout phase). Because there was no difference in left- and right lower leg growth velocity, the mean of both legs was used.

Blister counts showed mean (SD) compliance with prescribed dosages of 94 (9)%.

There were no significant differences between the lower leg growth velocities in each of the four 2-week periods (p = 0.33, one-way analysis of variance).





Discussion

In this study, we did not find a (significant) reduction in lower leg growth velocity in asthmatic children during treatment with FP, 100 μ g bid via dry-powder inhaler as compared with treatment with only an inhaled β_2 -agonist on demand. In fact, the observed trend (Figure 1) was that lower leg growth velocity tended to increase during treatment with FP. Thus, it is highly unlikely that our results can be explained by insufficient power to detect a growth-suppressing effect of FP on short-term lower leg growth. Measurement error is also unlikely as all measurements were made by a well-trained, highly experienced anthropometrist adhering to a strictly standardised protocol following published recommendations in the appropriate use of knemometry.⁷

The lack of blinding in our study is a disadvantage in comparison to previous studies.^{2–4} However, knemometry as performed in this study is a rigorously standardised

objective measure of lower leg growth velocity that is not readily prone to observer bias.⁷ Because treatment order was not random, a carryover or order effect cannot be excluded. In other studies, however, 2 week washout periods after treatment with inhaled corticosteroids were sufficient to detect a significant difference in lower leg growth velocity between these periods.^{2–4} This was true for different inhaled corticosteroids (beclomethasone dipropionate, budesonide, FP).

It is unlikely that changes in the level of asthma control influenced our results because FEV_1 percent predicted did not differ between treatment periods with and without FP (Table 1) and all patients remained in clinically stable condition throughout the 8-week study period. Moreover, the mean age of the children was 8 years and all children were clinically prepubertal so it is next to impossible that growth velocity was influenced by the pubertal growth spurt.

A meta-analysis on the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on growth showed that inhaling beclomethasone dipropionate was significantly associated with attaining normal stature.⁸ Two recent double-blind clinical trials with 7 to 12 months of follow-up, however, showed reduction of statural growth by about 1 cm/yr in children inhaling beclomethasone dipropionate 400 to 800 μ g/day.^{9,10} To our knowledge, no such long-term studies are available with FP. Because knemometry does not predict longterm height growth, further studies are required to evaluate the effect of long-term use of FP in this dose on height growth in asthmatic children.¹

Knemometry has been shown to be a highly sensitive tool to detect systemic sideeffects of inhaled corticosteroids.¹ The negative findings of this study strongly suggest, therefore, that FP inhaled through dry-powder inhaler in a dose of 100 μ g twice daily does not have any significant short-term systemic steroid effect.

In conclusion, we found no effect on lower leg growth velocity during 6 weeks of treatment with inhaled FP, 100 μ g twice daily, via dry-powder inhaler.

Acknowledgements

This study was supported by GlaxoWellcome (the Netherlands).

References

- [1] Wolthers OD. Long-, intermediate- and short-term growth studies in asthmatic children treated with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. *Eur Respir J* 1996; 9:821-7.
- [2] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Growth of asthmatic children during treatment with budesonide: a double blind trial. *BMJ* 1991; 303:163-5.
- [3] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Controlled study of linear growth in asthmatic children during treatment with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. *Pediatrics* 1992; 89:839-42.
- [4] Wolthers OD, Pedersen S. Short-term growth during treatment with inhaled fluticasone propionate and beclomethasone dipropionate. *Arch Dis Child* 1993; 68:673-6.
- [5] Tanner JM. Normal growth and techniques of growth assessment. *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1986; 15:411-51.
- [6] Roede MJ, van Wieringen JC. Growth diagrams 1980. *T Soc Gezondheidsz* 1985; 63 (suppl):1-34.
- [7] Hermanussen M, Geiger-Benoit K, Burmeister J, Sippell WG. Knemometry in childhood: accuracy and standardization of a new technique of lower leg length measurement. *Ann Hum Biol* 1988; 15:1-15.
- [8] Allen DB, Mullen M, Mullen B. A meta-analysis of the effect of oral and inhaled corticosteroids on growth. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1994; 93:967-76.
- [9] Doull IJ, Freezer NJ, Holgate ST. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1995; 151:1715-9.
- [10] Verberne AAPH, Frost C, Boggard JM, et al. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of an inhaled corticosteroid in children with asthma [abstract]. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1997; 155:A969.

Chapter 5

One-year treatment with different dosing schedules of fluticasone propionate in childhood asthma: Effects on hyperresponsiveness, lung function, and height

M.J. Visser¹, D.S. Postma¹, L.R. Arends², T.W. de Vries³, E.J. Duiverman⁴, P.L.P. Brand⁵.

¹ Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands.

²Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Erasmus University, Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

³Department of Paediatrics, Medical Center, Leeuwarden, the Netherlands.

⁴Department of Paediatric Pulmonology, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

⁵Department of Paediatrics, Division of Pediatric Pulmonology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands.

Abstract

Dose-dependent effects of inhaled corticosteroids have been described. Although it has been advised to start treatment with inhaled corticosteroids with a high dose tapering off subsequently (stepdown approach), no clinical studies have assessed this strategy. We compared two different dosage schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP) in chronic persistent childhood asthma with respect to efficacy (airways hyperresponsiveness [PD₂₀] lung function, exhaled nitric oxide [eNO]) and safety (height). During this double-blind study, asthmatic children (aged 6-10 yrs) were randomized to receive either FP 200 μ g/d (constant dose approach) or to start with 1000 μ g/d with two monthly reductions to 500, 200, and 100 μ g/d (stepdown approach). PD₂₀ improved in both approaches during treatment with FP with a significantly better PD₂₀ after 2 mo of 1000 μ g/d followed by 500 μ g/d in the stepdown approach versus 200 μ g/d in the constant dose approach. No significant differences in PD₂₀ or other efficacy parameters were found after 1 yr. Changes in standing height were similar in both treatment approaches. This study showed no superior clinical effect of a stepdown approach compared with a constant dose strategy of FP for 1 yr in children with chronic persistent asthma.

Introduction

Current guidelines for the management of childhood asthma focus on the use of maintenance therapy with antiinflammatory agents, in particular inhaled corticosteroids (ICS).¹⁻⁴ In these guidelines, increasing the dose of ICS is advised during periods with increased symptoms. This advice is based on the concept that ICS have a dose-dependent effect on reduction of airway inflammation. Although some studies have failed to do so, the majority of recent studies appear to support the hypothesis of a dose-dependent relationship of ICS on markers of effectiveness in childhood asthma, 5^{-10} As a result, it has become established practice to start ICS therapy in childhood asthma with relatively high doses, in order to reduce airway inflammation aggressively, and to reduce the dose of ICS subsequently in a stepwise fashion to the lowest effective dose.^{3,4,11,12} Popular as this stepdown strategy may be, there is little, if any, published evidence from clinical trials to support it. The only clinical trial comparing the stepdown approach with a constant dose in childhood asthma that we are aware of is a study of nebulized budesonide suspension in preschool children (aged 6 mo to 3 yr).¹³ In this study, the stepdown approach yielded a significantly earlier improvement in asthma symptoms, which was sustained during follow-up, when compared to a constant low dose. No objective assessments of lung function or airways hyperresponsiveness was carried out. In addition, the short duration of both the high-dose starting period (less than 1 wk) and total follow-up (10 wk) limits the generalizability of these study results to clinical practice.

Systemic side-effects, in particular reduction of growth rate, are a matter of concern in asthmatic children when treated with ICS. Limited data are available on the effect of fluticasone propionate (FP) on growth in children with asthma. Although two recent studies showed no effect on linear growth in children during 1 yr treatment with FP 100 μ g/d, treatment with a dose of 200 μ g/d was associated with a reduction in growth when compared to placebo.^{14–16} Reassuring results showing normal adult height after long-term treatment with ICS have recently been published.^{17,18}

The aim of our study was to compare a stepdown approach (1000 μ g/d tapering off to 100 μ g/d) with a constant dose approach (of 200 μ g/d) in school children with asthma for a period of 12 mo. Symptoms, exacerbations, lung function, and airways hyperresponsiveness was primary efficacy variables, and height was the primary safety variable.

Methods

Subjects

Children aged 6-10 yr, with chronic persistent asthma were recruited for the study. None used > 800 μ g of inhaled budesonide or beclomethasone, or inhaled FP > 400 μ g. No long acting β_2 -agonists or antileukotriene therapy were allowed during the study. Patients with major other illness and those who had used systemic corticosteroids during the previous 6 wk, or had a respiratory tract infection during the preceding 4 wk, were excluded.

Informed consent was obtained from all children and their parents. The study was approved by the medical ethics committees of the three participating centers.

Study design

After a run-in period of 6 wk during which patients used FP 200 μ g/d by dry powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®], GlaxoWellcome, Zeist, the Netherlands), patients entered a period of 2-8 wk during which no ICS or other antiinflammatory drugs, but only inhaled salbutamol 200 μ g by Diskhaler[®] on demand were used. During this period, patients returned to the clinic every 2 wk (or earlier if symptoms worsened, but before a full-blown exacerbation developed) for measurement of airways hyperresponsiveness. Those subjects whose provocative dose (PD₂₀) did not drop below 80 μ g during the 8-wk wash-out were withdrawn from the study.¹⁹ When a PD₂₀ < 80 μ g was found, the patient was randomized either to the stepdown (FP 1000 μ g/d with two monthly reductions to 500, 200 and 100 μ g/d) or the constant dose approach (Figure 1). Randomisation was performed with stratification for age, sex, duration of prior ICS use, and PD₂₀. All patients received standardized instructions on the correct use of the Diskhaler[®] and were required to demonstrate a correct inhalation maneuver at each follow-up visit. Patients were allowed to use salbutamol by Diskhaler[®] on demand during the whole study.

The time schedule of assessments is given in Figure 1. At the randomisation visit, blood was drawn for total and specific immunoglobulin E (IgE) to house dust mite, grass and tree pollen, and cat and dog dander (Pharmacia MasterCap analysis, Pharmacia & Upjohn, Uppsala, Sweden). Lung function (flow-volume curves) was measured according to ERS guidelines, using a Jaeger Masterlab pneumotachograph (Erich Jaeger GmbH, Würzburg, Germany).²⁰ Airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine was measured using a dosimeter method as published previously.²¹ Exhaled nitric

Figure 1: Study design comparing different dosage schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate in children with asthma. FEV_1 and eNO were performed on each visit, airways hyperresponsiveness (AHR) and height measurements on all visits except after 10 mo of treatment.



oxide was measured using a tidal breathing method.²² Height was measured by trained technicians, using a Harpenden stadiometer. Bone age was determined at randomisation and after 1 yr using the Tanner & Whitehouse method by a single blinded investigator (TdV). Tanner's pubertal stages were scored at each follow-up visit.²³

Patients kept a diary card of symptom scores (score 1 to 10), use of salbutamol, and peak expiratory flow (PEF) for 2 wk prior to each follow-up visit. All patients received a new mini Wright PEF meter (Clement Clarke, Harlow, UK) and standardized instructions on how to use it. PEF was recorded each morning and evening in triplicate; the highest value was recorded in the diary. At each follow-up visit, a standardized short symptom questionnaire was administered to each patient.²⁴

Patients were asked to bring along all used and unused medication at each follow-up visit. Adherence to treatment was assessed by counting the blisters used.

Statistical analysis

All calculations of PD₂₀ were performed on a log-transformed basis, thereby normalizing the distribution. The analyses were performed using SAS 6.12 and SPSS 9.0. Differences between groups were analyzed at individual time points, both when differences in ICS dosages between groups were large (first mo of the study) and when they were small (Figure 1). To determine trends over time, a linear mixed effects model (SAS Proc Mixed) was used.

 Table 1: Baseline characteristics by treatment approach at randomisation.

	Stepdown approach	Constant approach
Subjects n	27	28
Age at study entry (years)	8.1 (0.3)	7.8 (0.2)
Male sex (%)	52	54
Height (cm)	132.5 (1.7)	129.2 (1.7)
Duration of asthma (years)	5.0 (0.4)	5.0 (0.4)
IgE (IU/L)	560 (386-814)	418 (252-695)
< 1 RAST (number) ^a	3	4
PD_{20} methacholine (µg)	36 (26-53)	30 (22-43)
FEV ₁ (% pred.)	92.1 (2.8)	89.4 (2.7)

Definition of abbreviations: IgE = immunoglobulin E; PD = provocative dose.

Values are presented as mean values (standard error of the mean), \mbox{PD}_{20} and IgE as geometric mean (range).

^aA RAST test was considered positive when the result read class 2 or higher.

Results

Patients

Fifty-five children completed the 1-yr study. During the study, four children were withdrawn: three from the constant dose approach (one due to exacerbation of asthma, and two because of insufficient asthma control) and one from the stepdown approach (because of adverse event: abnormal bone density). This difference was not significant. Baseline characteristics were similar in both treatment approaches

(Table 1). Mean β_2 -agonist use was 0.1 dosages/d (range 0.0-1.0) in both groups during the wash-out period. The (geometric) mean time between end of the run-in period and randomisation for the constant dose approach was 22.8 d and 24.3 d for the stepdown approach.

Airways hyperresponsiveness

Airways hyperresponsiveness improved in both approaches after randomisation to treatment with inhaled FP (PD₂₀ change from 30 to 346 μ g in constant dose approach, and from 30 to 477 μ g in stepdown approach; Figure 2). Only at 4 mo was the difference in PD₂₀ between study approaches significant (geometric mean [range] PD₂₀ 200 μ g/d versus PD₂₀ 500 μ g/d: 430 (264-700 μ g) versus 940 μ g (571-1548 μ g), respectively, p = 0.03). No significant difference was found when comparing the area under the log PD₂₀ curve between the stepdown approach and the constant dose approach after 1 yr.

Figure 2: Airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine, expressed as logarithmic cumulative dose (μ g), in children with asthma during and after 1-yr treatment with different dosage schedules of inhaled FP. * p = 0.03.



Lung function, exhaled nitric oxide, and peakflow

 FEV_1 % predicted deteriorated during the wash-out period (Figure 3). After randomisation both treatment approaches improved (mean from 92.1 % to 106.4 % in stepdown approach, and from 89.4 % to 102.6 % in constant dose approach, Figure 3). No significant differences were found between the two dosage schedules at any time point.

Figure 3: FEV_1 % predicted during and after 1-yr treatment with different dosages of inhaled FP in children with asthma.



Levels of exhaled nitric oxide (eNO) increased after withdrawal of FP and decreased in both treatment approaches after randomisation (Table 2). During follow-up, no significant differences were detected between the two treatment schedules.

Results of morning and evening PEF (Table 2) and diurnal and day-to-day PEF variation (data not shown) did not differ between the treatment schedules during the study.

Table 2	: 1	Exhaled	nitric	oxide	and	peakflow	measurements	between	the	different	dosage
schedules of fluticasone propionate (FP).											

	Treatment month							
	Run-in	Washout	2	4	6	8	10	12
	(200 µg/d)	randomi-	(200 vs.					
		sation	1000 µg/d)	500 µg/d)	200 µg/d)	100 µg/d)	100 µg/d)	100 µg/d)
Constant dose approach			100					
Exhaled nitric oxide (ppb)	10.6 (1.6)	14.9 (1.7)	10.6 (1.6)	9.2 (1.5)	13.3 (1.7)	13.7 (1.7)	10.5 (1.7)	12.2 (1.6)
PEF, A.M. (L/min)	241 (8.2)	218 (7.9)	234 (7.4)	251 (8.6)	259 (8.8)	263 (8.1)	265 (8.7)	269 (9.3)
PEF, P.M. (L/min)	247 (8.3)	227 (8.9)	242 (8.0)	255 (8.7)	265 (8.9)	270 (8.0)	272 (8.7)	275 (9.6)
Stepdown approach								
Exhaled nitric oxide (ppb)	10.2 (1.6)	17.1 (1.6)	12.4 (1.5)	10.6 (1.5)	11.1 (1.6)	13.3 (1.6)	11.8 (1.7)	14.2 (1.6)
PEF, A.M. (L/min)	249 (8.6)	240 (8.1)	244 (10.0)	254 (9.3)	266 (10.3)	264 (9.2)	268 (11.5)	269 (12.3)
PEF, P.M. (L/min)	253 (8.8)	240 (8.3)	249 (9.6)	258 (9.1)	269 (10.2)	266 (9.1)	271 (11.6)	271 (12.1)

Definition of abbreviations: PEF = peak expiratory flow.

Values are presented as mean values (standard error of the mean).

Symptoms scores and exacerbations

Symptoms increased after withdrawal of FP and decreased during therapy with both dosage schedules of FP, without any significant difference between the two schedules.

The number of asthma exacerbations requiring prednisolone courses was low (0.4 exacerbations/patient year) and evenly distributed between the two approaches (10 and 11 exacerbations in the constant dose and stepdown approach, respectively). The incidence of exacerbations was stable throughout the study period. The number of prednisolone courses in both treatment groups was the same (seven in each) during the first 6 mo of the study, when differences in dosages of FP between study groups were largest. There were no deaths and no patients were admitted to intensive care during the study.

Because the dose of FP differed most between groups during the first 6 mo of therapy, all analyses of the differences between groups were made for the first and second 6 mo of the study separately. This did not change the results: the only significant difference found was between the log PD_{20} levels mentioned above.

Height

At baseline patients in the stepdown approach were taller (mean 3.3 cm) compared to those treated according to the constant approach (Table 1). This difference remained stable throughout the study (Figure 4), and no significant differences in changes of standing height over time were found between children treated according to the stepdown approach or the constant dose approach. Changes in bone age were similar in the two study approaches during 1-yr treatment (stepdown approach from 8.2 to 9.4 yr, constant dose approach from 8.0 to 9.1 yr).

Figure 4: Height during and after 1-yr treatment with different dosages of inhaled FP in children with asthma.



Adherence

Mean adherence to treatment was 95.4% in the stepdown and 92.7% in the constant dose group, and remained stable throughout the 12-mo study period. There were no patients with compliance less than 84.6%.

Discussion

This is the first study comparing a constant dose approach of ICS (FP) to a stepdown dosing approach in childhood asthma. Apart from a temporarily larger improvement in airways hyperresponsiveness in the stepdown approach, the effects of the dosage schedules on the measured disease parameters (symptom scores, exacerbation rates, PEF, FEV₁, PD₂₀, and eNO) were very similar even when differences in FP doses between treatment groups were largest (first 4 mo of the study). Thus, the results of our study do not support the hypothesis of a superior effect of a stepdown approach (with a high starting dose of ICS, tapered off to a low dose) when compared to a fixed dose schedule over a 1-yr treatment period in children with chronic persistent asthma. It is important to point out that our study population did not include patients with mild intermittent asthma (who would not show airways hyperresponsiveness within 4 wk of withdrawing ICS), or those with severe persistent asthma (who would not have been able to complete the wash-out period without ICS maintenance therapy). We feel, however, that our study population is representative of a large group of children with mild to moderate chronic persistent asthma, characterized by moderate to severe airways hyperresponsiveness.

The degree of airways hyperresponsiveness, a cardinal feature of asthma, was the primary end point of the study. It has been shown previously that ICS improve airways hyperresponsiveness in a dose-dependent way.⁷ In our study, the only evidence of a dose-dependent effect of FP on airways hyperresponsiveness was the significant difference in PD₂₀ between the two study approaches after 4 mo of treatment (FP 500 μ g/d versus FP 200 μ g/d; Figure 2). We suspect that the significant difference after 4 mo of follow-up is due to a "carry-over" effect of the high dose (1000 μ g/d) given during the first two mo of follow-up.

Previous studies have shown that airways hyperresponsiveness continues to improve for many mo on end during treatment with a fixed dose of budesonide or beclomethasone, which was also seen with FP in the constant dose approach in our study (Figure 2).^{25–27} The lack of difference in airways hyperresponsiveness after 2 mo of treatment between FP 1000 μ g/d and FP 200 μ g/d is probably caused by a too short duration of treatment with this high dose of inhaled FP, preventing an optimal response on airways hyperresponsiveness after 2 mo. Indeed, a recent study, comparing two different dosage schedules of FP, only showed a significant dose-dependent effect on airways hyperresponsiveness only after treatment for 6 mo, suggesting a slow dose-dependent effect on airway inflammation.⁷ However, our results suggest that this dose-dependent effect of FP on airways hyperresponsiveness is not maintained when a high dose is tapered off in the stepdown fashion so popular in contemporary asthma management. We found no difference in airways hyperresponsiveness when in both approaches patients were treated with inhaled FP 200 μ g/d (after 6 mo). Previous studies in adults (using FP and budesonide) are consistent with this finding.^{28,29} Even more important, no superior effect of the stepdown approach on airways hyperresponsiveness was found after 1 yr treatment of although the cumulative dose of FP was 1.7 times higher in the stepdown approach (120 mg) than that in the constant dose approach (73 mg). This suggests that the effects of ICS on asthmatic airway inflammation in patients with asthma are independent of the cumulative dose of ICS used, but rather depend on the dose presently being used. The results of previous studies showing rapid recurrence of airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of ICS demonstrate that the effect of even a high dose of ICS on both airway inflammation and airways hyperresponsiveness is only temporary, if ICS are not continued.^{29,30}

Although all participating children had been using ICS before entering the study, the FEV₁ % predicted improved during the run-in period in both approaches. We propose that this is due to improved adherence to treatment, caused by participation in the clinical trial. During the wash-out period, the FEV₁ decreased significantly as expected, to improve again rapidly after reinstitution of ICS therapy (Figure 3). Although in some studies the effect of ICS on FEV₁ was dose-dependent at group level, we did not find significant differences between the two treatment approaches at any moment during the study.^{6,7,9,29} Previous studies have shown that the improvement in FEV₁ quickly levels off after introducing these drugs.^{11,25,26,31} This suggests that the lack of finding a dose-dependent response on the FEV₁ is possibly due to the relative insensitivity of this parameter to changes in the dose of ICS within the individual patient.

Cross-sectional studies have shown that children with asthma have higher levels of eNO than healthy control children.^{22,32,33} In addition, ICS decrease eNO levels in subjects with asthma.^{34–36} We found that eNO levels increased after withdrawal and decreased after reinstitution of FP, but without a significant effect of the dose of FP on eNO levels (Table 2). It is unlikely, therefore, that eNO levels will be useful to titrate the ICS dose in childhood asthma.

Previous studies have shown that PEF increases, and symptoms and use of rescue medication decrease after institution of ICS. In accordance with our results, other studies have shown little, if any, effect of the dose of ICS on the improvement of those parameters.^{6–10,37} In addition, a recent study in adult subjects with asthma, comparing two different dosage schedules of ICS, also failed to detect differences in PEF and symptoms.³⁸ The difference between changes during therapy in these variables on the one hand, and changes in airways hyperresponsiveness in which a slight dose-dependent effect of ICS was observed on the other, is in accordance with earlier work.^{39,40}

Although children treated according to the stepdown approach cumulatively received almost twice the amount of inhaled FP as those treated according to the constant dose approach, this had no significant effect on linear height over a 1-yr period (Figure 4). This does not, however, exclude an effect of FP per se on height. A previous study, comparing FP 100 μ g/d for 1 yr to cromoglycate, showed no statistically significant effect of FP on height growth of asthmatic children.¹⁴ In a placebo-controlled trial, treatment for one year with FP 200 μ g/d, however, was associated with reduced height growth, as has been observed with beclomethasone and budes-onide.^{15,16,18,26,41,42} Reassuring results of long-term treatment with budesonide have recently been published, showing no effect on adult height.^{17,18} Although it is likely that this is also the case for FP, long-term prospective studies are needed to test this hypothesis.

The power our study to detect significant differences between groups was somewhat reduced (to 84%) because it was difficult to recruit patients with a sufficient amount of airways hyperresponsiveness into our study.¹⁹ Because the differences in disease parameters between study groups were absent or very small, we feel it is unlikely that increasing the power would have changed the results.

In conclusion, this study showed no superior clinical effect of FP given in a stepdown approach for 1 yr when compared with a constant dose strategy in children with asthma. Only a small and temporary dose-dependent effect on airways hyperresponsiveness was found. These results raise doubt to the validity of the popular stepdown strategy of dosing ICS in moderate to severe childhood asthma. Further studies are needed to evaluate the effects of constant and stepdown dosing strategies in mild asthma.

References

- [1] Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy Asthma and Immunology, the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology.Practice parameters for the diagnosis and treatment of asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1995; 96:707-870.
- [2] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [3] The General Practioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Asthma in adults and schoolchildren. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S2-8.
- [4] The General Practitioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. Asthma in children under five years of age. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S9-20.
- [5] Bisgaard H, Gillies J, Groenewald M, Maden C. The effect of inhaled fluticasone propionate in the treatment of young asthmatic children: a dose comparison study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:126-31.
- [6] Verberne AA, Frost C, Duiverman EJ, Grol MH, Kerrebijn KF. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:213-9.
- [7] Hofstra WB, Neijens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Kouwenberg JM, Mulder PG, Kuethe MC, Sterk PJ. Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:415-23.
- [8] Baker JW, Mellon M, Wald J, Welch M, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K. A multiple-dosing, placebo-controlled study of budesonide inhalation suspension given once or twice daily for treatment of persistent asthma in young children and infants. *Pediatrics* 1999; 103:414-21.
- [9] Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose- response study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1995; 95:29-33.
- [10] Shapiro G, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Mendelson L, Pearlman D, Schwartz RH, Szefler SJ. Dose-related efficacy of budesonide administered via a dry powder inhaler in the treatment of children with moderate to severe persistent asthma. J Pediatr 1998; 132:976-82.

- [11] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effects of long-term treatment with an inhaled corticosteroid on growth and pulmonary function in asthmatic children. *Respir Med* 1994; 88:373-81.
- [12] Wennergren G, Nordvall SL, Hedlin G, Moller C, Wille S, Asbrink NE. Nebulized budesonide for the treatment of moderate to severe asthma in infants and toddlers. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85:183-9.
- [13] Volovitz B, Soferman R, Blau H, Nussinovitch M, Varsano I. Rapid induction of clinical response with a short-term high-dose starting schedule of budesonide nebulizing suspension in young children with recurrent wheezing episodes. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 101:464-9.
- [14] Price JF, Russell G, Hindmarsh PC, Weller P, Heaf DP, Williams J. Growth during one year of treatment with fluticasone propionate or sodium cromoglycate in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1997; 24:178-86.
- [15] Allen DB, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Nathan RA, Tinkelman DG, Vandewalker ML, Konig P. Growth in asthmatic children treated with fluticasone propionate. Fluticasone Propionate Asthma Study Group. *J Pediatr* 1998; 132:472-7.
- [16] Sharek PJ, Bergman DA. The effect of inhaled steroids on the linear growth of children with asthma: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 2000; 106:E8.
- [17] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1064-9.
- [18] The Childhood Asthma Management Program Research Group. Long-Term Effects of Budesonide or Nedocromil in Children with Asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1054-63.
- [19] Kamps AW, Visser MJ, de Vries TW, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. The feasibility of airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for studies on childhood asthma. *Eur Respir J* 2001; 17:887-91.
- [20] Quanjer PH, Tammeling GJ, Cotes JE, Pedersen OF, Peslin R, Yernault JC. Lung volumes and forced ventilatory flows. Report Working Party Standardization of Lung Function Tests, European Community for Steel and Coal. Official Statement of the European Respiratory Society. *Eur Respir J Suppl* 1993; 16:5-40.
- [21] Birnie D, thoe Schwartzenberg GW, Hop WC, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Does the outcome of the tidal breathing and dosimeter methods of assessing bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma depend on age? *Thorax* 1990; 45:199-202.
- [22] Visser MJ, de Wit M, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. Exhaled nitric oxide in children measured by tidal breathing method: differences between asthmatics and nonasthmatic controls. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:434-7.
- [23] Tanner JM. Normal growth and techniques of growth assessment. *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1986; 15:411-51.

- [24] Rosier MJ, Bishop J, Nolan T, Robertson CF, Carlin JB, Phelan PD. Measurement of functional severity of asthma in children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1994; 149:1434-41.
- [25] van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness, and symptoms in children with asthma. The Dutch Chronic Non-specific Lung Disease Study Group. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1992; 146:547-54.
- [26] Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H., Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1997; 156:688-95.
- [27] Kerstjens HA, Brand PL, Hughes MD, Robinson NJ, Postma DS, Sluiter HJ, Bleecker ER, Dekhuijzen PN, de Jong PM, Mengelers HJ, . A comparison of bronchodilator therapy with or without inhaled corticosteroid therapy for obstructive airways disease. Dutch Chronic Non-Specific Lung Disease Study Group. N Engl J Med 1992; 327:1413-9.
- [28] Reddel HK, Jenkins CR, Marks GB, Ware SI, Xuan W, Salome CM, Badcock CA, Woolcock AJ. Optimal asthma control, starting with high doses of inhaled budesonide. *Eur Respir J* 2000; 16:226-35.
- [29] Gershman NH, Wong HH, Liu JT, Fahy JV. Low- and high-dose fluticasone propionate in asthma; effects during and after treatment. *Eur Respir J* 2000; 15:11-8.
- [30] Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Gerritsen J, Duiverman EJ, Knol K, Kerrebijn KF. Cessation of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroid (budesonide) in children with asthma results in deterioration. The Dutch CNSLD Study Group. Am Rev Respir Dis 1993; 148:1252-7.
- [31] Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Neijens HJ. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and beta- agonists on the bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1987; 79:653-9.
- [32] Nelson BV, Sears S, Woods J, Ling CY, Hunt J, Clapper LM, Gaston B. Expired nitric oxide as a marker for childhood asthma. *J Pediatr* 1997; 130:423-7.
- [33] Artlich A, Hagenah JU, Jonas S, Ahrens P, Gortner L. Exhaled nitric oxide in childhood asthma. *Eur J Pediatr* 1996; 155:698-701.
- [34] Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Chung KF, Barnes PJ. Changes in the dose of inhaled steroid affect exhaled nitric oxide levels in asthmatic patients. *Eur Respir J* 1996; 9:196-201.
- [35] Kharitonov SA, Yates DH, Barnes PJ. Inhaled glucocorticoids decrease nitric oxide in exhaled air of asthmatic patients. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 153:454-7.

- [36] van Rensen EL, Straathof KC, Veselic-Charvat MA, Zwinderman AH, Bel EH, Sterk PJ. Effect of inhaled steroids on airway hyperresponsiveness, sputum eosinophils, and exhaled nitric oxide levels in patients with asthma. *Thorax* 1999; 54:403-8.
- [37] Shapiro G, Mendelson L, Kraemer MJ, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K, Smith JA. Efficacy and safety of budesonide inhalation suspension (Pulmicort Respules) in young children with inhaled steroid-dependent, persistent asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1998; 102:789-96.
- [38] Chanez P, Karlstrom R, Godard P. High or standard initial dose of budesonide to control mild-to-moderate asthma? Eur Respir J 17, 856-62. 2001.
 Ref Type: Abstract
- [39] Brand PL, Duiverman EJ, Postma DS, Waalkens HJ, Kerrebijn KF, van Essen-Zandvliet EE. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: relationship to symptoms, atopy, airways obstruction and hyperresponsiveness. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:1242-7.
- [40] Brand PL, Duiverman EJ, Waalkens HJ, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Peak flow variation in childhood asthma: correlation with symptoms, airways obstruction, and hyperresponsiveness during long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Thorax* 1999; 54:103-7.
- [41] Doull IJ, Freezer NJ, Holgate ST. Growth of prepubertal children with mild asthma treated with inhaled beclomethasone dipropionate. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1995; 151:1715-9.
- [42] Simons FE. A comparison of beclomethasone, salmeterol, and placebo in children with asthma. Canadian Beclomethasone Dipropionate-Salmeterol Xinafoate Study Group. N Engl J Med 1997; 337:1659-65.

Chapter 6

Influence of different dosage schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate on peripheral blood cytokine concentrations in childhood asthma

M.J. VISSER¹, D.S. POSTMA¹, P.L.P. BRAND², L.R. ARENDS³, E.J. DUIVERMAN⁴, H.F. KAUFFMAN⁵.

¹Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, Groningen, the Netherlands.

²Department of Paediatrics, Division of Paediatric Pulmonology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands.

³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Erasmus University, Rotterdam, the Netherlands.

⁴ Department of Paediatric Pulmonology, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

⁵ Department of Allergology, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

Abstract

Background Asthma is characterized by eosinophilic airways inflammation with elevated levels of IL-4, IL-5, and sICAM-1, and reduced levels of IL-10 and INF- γ . Inhaled corticosteroids powerfully reduce airways inflammation.

Objective To investigate if eosinophil counts, serum eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP) and sICAM-1 levels, as well as serum and production of cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, INF- γ) by peripheral blood monocytes (PBMCs) are useful markers to monitor therapy with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP) in asthmatic children.

Methods In a double-blind, 1-year study, 55 asthmatic children (aged 6-10 years) stopped inhaled corticosteroids for a mean period of 24 days and were randomized to receive either FP 200 μ g/day (constant dose group), or a starting dose of FP 1000 μ g/day with two monthly reductions to 500, 200 and 100 μ g/day (step-down group). Hyperresponsiveness, symptom scores and blood sampling were performed at 2-month intervals.

Results Symptoms and hyperresponsiveness improved significantly in both treatment groups after reintroduction of FP. Eosinophil counts decreased significantly more during the first 2 months of FP in the stepdown group than in the constant dose group (p = 0.03). We found a trend towards a dose-dependent response in changes of eosinophil counts and serum ECP levels during treatment. Serum IL-4 and IL-5 levels were undetectable in the majority of children. No significant effect of the dose of FP on the release of IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 or INF- γ by Con A stimulated PBMCs was found. sICAM-1 levels did not significantly differ at any time point between the two groups.

Conclusion Serum ECP as well as peripheral blood eosinophils, cytokine production by PBMCs and sICAM-1 levels are insensitive markers in titrating and monitoring therapy with inhaled corticosteroids over a wide dose range in childhood asthma.
Introduction

Asthma is characterized by an influx of eosinophils and lymphocytes in the airway wall.¹ Lymphocytes produce different cytokines, and the cytokine profile in asthma is compatible with a predominance of Th2 lymphocytes (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10) over Th1 lymphocytes (INF- γ).^{2,3} Most knowledge on airways inflammation in asthma is inferred from studies in adults, using invasive techniques such as bronchoalveolar lavage and bronchial biopsy, which are not feasible in children. The limited knowledge on inflammation in childhood asthma therefore is obtained generally from studies assessing peripheral blood.

Eosinophils migrate from bone marrow to the pulmonary airways.² Adhesion and migration of peripheral blood eosinophils to inflammatory sites are augmented by increased expression of intercellular adhesion molecules, e.g. ICAM-1 and VCAM-1. A soluble form of ICAM-1 is thought to be derived through shedding of membrane bound intercellular adhesion molecule-1 (sICAM-1), which has been shown to be elevated in asthmatic children.^{4,5}

Corticosteroids are the mainstay of asthma management⁶, and asthmatic symptoms are well controlled with these drugs. They are known to reduce cytokine production from inflammatory cells^{7,8} and lower sICAM-1 levels both in vitro and in vivo.^{9,10} In addition, eosinophil counts as well as serum eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP) concentrations decrease after therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.¹¹ One study in asthmatic children showed a reduction in the percentages of in vitro stimulated peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs) expressing mRNA encoding IL-4 and IL-5 and an increase of INF- γ mRNA expression after institution of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids.¹² Two recent *in vivo* studies in asthmatic children demonstrated a reduction in serum IL-5 but not serum IL-4 concentrations after therapy with oral prednisolone.^{13,14} So far, no long-term randomized controlled studies have been performed evaluating the effect of inhaled corticosteroid therapy on peripheral blood cytokine concentrations in childhood asthma. We performed a clinical study, comparing the effects of two different dosage schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP) in asthmatic children on eosinophil counts, ECP and sICAM-1, and on serum and stimulated PBMCs cytokine levels.

Material and methods

Subjects

Children, aged 6-10 years, with mild to moderate persistent asthma were recruited for the study. None used > 800 μ g of inhaled corticosteroids (FP > 400 μ g). Patients with major other illness and those who had used systemic corticosteroids during the previous 6 weeks, or had a respiratory tract infection during the preceding 4 weeks, were excluded.

Informed consent was obtained from all children and their parents. The study was approved by the medical ethics committees of the three participating centres.

Study design

After a run-in period of 6 weeks during which patients used FP 100 μ g twice daily by **dry** powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®], GlaxoWellcome, Zeist, the Netherlands), patients entered a wash-out period of 2-8 weeks during which no inhaled corticosteroids or other anti-inflammatory drugs were used, but only inhaled salbutamol 200 μ g by Diskhaler[®]on demand. During this period, patients returned to the clinic every 2 weeks (or earlier if symptoms worsened) for measurement of airways hyperresponsiveness. When a PD₂₀ < 80 μ g was never obtained during the full 8-week wash-out, the patient was withdrawn from the study.¹⁵ When a PD₂₀ < 80 μ g was found, the patient was randomized either to the stepdown or the constant dose schedule of inhaled corticosteroids (Figure 1). All patients received carefully standardized instructions on the correct use of the Diskhaler[®] and were asked to demonstrate a correct inhalation manoeuvre at each follow-up visit. During the whole study, patients were allowed to use salbutamol by Diskhaler[®] on demand.

Airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine was measured using a dosimeter method as published previously.¹⁶ Blood for measurement of inflammatory parameters was drawn at the randomisation visit and subsequently at 2-months intervals (except after 10 months treatment). In addition, at each follow-up visit, a standard-ized short symptom questionnaire was administered to each patient.¹⁷



Figure 1: Study design of asthmatic children treated according to the stepdown approach or the constant dose approach with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP).

Atopy

Blood was drawn at the randomisation visit for total and specific IgE, determined by the Pharmacia MasterCap analysis (Pharmacia & Upjohn, Uppsala, Sweden) according to the protocol of the manufacturer, with a range in IgE of 2-2000 U/mL.

Number of eosinophils and serum ECP

The number of eosinophils was counted with a Coulter counting chamber. ECP levels were determined as published previously.¹¹ Briefly, blood was allowed to clot during 1 h after it was drawn. Then, it was centrifuged twice (1450 g) and stored at -20°C. Serum ECP was determined by radioimmunoassay according to the protocol of the manufacturer (Pharmacia, Uppsala, Sweden), with a range of 0-200 μ g/L. Values above the upper detection limit of 2000 U/ml were further quantified after dilution.

Stimulation of cytokine production

Stimulation of cytokine production were measured as described previously.³ Briefly, 10 mL diluted blood was layered on a 4 Lymphoprep solution (Nycomed Pharma A.S., Oslo, Norway, density of 1.077 g/mL) in a polypropylene tube. Peripheral blood mononuclear cells (PBMCs, $1*10^6$ cells/mL in RPMI-1640 medium plus 10% FCS) were cultured in a 24-well plate (Costar, Badhoevedorp, the Netherlands), and were activated with 10 μ g Concanavaline A (Sigma Alderich Chemie B.V., Zwijndrecht, the Netherlands). The cells were incubated for 24 h, 37°C, 5% CO₂, followed by cent**rif**ugation at 590 **g**, 10 min in a polypropylene tube, and the supernatant collected and stored in polypropylene tubes at -80°C for further analyses.

Cytokine and soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 measurements

Assays of supernatants for IL-4, IL-4 high sensitive assay (for serum), and sICAM-1 were from R & D Systems Europe, Abindon, UK. Assays for INF- γ were from Amersham Life Science, Roosendaal, the Netherlands, IL-10 from Centraal Laboratorium Bloedtransfusie, Amsterdam, the Netherlands, and IL-5 measured according to Borger et al.^{3,18} The detection limit was 0.010 pg/mL and 0.1 pg/mL for IL-4 and IL-5, respectively. Concentrations of IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and INF- γ in serum and supernatants of activated PBMCs were determined as described above. When IL-4 and IL-5 were undetectable in the serum, the detection limit was used for statistical analysis. sICAM-1 was only determined in the serum samples.

Statistical analysis

All calculations of PD_{20} were performed on a log-transformed basis, thereby normalising the distribution. The analyses were performed using SAS 6.12 and SPSS 9.0. To determine trends and differences across groups over time, a linear mixed effects model (SAS Proc Mixed) was used.

Results

Patients

Fifty-five children were included in the study. During 1-year follow-up, four children were withdrawn: three from the constant dose group (two because of insufficient asthma control, one due to exacerbation of asthma) and one from the stepdown group (adverse event: abnormal bone density). Baseline characteristics and duration of run-in period were comparable in the two groups (Table 1).

 Table 1: Baseline characteristics at randomisation.

	Stepdown approach	Continuous approach
Subjects n	27	28
Age at study entry (years)	8.1 (0.3)	7.8 (0.2)
Male sex (%)	52	54
Duration of asthma (years)	5.0 (0.4)	5.0 (0.4)
IgE (IU/L)	560 (386-814)	418 (252-695)
< 1 RAST (number) ^a	3	4
PD_{20} methacholine (µg)	36 (26-53)	30 (22-43)
FEV_1 (L)	1.53 (0.07)	1.41 (0.06)
Wash-out period (days)	24.3 (18.1-32.5)	22.8 (16.3-31.9)

Values are presented as mean values (SEM).

PD₂₀, IgE and wash-out period as geometric mean (range).

^aA RAST test was considered positive when the result read class 2 or higher.

Symptoms decreased after reinstitution of FP with both dosage schedules, without a significant difference between the two schedules. There was no difference in incidence of exacerbations between groups (0.4 exacerbations/patient year).

Airways hyperresponsiveness

Airways hyperresponsiveness increased after withdrawal and decreased after reinstitution of inhaled FP (Table 2). A significant dose-dependent effect was found after 4 months of treatment (FP 500 μ g/day vs. 200 μ g/day, respectively, p = 0.03). At

the end of the one year treatment period, there was no difference in airways hyperresponsiveness between the two groups (FP 100 μ g/day vs. 200 μ g/day, respectively, p = 0.3).

Table 2: Airways hyperresponsiveness and serum markers between the different dosage schedules of fluticasone propionate in asthmatic children.

	Wash-out	Treatment month				
	randomisation	2	4	6	8	12
Constant approach, dose ^a	0	200	200	200	200	200
PD ₂₀ (µg)	30 (22-43)	346 (199-600)	430 (264-700) ^b	527 (325-853)	615 (360-1050)	608 (331-1116)
IL-5 (pg/mL)	2.68 (0.8)	2.94 (0.8)	3.35 (0.8)	4.44 (0.8)	3.62 (0.9)	2.82 (0.8)
sICAM-1 (ng/mL)	313.3 (13.5)	282.2 (14.7)	273.7 (14.4)	280.6 (14.0)	268.3 (15.2)	297.7 (14.4)
Ln ratio ECP/eosinophil	2.70 (0.1)	2.72 (0.1)	2.81 (0.1)	2.65 (0.1) ^b	2.84 (0.1)	2.96 (0.1)
Stepdown approach, dose ^a	0	200	200	200	200	200
PD ₂₀ (µg)	36 (26-52)	477 (267-854)	940 (571-1548)	577 (356-934)	459 (269-783)	401 (217-740)
IL-5 (pg/mL)	1.46 (0.5)	2.30 (0.5)	2.47 (0.5)	3.03 (0.5)	3.47 (0.5)	3.29 (0.5)
sICAM-1 (ng/mL)	306.8 (14,1)	248.1 (14.8)	256.1 (15.0)	317.2 (13.9)	301.5 (14.8)	317.6 (13.9)
Ln ratio ECP/eosinoplul	3.01 (0.1)	3.05 (0.1)	2.97 (0.1)	3.05 (0.1)	2.84 (0.1)	2.96 (0.1)

PD₂₀ is represented as geometric mean (95% CI), IL-5 and sICAM-1 as mean (SEM).

^aDose in μ g/day.

 $^{b}p < 0.05$ compared with stepdown approach.

Eosinophils and ECP in peripheral blood

After reinstitution of FP, the number of eosinophils decreased within 2 months in both groups. This decrease was significantly larger in the stepdown group when compared to the constant dose group (1000 μ g/day vs. 200 μ g/day), values changing from 0.70 to 0.38*10⁹/L (geometric mean) with the stepdown, and from 0.68 to 0.53*10⁹/L with the constant dose regimen, respectively (p = 0.03, Figure 2a). During further treatment with a constant dose of FP, the number of eosinophils in peripheral blood remained stable. Eosinophil counts showed a trend towards increasing after tapering off FP in children in the stepdown group. A borderline significant difference in eosinophil counts was detected after 8 months in children receiving FP 100 μ g/day (stepdown approach) when compared to FP 200 μ g/day (geometric mean, range: 0.68, 0.52-0.91*10⁹/L vs. 0.47, 0.35-0.62*10⁹/L, p = 0.06, respectively, Figure 2a). After 1-year's treatment, no difference in number of eosinophils was found between the two groups.

Figure 2: (a) Number of eosinophils in peripheral blood (*10⁹/L) and (b) concentration of ECP (μ g/L) in asthmatic children during and after treatment with different dosage schedules of inhaled FP. Data are logarithmically transformed and expressed as mean (SEM). * p = 0.03 significant difference in decrease of eosinophil counts in 2 months between the stepdown and constant dose approaches. † p = 0.06 between the two approaches. ‡ p = 0.03 between the two approaches.



Follow-up (months)

ECP concentrations were stable during treatment with FP 200 μ g/day for 1 year (constant dose approach). A dose-dependent effect was found on serum ECP concentrations in the stepdown group, with an increase in ECP levels after tapering off FP (Figure 2b). A significant difference between the two approaches was only detected after 6 months of treatment with 200 μ g/day FP in both approaches (mean, SEM: 12.2 \pm 1.2 μ g/L vs. 7.7 \pm 1.2 μ g/L, p = 0.03).

A significant difference between the two dosage schedules with respect to the ratio of ECP/eosinophil count was only found after 6 months (Table 2).

Cytokines, serum

At the baseline visit, IL-4 was detectable in 12 children in the stepdown group (46%) and in 10 children in the constant dose group (42%). During the study, there was an increase in number of blood samples with undetectable concentrations of IL-4 in both groups. There were no significant differences between groups at any moment (data not shown).

IL-5 was detectable at baseline (without steroids) in 16 children in the constant group (64%) and in 15 children in the stepdown group (65%). In 23% of the children, IL-5 was undetectable throughout the study, independent of the treatment approach. Serum IL-5 gradually increased during treatment according to the stepdown approach. No significant differences were found between the two treatment groups (data not shown).

sICAM-1 concentrations did not significantly differ between groups at the beginning of the study. In both groups there was a decrease in sICAM-1 concentrations after starting with FP (Table 2). In the stepdown group sICAM-1 concentrations increased after tapering down FP, with a borderline significantly higher concentration after 6 months of treatment than in the constant dose group (mean \pm SEM: 317.2 \pm 13.9 ng/mL vs. 280.6 \pm 14.0 ng/mL, p = 0.06). After treatment for 1 year with FP, sICAM-1 did not differ significantly between the two groups.

Cytokines, supernatants of Con A stimulated PBMCs

IL-4, IL-5, INF- γ and IL-10 were detectable in supernatants of Con A stimulated PBMCs in all participating children.

No significant effect of the dose of FP on the release of cytokines (IL-4, IL-5, IL-10, and $INF-\gamma$), irrespective of treatment approach, was found (Figure 3).

Figure 3: Concentrations of Con A stimulated PBMCs for IL-4 (a, pg/mL), IL-5 (b, pg/mL), INF- γ (c, pg/mL), and IL-10 (d, pg/mL). Values are logarithmically transformed, except for IL-10, and expressed as mean (SEM). No significant differences between stepdown and constant dose approach at all time points.



Discussion

In accordance with the effect on the severity of **airw**ays hyperresponsiveness¹⁹, this study showed a dose-dependent effect of inhaled FP on the number of peripheral blood eosinophils, and a trend towards such an effect on both ECP concentrations and sICAM-1 levels in serum of asthmatic children. However, no effect of the dose of FP on concentrations of IL-4, IL-5, INF- γ or IL-10 was found, either in serum or in supernatant of Con A stimulated PBMCs.

The dose-dependent effect of FP on eosinophil counts, without singular effect on ECP concentrations confirms results of previous studies.^{20,21} A recent study in asthmatic children did not find an association between serum ECP and asthma severity or inflammatory markers, suggesting a limited role of ECP in monitoring asthma control.²² Thus, our results are in agreement with previous reports, showing that serum ECP is not a useful marker to guide the dose of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma.^{20,23}

The number of eosinophils decreased significantly after 2 months, at the highest dose of FP, and increased significantly after 8 months treatment when lowering the FP dose in asthmatic children treated according to the stepdown approach. Results were significantly different when compared with the results with the constant dose approach. After 8 months, however, the number of eosinophils returned to a level comparable to the beginning of the study when no inhaled corticosteroids were being used. In contrast, we found no significant difference in PD₂₀ values between the study arms after 2 and 8 months treatment. The discrepancy between the effects of inhaled corticosteroids on eosinophil counts and PD₂₀ during treatment with different dosages of FP might be explained by an increased systemic bioavailability of the high dose FP, resulting in a suppression of blood eosinophil progenitors²⁴ and colony forming unit production in bone marrow.²⁵ Similar results have been found in adult asthmatics, in whom eosinophil counts decreased after treatment with FP 2000 μ g/day or oral prednisolone, without significant changes in airways hyperresponsiveness.²⁶

There is accumulating evidence that inflammation in atopic asthmatic children is associated with a predominance of Th2-lymphocytes. This is reflected by elevated levels of IL-4 and IL- $5^{27,28}$, and reduced INF- γ levels.³ Although is assumed that this Th1-Th2 imbalance underlies the inflammation in asthma, it is yet unclear whether this is due to asthma *per se* or the atopy associated with it in about 80 percent of children.^{27,29} In our study, almost all children (87%) were atopic. Our results did not change when only atopic children were included (data not shown).

It has been demonstrated that oral corticosteroid therapy inhibits mRNA expression of IL-4, IL-5, and INF- γ in BAL fluid and lung tissue, as well as their related cytokine secretion.^{8,30} We found no effect of FP on unstimulated serum IL-4 levels, mainly due to many undetectable serum concentrations of this cytokine already at baseline, despite the use of a highly sensitive assay. Other investigators also had difficulties in detecting production of serum IL-4 from unstimulated PBMCs.^{3,13,27} However, we did not find a significant effect of different dosages of inhaled FP on IL-4, IL-5 or INF- γ concentrations by Con A stimulated PBMCs either. In other studies, marked changes in cytokine production of stimulated PBMCs have been demonstrated after allergen challenge. We have recently shown that inhaled corticosteroids have a dose-dependent effect on cortisol levels, due to adrenal-cortex suppression.³¹ Thus, inhaled FP is able to reach the bloodstream, exerting an effect on organs outside the circulation. We hypothesize that the effect of inhaled FP, even in a high dose (1000 μ g/day), is too small to alter resting T lymphocytes in the circulating blood that are also subject to homeostatic mechanisms that will prevent cell activation.

Studies in asthmatic children showed a decrease in serum IL-5, but not serum IL-4 levels after therapy with oral prednisolone.^{13,32} An explanation for differences between these studies and ours may be that oral corticosteroids exert a direct effect on the T-lymphocytes due to systemic bioavailability, resulting in a decrease in cytokine production levels.

IL-10, an anti-inflammatory cytokine that is decreased in asthma^{33,34}, is mainly produced by Th2-lymphocytes and monocytes. IL-10 inhibits the production of IL-4, IL-5 and INF- γ .^{35,36} Conflicting reports on the effects of treatment with corticosteroids on IL-10 concentrations from stimulated PBMCs in adults have been described.^{37,38} We found an increase in IL-10 concentrations after starting with inhaled FP. During the study, however, these elevated concentrations decreased, without a significant dosedependent effect. This suggests that IL-10, just like IL-4, IL-5 and INF- γ , is a poor marker for evaluating therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.

We found that serum sICAM-1 concentrations decreased after introduction of FP. Similar results were found recently by others, without a dose-dependent effect.¹⁰ We have previously demonstrated that sICAM-1 levels are significantly associated with the presence or absence of airways hyperresponsiveness.³⁹ The results of the present study suggest that the level of sICAM-1 is ineffective to predict the severity of airways hyperresponsiveness.

Previous studies in adult asthmatics have shown that levels of IL-5 and IL-10 in peripheral blood are related to those in bronchoalveolar fluid.^{38,40} Whether this is also true for children is unknown. Cytokine concentrations in peripheral blood are lower

in children when compared to adults, and this difference could also be present in bronchoalveolar fluid.^{41,42} Our study suggests an increase in airways inflammation as reflected by an increase in airways hyperresponsiveness after reduction of the FP dose. Ethical considerations restricting invasive techniques in children prevented us from studying this inflammation directly, for example in bronchoalveolar fluid.

Limited data have been published on the effects of the dose of inhaled corticosteroids on various parameters assessing the severity of childhood asthma. A meta-analysis in adult asthma on different types of inhaled corticosteroids, including FP, showed a dose-dependent effect of FP on symptoms, rescue β -agonist use, and lung function, only in the lower dose range up to 200 μ g/day. Higher dosages of FP showed no additional benefit, although only very few studies actually examined these higher dosages.⁴³ Similar results have been found in children.^{21,44–46} This study suggests that airways hyperresponsiveness may be slightly more sensitive in picking up differences between dosages of FP in the higher dose range than are symptoms and level of lung function. However, earlier work showed that such differences are small and only become apparent after 6 months of treatment.²¹ Whether measurement of airways hyperresponsiveness is useful to titrate the dose of inhaled corticosteroids in childhood asthma, as has been found in adults⁴⁷, is currently under investigation.

In summary, the effects of FP on sICAM-1, ECP, and on serum levels of and Con A stimulated PBMC production of IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and INF- γ concentrations appear not to be dose-dependent in asthmatic children. The effect of FP dose on eosinophil counts was only apparent when comparing a very high dose (1000 μ g/day) with a low dose (200 μ g/day).

These results suggest that measurements of eosinophil counts, serum ECP, sICAM-1 and cytokine serum levels as well as cytokine production from stimulated PBMCs are not useful in monitoring therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in the dose range used in asthmatic children. Just as others have found in adults with asthma⁴⁸, we did not find advantage of an 'initial high-dose and stepdown' approach, as currently advocated in guidelines for asthma management.⁶

Acknowledgements

The authors thank Dorothea de Reus, Brigitte Dijkhuizen, and Janny Zonderland for performing skilfully the laboratory measurements during the study, Tjalling W. de Vries for including children in the study, and Pharmacia B.V. for generously supplying the radio-immunoassays for the determination of ECP.

This study was supported by GlaxoSmithKline B.V. and by De Stichting Astma Bestrijding.

References

- [1] Busse WW, Lemanske RFJr. Asthma. N Engl J Med 2001; 344:350-62.
- [2] Kay AB. Asthma and inflammation. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1991; 87:893-910.
- [3] Hoekstra MO, Hoekstra Y, De Reus D, Rutgers B, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Interleukin-4, interferon-gamma and interleukin-5 in peripheral blood of children with moderate atopic asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:1254-60.
- [4] Oymar K, Bjerknes R. Differential patterns of circulating adhesion molecules in children with bronchial asthma and acute bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9:73-9.
- [5] El Sawy IH, Badr-El-Din OM, El Azzouni OE, Motawae HA. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in sera of children with bronchial asthma exacerbation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 1999; 119:126-32.
- [6] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [7] Lantero S, Sacco O, Scala C, Morelli MC, Rossi GA. Eosinophil locomotion and the release of IL-3 and IL-5 by allergen- stimulated mononuclear cells are effectively downregulated in vitro by budesonide. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1996; 26:656-64.
- [8] Bentley AM, Hamid Q, Robinson DS, Schotman E, Meng Q, Assoufi B, Kay AB, Durham SR. Prednisolone treatment in asthma. Reduction in the numbers of eosinophils, T cells, tryptase-only positive mast cells, and modulation of IL-4, IL-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression within the bronchial mucosa. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1996; 153:551-6.
- [9] Wang JH, Devalia JL, Sapsford RJ, Davies RJ. Effect of corticosteroids on release of RANTES and sICAM-1 from cultured human bronchial epithelial cells, induced by TNF-alpha. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:834-40.
- [10] Cengizlier R, Demirpolat E, Tulek N, Cakmak F. Circulating ICAM-1 levels in bronchial asthma and the effect of inhaled corticosteroids. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2000; 84:539-41.
- [11] Hoekstra MO, Hovenga H, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Eosinophils and eosinophilderived proteins in children with moderate asthma. *Eur Respir J* 1996; 9:2231-5.
- [12] Gemou-Engesaeth V, Bush A, Kay AB, Hamid Q, Corrigan CJ. Inhaled glucocorticoid therapy of childhood asthma is associated with reduced peripheral blood T cell activation and 'Th2-type' cytokine mRNA expression. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99:695-703.
- [13] El Radhi AS, Hogg CL, Bungre JK, Bush A, Corrigan CJ. Effect of oral glucocorticoid treatment on serum inflammatory markers in acute asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 2000; 83:158-62.

- [14] Ferguson AC, Whitelaw M, Brown H. Correlation of bronchial eosinophil and mast cell activation with bronchial hyperresponsiveness in children with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1992; 90:609-13.
- [15] Kamps AW, Visser MJ, de Vries TW, van Aalderen WM, Postma DS, Brand PL. The feasibility of airways hyperresponsiveness as an inclusion criterion for studies on childhood asthma. *Eur Respir J* 2001; 17:887-91.
- [16] Birnie D, thoe Schwartzenberg GW, Hop WC, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Does the outcome of the tidal breathing and dosimeter methods of assessing bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma depend on age? *Thorax* 1990; 45:199-202.
- [17] Rosier MJ, Bishop J, Nolan T, Robertson CF, Carlin JB, Phelan PD. Measurement of functional severity of asthma in children. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1994; 149:1434-41.
- [18] Borger P, Vellenga E, Gringhuis SI, Timmerman JA, Lummen C, Postma DS, Kauffman HF. Prostaglandin E2 differentially modulates IL-5 gene expression in activated human T lymphocytes depending on the costimulatory signal. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1998; 101:231-40.
- [19] McKenzie S. Cough-but is it asthma? Arch Dis Child 1994; 70:1-2.
- [20] Juntunen-Backman K, Jarvinen P, Sorva R. Serum eosinophil cationic protein during treatment of asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1993; 92:34-8.
- [21] Hofstra WB, Neijens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Kouwenberg JM, Mulder PG, Kuethe MC, Sterk PJ. Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:415-23.
- [22] Wilson NM, James A, Uasuf C, Payne DN, Hablas H, Agrofioti C, Bush A. Asthma severity and inflammation markers in children. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 2001; 12:125-32.
- [23] Imai C, Yamazaki H, Tanaka Y, Matsunaga M, Numata O, Torigoe K. Ratio of eosinophil cationic protein/eosinophil count as a new marker in children with acute asthma. *Pediatr Int* 1999; 41:142-6.
- [24] Inman MD, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlback M, O'Byrne PM. The effect of treatment with budesonide or PGE2 in vitro on allergen- induced increases in canine bone marrow progenitors. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1997; 17:634-41.
- [25] Woolley MJ, Denburg JA, Ellis R, Dahlback M, O'Byrne PM. Allergen-induced changes in bone marrow progenitors and airway responsiveness in dogs and the effect of inhaled budesonide on these parameters. *Am J Respir Cell Mol Biol* 1994; 11:600-6.
- [26] Meijer RJ, Kerstjens HA, Arends LR, Kauffman HF, Koeter GH, Postma DS. Effects of inhaled fluticasone and oral prednisolone on clinical and inflammatory parameters in patients with asthma. *Thorax* 1999; 54:894-9.

- [27] Tang ML, Coleman J, Kemp AS. Interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma production in atopic and non-atopic children with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1995; 25:515-21.
- [28] Krug N, Jung T, Napp U, Wagner K, Schultze-Werninghaus G, Heusser C, Rieger CH, Schauer U, Fabel H. Frequencies of T cells expressing interleukin-4 and interleukin-5 in atopic asthmatic children. Comparison with atopic asthmatic adults. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 158:754-9.
- [29] Tang M, Kemp A, Varigos G. IL-4 and interferon-gamma production in children with atopic disease. *Clin Exp Immunol* 1993; 92:120-4.
- [30] Robinson D, Hamid Q, Ying S, Bentley A, Assoufi B, Durham S, Kay AB. Prednisolone treatment in asthma is associated with modulation of bronchoalveolar lavage cell interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993; 148:401-6.
- [31] Visser MJ, Duiverman EJ, Postma DS, Arends LR, Brand PLP. High doses of inhaled fluticasone propionate dose-dependently suppress adrenal corticol function in asthmatic children. *Eur Respir J* 2001; 18:290s.
- [32] Tang RB, Chen SJ. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor and interleukin-4 in sera of asthmatic children before and after a prednisolone course. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2001; 86:314-7.
- [33] Kenyon NJ, Kelly EA, Jarjour NN. Enhanced cytokine generation by peripheral blood mononuclear cells in allergic and asthma subjects. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2000; 85:115-20.
- [34] Koning H, Neijens HJ, Baert MR, Oranje AP, Savelkoul HF. T cells subsets and cytokines in allergic and non-allergic children. II. Analysis of IL-5 and IL-10 mRNA expression and protein production. *Cytokine* 1997; 9:427-36.
- [35] Fiorentino DF, Bond MW, Mosmann TR. Two types of mouse T helper cell. IV. Th2 clones secrete a factor that inhibits cytokine production by Th1 clones. J Exp Med 1989; 170:2081-95.
- [36] Moore KW, O'Garra A, de Waal MR, Vieira P, Mosmann TR. Interleukin-10. *Annu Rev Immunol* 1993; 11:165-90.
- [37] John M, Lim S, Seybold J, Jose P, Robichaud A, O'Connor B, Barnes PJ, Chung KF. Inhaled corticosteroids increase interleukin-10 but reduce macrophage inflammatory protein-1alpha, granulocyte-macrophage colony-stimulating factor, and interferon-gamma release from alveolar macrophages in asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 157:256-62.
- [38] Borish L, Aarons A, Rumbyrt J, Cvietusa P, Negri J, Wenzel S. Interleukin-10 regulation in normal subjects and patients with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1996; 97:1288-96.

- [39] Visser MJ, Kamps AWA, de Vries TW, van Aalderen WMC, Kauffman HF, Postma DS, Brand PLP. Different immunological profiles between asthmatic children with and without airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. *Eur Respir J* 2000; 16:197s.
- [40] Tang C, Rolland JM, Ward C, Quan B, Walters EH. IL-5 production by bronchoalveolar lavage and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in asthma and atopy. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:624-32.
- [41] Lilic D, Cant AJ, Abinun M, Calvert JE, Spickett GP. Cytokine production differs in children and adults. *Pediatr Res* 1997; 42:237-40.
- [42] Elsasser-Beile U, Dursunoglu B, Gallati H, Monting JS, von Kleist S. Comparison of cytokine production in blood cell cultures of healthy children and adults. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1995; 6:170-4.
- [43] Bousquet J, Ben Joseph R, Messonnier M, Alemao E, Gould AL. A meta-analysis of the dose-response relationship of inhaled corticosteroids in adolescents and adults with mild to moderate persistent asthma. *Clin Ther* 2002; 24:1-20.
- [44] Verberne AA, Frost C, Duiverman EJ, Grol MH, Kerrebijn KF. Addition of salmeterol versus doubling the dose of beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158:213-9.
- [45] Pedersen S, Hansen OR. Budesonide treatment of moderate and severe asthma in children: a dose- response study. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1995; 95:29-33.
- [46] Shapiro G, Mendelson L, Kraemer MJ, Cruz-Rivera M, Walton-Bowen K, Smith JA. Efficacy and safety of budesonide inhalation suspension (Pulmicort Respules) in young children with inhaled steroid-dependent, persistent asthma. J Allergy Clin Immunol 1998; 102:789-96.
- [47] Sont JK, Willems LN, Bel EH, van Krieken JH, Vandenbroucke JP, Sterk PJ. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. The AMPUL Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1043-51.
- [48] van der Molen T., Meyboom-de Jong B, Mulder HH, Postma DS. Starting with a higher dose of inhaled corticosteroids in primary care asthma treatment. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1998; 158:121-5.

Chapter 7

Dose-dependent suppression of growth velocity, bone metabolism and adrenal cortical function in asthmatic children using the inhaled corticosteroid fluticasone propionate: No long-term effects after dose reduction

A randomised clinical study

M.J. Visser¹, E. van der Veer², D.S. Postma¹, L.R. Arends³, T.W. de Vries⁴, P.L.P. Brand⁵, E.J. Duiverman⁶.

²Department of Pathology and Laboratory Medicine, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

³Department of Epidemiology and Biostatistics, Erasmus Medical Center, Rotterdam, the Netherlands. ⁴Department of Paediatrics, Medical Center, Leeuwarden, the Netherlands.

⁵Department of Paediatrics, Division of Paediatric Pulmonology, Isala Klinieken, Zwolle, the Netherlands. ⁶Department of Paediatric Pulmonology, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

¹Department of Pulmonology, University Hospital, University Hospital Groningen, the Netherlands.

Abstract

Background : Inhaled corticosteroids are highly effective in the treatment of childhood asthma. Despite this, there is concern as to systemic side-effects, especially at high doses. Guidelines suggest to start therapy with a high dose with subsequent tapering ("stepdown") and to double the dose when asthma deteriorates. Thus high doses are frequently used. To assess long-term effects of high dose ICS, we performed a double blind prospective 2 year study comparing a stepdown dose approach (1000 μ g/day tapering off two monthly to 500, 200 and then 100 μ g/day for the remainder of the study) versus a continuous dose of inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP, 200 μ g/day).

Methods In fifty-five children with chronic persistent asthma and airways hyperresponsiveness, aged 6-10 years, lung function and systemic side-effects (height, biochemical measurements of bone formation and degradation, bone mineral density (BMD), adrenal cortical function) were assessed at predetermined intervals for 2 years.

Findings Airways hyperresponsiveness improved after 4 months treatment with FP 1000 μ g/day followed by 500 μ g/day, without significant differences during long-term treatment between the two approaches. Other parameters of asthma control (exacerbation rates, lung function, symptom scores and peak flow) were comparable between the two treatment groups. A dose-dependent reduction of growth velocity, adrenal cortical function and biochemical bone turnover was found during therapy with FP 1000 followed by 500 μ g/day when compared to 200 μ g/day. These differences disappeared after tapering the dose to 200 μ g/day. No differences between the two treatment schedules were found in standing height or BMD.

Interpretation A stepdown approach is not clinically favourable above conventional doses (FP $\leq 200 \ \mu$ g/day). The latter treatment appears to be safe in the long-term management of childhood asthma. However, doses of 1000 and 500 μ g/day are associated with marked reduction of growth velocity, bone turnover and adrenal cortical function. From a safety point of view, these doses should only be prescribed in exception, e.g. in persistent severe asthma.

Introduction

Inhaled corticosteroids (ICS) are the cornerstone of asthma treatment. Because these drugs are highly effective in improving symptoms, lung function, airways hyperresponsiveness and quality of life in asthmatic children^{1,2}, they are recommended as controller therapy in all but the mildest forms of childhood asthma.^{3–5}

Although current guidelines advice treatment with ICS in doses up to 400 μ g/day, it has been advocated to start ICS therapy in childhood asthma with a high dose in order to reduce airway inflammation powerfully, and to subsequently taper off to the lowest effective dose ("stepdown" strategy).^{4,5} It is also advocated to double the dose of ICS when asthma deteriorates. As a result, high dosages of ICS are frequently used, but very limited data are available on the effects and side-effects of high-dose ICS therapy in children.⁶ In a previous study we have shown an initial improvement in airways hyperresponsiveness in children with asthma during high dose fluticasone propionate therapy (FP, 1000 μ g/day for 2 months, followed by 2 months of 500 μ g/day).⁷ When the dose of FP was tapered to 100 μ g/day, no differences were found between asthmatic children treated with this stepdown approach and children using FP 200 μ g/day during the full 1-year follow-up. Thus, the stepdown approach does not appear to be superior to a constant dose approach of FP in children with chronic persistent asthma.

Concern on the adverse effects of ICS on height in children have been relieved by recent reports showing normal height during ICS treatment for 4-6 years⁸, and normal final height at adult age after long-term ICS therapy.⁹ Although effects of ICS on bone mineral density (BMD) in adults have been described^{10,11}, studies in children did not demonstrate reduction of BMD during ICS treatment.^{8,12–14} Even during long-term treatment, therefore, ICS appear to be safe, but clinically relevant systemic side-effects have been reported anecdotally.^{15–18}

This prospective double blind study was designed to compare effects of different dosage schedules of ICS during 2-year follow-up in these asthmatic children, focusing on systemic side-effects.

Methods

Patients and study design

Between April 1996 and April 1998, 55 prepubertal children, 6 to 10 years of age, with a diagnosis of mild to moderate persistent asthma and using ICS were recruited from the outpatient clinics of three participating hospitals. Patients with other illness (e.g. growth retardation, endocrinologic disorder, nocturnal enuresis) and those who had used systemic corticosteroids during the previous six weeks, or had had a respiratory tract infection during the preceding four weeks, were excluded. The study was approved by the medical ethics committees of the three participating centres.

Figure 1: Study design comparing different dosing schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP) for two years in asthmatic children. AHR: airways hyperresponsiveness; BMD: bone mineral density.



At the start of the study patients were switched to inhaled FP 200 μ g/day via dry powder inhaler (Diskhaler[®], GlaxoWellcome, Zeist, the Netherlands) for six weeks (run-in). Thereafter ICS were stopped for a period of up to eight weeks (wash-out) during which only on demand inhaled salbutamol 200 μ g by Diskhaler[®] was allowed

(GlaxoWellcome, Zeist, the Netherlands, Figure 1). Patients were randomised to treatment when they developed airways hyperresponsiveness during the wash-out period, defined as a PD₂₀ < 80 μ g (the provocative dose of methacholine causing a 20% drop in forced expiratory volume in one second (FEV₁)).¹⁹ Study treatment consisted either of FP 200 μ g/day for two years (constant dose group) or of a high starting dose FP (1000 μ g/day), followed by two monthly reductions to 500, 200, and 100 μ g/day during the remaining one and half year (stepdown group), in a double blind fashion (Figure 1). Salbutamol by Diskhaler[®] could be used on demand throughout the study. Randomisation was performed using a computer programme with stratification for age, sex, duration of prior ICS use, and PD₂₀. All patients received standardised instructions on correct use of the Diskhaler[®] and were required to demonstrate a correct inhalation manoeuvre at each follow-up visit.

Outcome measurements

Height was measured at predetermined intervals (Figure 1) by trained technicians, using a calibrated Harpenden stadiometer. Growth velocity in cm/year was calculated from changes in height over time. Bone age of the left hand was determined at randomisation, and after one and two years using the Tanner & Whitehouse method by a single blinded investigator.²⁰ Tanner's pubertal stages were scored at each follow-up visit.²¹ BMD of the spine was measured by dual energy X-ray absorption (DEXA) from L1 to L4, using a HOLOGIC QDR-4500 C Elite.²²

Serum osteocalcin and amino-terminal propeptide of type-1 procollagen (P1NP) are measurements of osteoblast activity and reflect bone formation. They were measured using the IRMA of Medgenix-H-Ost (Fleurus, Belgium) and RIA kit of Orion Diagnostica (Espoo, Finland), respectively. Urinary deoxypyridinoline (Dpyr) and pyridinoline (Pyr) are products of osteoclasts and reflect bone degradation. Urine was analysed for calcium and creatinine with a Hitachi 71 Chemistry Analyser, and for Dpyr and Pyr by HPLC. Urinary excretion of DPyr and calcium was corrected for urinary creatinine.

Total cortisol metabolites excretion was measured using 24 hour urine at preset visits (Figure 1) by gas-liquid chromatography as described previously.²³ The following major metabolites were determined: tetrahydrocortisone, tertahydrocortisol, allotetrahydrocortisol, α -cortol, α -cortolone, β -cortol, and β -cortolone.

Expiratory flow-volume curves were obtained with a Jaeger Masterlab pneumotachograph (Eric Jaeger GmbH, Würzburg, Germany) according to the guidelines of the European Respiratory Society.²⁴ Airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine was measured using a dosimeter method as published previously.¹⁹

Patients kept symptom and peak flow diaries during the study. These data have been published previously and will not be reported here.⁷ Patients were asked to return all used and unused medication at each follow-up visit and adherence to treatment was assessed by counting the blisters used.

Statistical analysis

Analyses were performed using SAS 8.0 (Figures 2 and 3) and SPSS 9.0. (Table 1). Group data are summarised as means and standard errors of the means (SE). Comparisons between and within both treatment groups across time points were performed by a linear mixed model (SAS Proc Mixed). These comparisons were made both when differences in FP doses between groups were large (first months of the study) and when they were small (Figure 1). A two-tailed *p* value of *p* < 0.05 was considered to be statistically significant (*) and a two-tailed *p* value of 0.05 was considered to be borderline significant (†).

Results

Fifty-five asthmatic children were included in the study: 27 were allocated to the constant dose group, 28 to the stepdown group. Baseline characteristics are shown in Table 1; both treatment groups were comparable. During the 2 year study, 7 children were withdrawn: 4 from the stepdown group (3 due to exacerbation, 1 because of abnormal bone density) and 3 from the constant dose group (2 because of insufficient asthma control, 1 due to an exacerbation of asthma). Mean adherence to treatment was 94 % in both groups and remained stable throughout the 2 year study period.

Airways hyperresponsiveness

Airways hyperresponsiveness deteriorated during the wash-out period after withdrawal of FP, and improved in both groups after reinstitution of inhaled FP (Figure 2A). At four months treatment a statistically significant difference was found between the two groups (FP 500 μ g/day versus FP 200 μ g/day). Over the remainder of the two year treatment period airways hyperresponsiveness was comparable between the two groups (Figure 2A).

	Constant dose group	Stepdown group
Subjects n	28	27
Male sex (%)	54	52
Age at study entry (years)	7.8 (0.2)	8.1 (0.3)
Duration of asthma (years)	5.0 (0.4)	5.0 (0.4)
IgE (IU/L)	418 (252-695)	560 (386-814)
PD_{20} methacholine (μ g)	30 (22-43)	36 (26-53)
FEV_1 (L)	1.41 (0.06)	1.53 (0.07)

 Table 1: Baseline characteristics at randomisation.

Values are presented as mean values (standard error of the mean), $\ensuremath{\text{PD}_{20}}$ and IgE as geometric mean (range).

24-hour urinary cortisol metabolite excretion

After randomisation, urinary cortisol metabolite excretion was significantly lower during treatment with FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day when compared to FP 200 μ g/day (Figure 2B). No further significant differences were found between the groups.

Standing height

Children in the stepdown group were slightly taller (mean 3.3 cm) than those in the constant dose group at the start of the study (Figure 2C).

Standing height increased comparably in children treated according to the stepdown group and the constant dose group during the two year study. Changes in bone age were similar in the two groups as well.

Growth velocity

Growth velocity was similar in the two groups at the start of the study (Figure 2D). A significant dose-dependent effect on growth velocity appeared after 2 months treatment (FP 1000 μ g/day versus FP 200 μ g/day). After tapering off FP 1000 μ g/day,

Figure 2: A) airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine (PD₂₀) in asthmatic children during and after two year treatment with different dosing schedules of inhaled FP, B) urinary total cortisol metabolite excretion (μ mol/24 hour, corrected for creatinine excretion and body surface area during the two year study period), C) standing height, and D) growth velocity. *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05; + p < 0.1. Stepdown versus constant dose group. Values are presented as mean values (standard error of the mean).



growth velocity increased when compared to the constant dose group, which was significant at 6 months (200 μ g and 100 μ g FP versus 200 μ g) and borderline significant at 4 and 8 months treatment (FP 500 and 100 μ g/day versus FP 200 μ g/day, respectively).

After 1 year treatment growth velocity was significantly higher in the stepdown group than in the constant dose group (FP 100 μ g/day versus FP 200 μ g/day), but this difference had disappeared at the end of the 2-year treatment period.

Bone markers

Serum osteocalcin levels did not significantly differ between groups at randomisation (Figures 3A, B and C). Children treated with FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day had significantly lower serum osteocalcin levels than children treated with FP 200 μ g/day (Figure 3A). When both groups used FP 200 μ g/day (6 months visit) or 200 μ g and 100 μ g FP/day (8 month visit), serum osteocalcin levels were similar. Thereafter osteocalcin levels increased during 100 μ g/day treatment, whereas they remained stable in the group using FP 200 μ g/day constantly, which resulted in significantly higher osteocalcin levels in the stepdown group (FP 100 μ g/day). Both serum P1NP and the urinary Dpyr levels decreased significantly during treatment with FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day compared to FP 200 μ g/day (Figure 3B and C). After 12 and 18 months treatment a significantly higher P1NP level was present in the stepdown group (FP 100 μ g/day) compared to the constant dose group (FP 200 μ g/day, Figure 3B), which became similar at 24 months. For urinary Dpyr levels in the stepdown group (FP 100 μ g/day) were only significantly higher after 18 months treatment when compared to the constant dose group (FP 200 μ g/day, Figure 3B and C).

The results of the urinary Pyr levels were similar to the Dpyr levels (data not shown), and the ratio of urinary Pyr/Dpyr was similar between the two groups at all time points of the study.

BMD

BMD was similar at baseline, 1 year and 2 year treatment in both groups, and changes between visits and between groups were not significant (Figure 3D).

Figure 3: Bone turnover markers of inhaled FP in asthmatic children during and after treatment with different dosing schedules. A) serum osteocalcin levels (ng/ml); B) serum P1NP levels (ng/ml); C) urinary deoxypyridinoline levels (nmol/mmol creatinine); D) bone mineral density (Z-score) *** p < 0.001; ** p < 0.01; * p < 0.05; † p < 0.1. Stepdown versus constant dose group. Values are presented as mean values (standard error of the mean).



Discussion

This study investigated long-term side-effects of ICS in childhood asthma in a prospective way. Children were either treated with a constant dose of FP (200 μ g/day) or according to a stepdown strategy, with a very high starting dose of FP (1000 μ g/day), tapering down over a period of 6 months to a low maintenance dose (100 μ g/day). We previously demonstrated that the stepdown strategy was not superior to the constant dose strategy over a 12 month period, with respect to symptoms, exacerbation rates, lung function, and airways hyperresponsiveness.⁷ The present follow-up shows that the second year showed also no differences in asthma control (FP 100 μ g/day versus 200 μ g/day). This study strongly suggests, therefore, that a stepdown strategy is not superior to a constant dose strategy in the long-term management of childhood asthma. It should be noted, however, that the children in this study had all been using inhaled corticosteroids prior to entering the study, being school-aged children with mild to moderate persistent asthma. Further studies are needed to assess whether a stepdown strategy is superior to a constant dose treatment schedule in steroid-naive children with newly diagnosed asthma, or in children with mild intermittent or severe persistent asthma.

During the later stages of the study, when the dose of FP was $\leq 200 \ \mu$ g in both treatment groups, there were no between group differences in terms of safety parameters. Standing height, growth velocity, serum P1NP, urinary Dpyr excretion, BMD and adrenal function as assessed by cortisol metabolite excretion were all comparable between groups at the end of the study (Figures 2 and 3). Moreover, most parameters did not change from baseline, when no ICS were used for a maximum of 8 weeks, to the end of the study in the group using a constant dose of FP 200 μ g/day (Figures 2 and 3). These observations are in accordance with earlier work showing that maintenance treatment with a regular and constant dose of inhaled corticosteroids (in this study, FP 200 μ g/day) has no systemic side effects on bone turnover^{25,26}, height^{27,28}, and adrenal cortical function.^{29,30}

Two parameters of bone metabolism did not follow this pattern. Serum levels of osteocalcine, a parameter of bone formation, were at first lower in the stepdown group when doses of 1000 μ g and 500 μ g/day FP were used, but increased when the FP dose was tapered off to 100 μ g/day to significantly higher levels than those in the constant dose group (Figure 3A). Until now, no studies have examined effects of different dosages of inhaled corticosteroids on osteocalcin levels in children. Although one retrospective study³¹ and one non-randomised open study³² showed reduced osteocalcin levels during ICS therapy, two randomised clinical trials showed no effect of beclomethasone in doses up to 400 μ g/day or FP 200 μ g/day on serum osteocalcin.^{33, 34} The relevance of the dose-dependent effects of inhaled FP on serum osteocalcin levels observed in this study is unclear (Figure 3A). Anyhow, it is not reflected in effects on BMD, which remained stable throughout the study (Figure 3D). Our results, like others³⁴, suggest that serum osteocalcin and BMD represent different phases of bone metabolism, with biochemical bone markers reflecting continuous remodelling and BMD reflecting long-term structural changes.

Our study clearly shows a negative direct effect of high dose FP on biochemical bone turnover parameters, which abate after treatment with lower doses for up to 2 years. Throughout the study, BMD did not differ significantly between the two study arms, suggesting no detrimental effect of overall long-term use of FP on BMD in asthmatic children. Within the group treated with a constant dose of FP 200 μ g/day, a trend towards a decrease in BMD in the first year was observed, which became statistically significant in the second year of treatment. This result should be interpreted with caution. It contrasts with the CAMP study where 200 μ g of budesonide/day given during 4-6 years did not affect BMD.⁸ Moreover, our study was not double blinded with placebo and other long-term studies with FP in children are lacking. Finally, the stepdown group used a higher cumulative dose of FP during the first year (i.e. 120,000 μ g) than the constant dose group (72,000 μ g), nevertheless changes in BMD in the stepdown group were not significant. Thus, there were no significant differences in BMD changes over time between the two study groups, and, if anything, a worsening of BMD only in the group treated with the overall lowest dose. Clearly further longterm studies are needed to evaluate effects of low dose ICS treatment on BMD in children.

The most prominent finding of our study is the marked negative effects of high-dose FP (1000 μ g and 500 μ g/day) on growth velocity and adrenal cortical function (Figure 2), and on biochemical markers of bone turnover and BMD (Figure 3). A reassuring finding is that these effects are short-lived and fully reversible when the dose of FP is tapered down. Furthermore, prolonged use of inhaled corticosteroids might provide less negative effects than short-term therapy.³⁵ Nevertheless, the magnitude of the observed findings warrants a note of caution, because it suggests a clear potential for clinically relevant side-effects if *high* dosages of FP are continued for prolonged periods of time. Indeed, clinically relevant growth suppression and adrenal failure have been described anecdotally in children on high-dose FP therapy.^{16,36}

In conclusion, this study shows that maintenance therapy with inhaled FP in dosages $\leq 200 \ \mu$ g/day appear to be safe in the long-term management of childhood asthma. Nevertheless, marked reduction of growth velocity, biochemical bone turnover, and adrenal cortical function occurs during treatment with high dosages of inhaled FP. Given our findings that high-dose FP therapy is no more effective than a "regular dose" and that it may cause clinically significant side-effects, we propose that high dosages of inhaled FP should be avoided whenever possible. These results provide a guideline to use the lowest effective dose of ICS in order to prevent systemic side-effects.

Acknowledgements

The authors thank A.W.A. Kamps for including the children and collecting the data, D.A. Piers for performing the bone mineral density measurements, and J.C. van der Molen and G. Hofstede for performing the laboratory measurements during the study.

This study was supported by GlaxoSmithKline B.V. the Netherlands, De Stichting Astma Bestrijding, University Hospital Groningen, and the University of Groningen.

References

- [1] Calpin C, Macarthur C, Stephens D, Feldman W, Parkin PC. Effectiveness of prophylactic inhaled steroids in childhood asthma: a systemic review of the literature. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1997; 100:452-7.
- [2] Adams N, Bestall J, Jones PW. Inhaled fluticasone proprionate for chronic asthma. *Cochrane Database Syst Rev* 2001;CD003135.
- [3] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [4] Asthma in adults and schoolchildren. The General Practioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S2-8.
- [5] Asthma in children under five years of age. The General Practitioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S9-20.
- [6] Adams N, Bestall JM, Jones PW. Inhaled fluticasone at different doses for chronic asthma (Cochrane Review). *In: The Cochrane Library, 1 Oxford: Update Software* 2002.
- [7] Visser MJ, Postma DS, Arends LR, de Vries TW, Duiverman EJ, Brand PL. One-year treatment with different dosing schedules of fluticasone propionate in childhood asthma. Effects on hyperresponsiveness, lung function, and height. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001; 164:2073-7.
- [8] The Childhood Asthma Management Program Research Group. Long-Term Effects of Budesonide or Nedocromil in Children with Asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1054-63.
- [9] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1064-9.
- [10] Israel E, Banerjee TR, Fitzmaurice GM, Kotlov TV, LaHive K, LeBoff MS. Effects of inhaled glucocorticoids on bone density in premenopausal women. *N Engl J Med* 2001; 345:941-7.
- [11] Wong CA, Walsh LJ, Smith CJ, Wisniewski AF, Lewis SA, Hubbard R, Cawte S, Green DJ, Pringle M, Tattersfield AE. Inhaled corticosteroid use and bone-mineral density in patients with asthma. *Lancet* 2000; 355:1399-403.
- [12] Reilly SM, Hambleton G, Adams JE, Mughal MZ. Bone density in asthmatic children treated with inhaled corticosteroids. *Arch Dis Child* 2001; 84:183-4.
- [13] Baraldi E, Bollini MC, De Marchi A, Zacchello F. Effect of beclomethasone dipropionate on bone mineral content assessed by X-ray densitometry in asthmatic children: a longitudinal evaluation. *Eur Respir J* 1994; 7:710-4.

- [14] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Bone mineral density in children with asthma receiving long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1998; 157:178-83.
- [15] Zwaan CM, Odink RJ, Delemarre-van de Waal HA, Dankert-Roelse JE, Bokma JA. Acute adrenal insufficiency after discontinuation of inhaled corticosteroid therapy. *Lancet* 1992; 340:1289-90.
- [16] Todd G, Dunlop K, McNaboe J, Ryan MF, Carson D, Shields MD. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children treated with high- dose fluticasone propionate. *Lancet* 1996; 348:27-9.
- [17] Priftis K, Everard ML, Milner AD. Unexpected side-effects of inhaled steroids: a case report. *Eur J Pediatr* 1991; 150:448-9.
- [18] Wong JY, Zacharin MR, Hocking N, Robinson PJ. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children on moderate to high doses of fluticasone propionate. J Paediatr Child Health 2002; 38:59-62.
- [19] Birnie D, thoe Schwartzenberg GW, Hop WC, van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Kerrebijn KF. Does the outcome of the tidal breathing and dosimeter methods of assessing bronchial responsiveness in children with asthma depend on age? *Thorax* 1990; 45:199-202.
- [20] Tanner JM, Whitehouse RH, Cameron N, Marshall WA, Healy MJR, Goldstein H. Assessment of skeletal maturity and prediction of adult height (TW2 method). 2nd Edn. London: Acad Press, 1983.
- [21] Tanner JM. Normal growth and techniques of growth assessment. *Clin Endocrinol Metab* 1986; 15:411-51.
- [22] Kinberg KA, Hopp RJ, Biven RE, Gallagher JC. Bone mineral density in normal and asthmatic children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1994; 94:490-7.
- [23] Steen G, Tas AC, Ten Noever De Brauw MC, Drayer NM, Wolthers BG. The early recognition of the 21-hydroxylase deficiency variety of congenital adrenal hyperplasia. *Clin Chim Acta* 1980; 105:213-24.
- [24] Quanjer PH, Tammeling GJ, Cotes JE, Pedersen OF, Peslin R, Yernault JC. Lung volumes and forced ventilatory flows. Report Working Party Standardization of Lung Function Tests, European Community for Steel and Coal. Official Statement of the European Respiratory Society. *Eur Respir J Suppl* 1993; 16:5-40.
- [25] Wolthers OD, Riis BJ, Pedersen S. Bone turnover in asthmatic children treated with oral prednisolone or inhaled budesonide. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 1993; 16:341-6.
- [26] Wolthers OD, Hansen M, Juul A, Nielsen HK, Pedersen S. Knemometry, urine cortisol excretion, and measures of the insulin-like growth factor axis and collagen turnover in children treated with inhaled glucocorticosteroids. *Pediatr Res* 1997; 41:44-50.
- [27] Brand PL. Inhaled corticosteroids reduce growth. Or do they? *Eur Respir J* 2001; 17:287-94.

- [28] Pedersen S. Do inhaled corticosteroids inhibit growth in children? *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2001; 164:521-35.
- [29] Priftis K, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function in asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1990; 65:838-40.
- [30] Yiallouros PK, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function and high dose inhaled corticosteroids for asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1997; 76:405-10.
- [31] Crowley S, Trivedi P, Risteli L, Risteli J, Hindmarsh PC, Brook CG. Collagen metabolism and growth in prepubertal children with asthma treated with inhaled steroids. *J Pediatr* 1998; 132:409-13.
- [32] Sorva R, Tahtela R, Turpeinen M, Juntunen-Backman K, Haahtela T, Risteli L, Risteli J, Sorva A. Changes in bone markers in children with asthma during inhaled budesonide and nedocromil treatments. *Acta Paediatr* 1996; 85:1176-80.
- [33] Doull I, Freezer N, Holgate S. Osteocalcin, growth, and inhaled corticosteroids: a prospective study. *Arch Dis Child* 1996; 74:497-501.
- [34] Rao R, Gregson RK, Jones AC, Miles EA, Campbell MJ, Warner JO. Systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids on growth and bone turnover in childhood asthma: a comparison of fluticasone with beclomethasone. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:87-94.
- [35] Kerstjens HA, Postma DS, van Doormaal JJ, van Zanten AK, Brand PL, Dekhuijzen PN, Koeter GH. Effects of short-term and long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids on bone metabolism in patients with airways obstruction. Dutch CNSLD Study Group. *Thorax* 1994; 49:652-6.
- [36] Todd GR. Side-effects of high-dose fluticasone propionate in children. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:707-9.
Chapter 8

Summary, conclusions and general discussion

Asthma is a chronic inflammatory disease of the airways, characterised by an influx of eosinophils and lymphocytes into the airway wall. The cytokine profile in asthma is compatible with a Th2 skewing of the immune response.

Current guidelines for the management of asthma emphasise anti-inflammatory therapy with inhaled corticosteroids as first-line treatment. These guidelines advise to increase the dose of inhaled corticosteroids when asthma symptoms deteriorate. The strategy is based on the dose-dependent effects of inhaled corticosteroids on both airways inflammation and clinical parameters, such as level of lung function and degree of airways hyperresponsiveness. As a result, it is now common practice in childhood asthma to start inhaled corticosteroid therapy with a high dose in order to reduce inflammation powerfully and effectively. Subsequently, this high dose is tapered off to the lowest effective dose ("stepdown-approach"). Another possible strategy is to give a fixed dose of inhaled corticosteroids for a prolonged period of time ("constant dose approach"). No randomised clinical trials, however, have been performed to establish which of these two strategies is the most effective one.

The main goal of this thesis was to compare a stepdown approach of inhaled FP (starting with 1000 μ g/day with two monthly reductions to 500, 200, and 100 μ g/day during the rest of the 2-year study) with a constant dose approach (200 μ g/day during the whole study). Primary efficacy variables were airways hyperresponsiveness, lung function, symptoms scores and exacerbation rates. In addition, we wished to assess anti-inflammatory effects of different doses of inhaled corticosteroids. Therefore we determined peripheral blood eosinophil counts, cytokine production by peripheral mononuclear cells (PBMCs), and the soluble cellular adhesion molecule ICAM-1. Elevated levels of serum ICAM-1 (sICAM-1) have been found in asthmatic children compared to healthy controls, reflecting increased inflammation.

Before the randomisation visit, children entered a baseline period. This period consisted of a run-in period, during which all children used FP 100 μ g *b.i.d.*, followed by a wash-out period of a maximum of 8 weeks, during which children only used short acting bronchodilator (salbutamol) on demand for relief of symptoms.

The possible systemic side-effects of inhaled corticosteroids on height growth, adrenal cortical function and bone metabolism in asthmatic children are still of concern to doctors, treating children with asthma for long periods of time. It has been demonstrated that inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP) has a lower bioavailability than other inhaled corticosteroids. The risk of systemic side-effects, therefore, should be lower. Limited data are present on long-term efficacy and systemic side effects of inhaled FP in asthmatic children. In our study, primary safety variables were height growth, adrenal cortical function and bone metabolism.

Airways hyperresponsiveness is a cardinal feature of childhood asthma and it is frequently used as inclusion criterion in clinical trials. Airways hyperresponsiveness shows a marked improvement during therapy with inhaled corticosteroids, which continues during at least 12 months. In contrast, the improvement of lung function levels off quickly after introduction of inhaled corticosteroids (after several weeks). Lung function, therefore, is an insensitive parameter to monitor long-term changes in response to different doses of ICS within an individual patient or between patients.

During the baseline period of our study, we were surprised by the finding that approximately half of the recruited asthmatic children did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. Chapter 2 describes the results of the baseline phase (run-in and wash-out period) of our study. Ninety-five asthmatic school children, who had all been using inhaled corticosteroids for several years, completed the baseline phase of the study. The majority of the children (51%) did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine (PD₂₀ \ge 80 μ g) after withdrawal of inhaled FP for a maximum of 8 weeks. Many of these children remained free from asthma symptoms as well, both during the wash-out period (44%) and after 1-year follow-up (39%). When we compared these children with the hyperresponsive children (PD₂₀ < 80 μ g), no differences in duration of asthma, duration of treatment, or peak flow variation were found. The hyperresponsive children, however, had higher levels of total and specific IgE, and lower levels of lung function (FEV_1, MEF_{50}) than the non-hyperresponsive children. Results did not change when the inclusion criterion of airways hyperresponsiveness was increased to $PD_{20} < 150$ μg.

Fifty-six percent of the children without airways hyperresponsiveness ($PD_{20} > 80 \ \mu g$) developed asthmatic symptoms (cough, wheeze) during the wash-out period. Compared to the asymptomatic children within this group, the symptomatic children had more severe airways hyperresponsiveness and larger peak flow variation.

Although there was a seasonal variation in the degree of airways hyperresponsiveness (lower PD_{20} during the spring, higher during the winter, summer, and autumn), this phenomenon could not explain the lack of airways hyperresponsiveness found in our study.

We conclude that levels of airways hyperresponsiveness may deteriorate in asthmatic school children when long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids is withdrawn. Many asthmatic children, however, do not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids and more likely so when they are non-allergic and have normal levels of lung function. As a result, recruitment of asthmatic children for clinical trials may be difficult when airways hyperresponsiveness is used as the sole inclusion criterion.

Chapter 3 describes a subgroup of the asthmatic children presented in chapter 2. Forty-one children (53%) with airways hyperresponsiveness ($PD_{20} < 80 \ \mu g$) and 37 non-hyperresponsive children (47%, $PD_{20} \ge 80 \ \mu g$) to methacholine after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids were examined for differences in demographic, clinical, and immunological features. Hyperresponsive children had significantly more atopic features (higher IgE levels, higher prevalence of a positive RAST test (≥ 1 RAST, class 2 or higher), and eczema) than non-hyperresponsive children. In addition, lower levels of FEV₁, MEF₅₀, and peak expiratory flow, and higher levels of exhaled nitric oxide were found in children with airways hyperresponsiveness.

Apart from a borderline significantly higher IL-4 in supernatants from Con A stimulated PBMCs and a significantly lower serum ICAM-1 (sICAM-1) concentration in the hyperresponsive children, other immunologic parameters were comparable between hyperresponsive and non-hyperresponsive children.

Multivariate logistic regression analysis demonstrated that presence of atopic features, high sICAM-1 levels, low levels of lung function, presence of furry pets and high levels of IL-4 (PBMCs) were independently associated with the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids.

Epidemiologic studies have demonstrated that children with persistent wheeze (allergic asthma) had more atopic features and lower levels of lung function when compared to transient wheezers ("toddler's asthma"). In our study, many children did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. It appears that the hyperresponsive children share features with persistent wheezers and that the non-hyperresponsive children share features with transient wheezers found in previous studies.

In **chapter 4** we describe a study in asthmatic children to investigate systemic sideeffects of FP 200 μ g/day via dry powder inhaler by means of knemometry, an instrument designed to measure and monitor lower leg growth velocity, and considered to be a sensitive tool to detect systemic effects of topical steroids. Twenty-one prepubertal asthmatic children, aged 6 to 10 years, were included in a non-randomised open crossover trial. They were treated with FP 200 μ g/day for 6 weeks, followed by a 2-week (wash-out) period during which only β_2 -agonists on demand were allowed. Lower leg measurements were performed every 2 weeks. No differences in baseline characteristics were present and all children remained clinically stable throughout the 8-week study period. We demonstrated that 6 weeks treatment with FP 200 μ g/day did not result in a decreased lower leg growth velocity when compared with the 2 weeks treatment with β_2 -agonist alone.

We conclude that no significant suppression of lower leg growth velocity was found in asthmatic children, aged 6 to 10 years, treated with FP 200 μ g/day via dry powder inhaler for 6 weeks.

In **chapter 5**, the results of a one-year study of two different treatment schedules of inhaled fluticasone propionate in childhood asthma are described. Although current guidelines advise to increase the dose of inhaled corticosteroids during periods with increased symptoms, no evidence from clinical trials is available to support this advice. Several dosage schedules to initiate new treatment in childhood asthma with inhaled corticosteroids may be used. One approach is to start inhaled corticosteroid therapy with a high dose in order to reduce inflammation effectively and powerfully. This high dose is subsequently tapered off to a low maintenance dose to control airways inflammation and symptoms. Another strategy is to give a fixed dose for a prolonged period of time. The aim of our double-blind study was to compare a high starting dose of FP (stepdown approach, 1000 μ g/day tapering off to 100 μ g/day over a 6-month period) with a constant dose approach (FP 200 μ g/day) for 1 year in prepubertal children with chronic persistent asthma. Primary efficacy variables were airways hyperresponsiveness to methacholine (PD₂₀), lung function, symptoms scores, and exacerbation frequency. Safety of therapy was assessed by height measurements.

Fifty-five asthmatic children, aged 6 to 10 years, were randomised after a wash-out period (during which no inhaled corticosteroids were used) to one of the two treat-

ment approaches. PD_{20} improved in both approaches during treatment with FP. At initial high doses a significantly higher PD_{20} was found in the stepdown group when compared to the constant dose group, but this only reached statistical significance after 4 months of therapy. No significant differences between the two approaches were found in lung function, symptom scores or exacerbation frequency over the full 1-year study period. Changes in standing height were similar in both treatment groups.

In conclusion, our results do not show a superior clinical effect of a stepdown approach compared to a constant dose approach of inhaled FP for 1 year in asthmatic children. Both treatment schedules were equally safe with respect to height growth. These results do not support the use of a stepdown strategy with inhaled corticosteroids in children with moderate to severe asthma.

It is now well established that asthma is an inflammatory disease, characterised by eosinophilic influx in the airways wall. In addition, studies in asthmatic children have demonstrated that the cytokine profile in asthma is compatible with a predominance of Th2 lymphocytes (IL-4, IL-5, and IL-10) over Th1 lymphocytes (INF- γ). Because it has been demonstrated that corticosteroids reduce airways inflammation, we hypothesised that inhaled FP is able to influence cytokine levels in asthmatic children. In **chapter 6** we describe effects of different doses of inhaled FP on eosinophil counts, sICAM-1 and cytokine levels in peripheral blood of asthmatic children. We hypothesised that these parameters could be useful markers in monitoring therapy with inhaled corticosteroids.

Eosinophil counts decreased in both treatment groups during reinstitution of inhaled FP after the wash-out period during which no inhaled corticosteroids were used. A significant dose-dependent effect of inhaled FP on eosinophil counts was only apparent when FP 1000 μ g/day was compared with FP 200 μ g/day. A trend towards a dose-dependent effect of inhaled FP was found on eosinophil counts during and after 1-year treatment, but this was not statistically significant. No clear dose-dependent effect on serum ECP levels was found. Although serum ECP levels increased in the stepdown group when the high dose was tapered down, no statistically significant differences were found between the two groups at any time point during the study.

The majority of serum IL-4 and many serum IL-5 levels were undetectable during the treatment phase of the study. All children had detectable levels of IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 and INF- γ in supernatants of Con A stimulated PBMCs. No significant dose-dependent effect of inhaled FP was found on the release of these cytokines. sICAM-1 levels decreased after reintroduction of inhaled FP, and again no dose dependent effect was apparent.

We conclude that eosinophil counts as well as serum ECP, cytokine production by PBMCs and sICAM-1 levels are insensitive markers in assessing anti-inflammatory efficacy with inhaled corticosteroids over a wide dose range in children with moderate to severe asthma.

In **chapter 7** we describe the results of different dosage schedules of inhaled FP on systemic side-effects in asthmatic children.

We found a clear, consistent, and highly significant effect of high doses of inhaled FP (1000 and 500 μ g/day) on height velocity, adrenal cortical function, and bone turnover. These side-effects, however, disappeared readily when the dose was reduced < 500 μ g/day in 2 monthly intervals. No difference in standing height was found between the two approaches during and after two-year treatment with FP. No significant differences in bone mineral density were found between the two treatment groups at any moment during the 2-year study.

We concluded that there are dose-dependent reductions in height velocity, adrenal cortical function, and bone turnover during treatment with high dosages of FP. These systemic side-effects, however, can be rapidly undone when the high dose of FP is tapered off to maintenance doses of < 500 μ g/day.

Because high doses of FP were found to be equally effective as lower doses in the maintenance therapy of asthma on efficacy markers, we conclude that high doses of FP in asthmatic children should be avoided.

Conclusions

The main conclusions derived from the studies presented in this thesis are:

- In a subset of asthmatic children, aged 6 to 10 years, airways responsiveness can be reduced to levels usually encountered in non-asthmatics after with-drawal of long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids. The absence of airways hyperresponsiveness may reflect a long-lasting remission of childhood asthma caused by treatment with inhaled corticosteroids at an early age and continued for a prolonged period of time. Alternatively findings can be explained by assuming that a subgroup of children were treated for wheeze but turned out to be transient wheezers in the longrun. Thus even though not apparent at that time, they did not need inhaled corticosteroids to treat their wheeze.
- A considerable proportion of children diagnosed with and treated for asthma from a young age onwards did not show airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. This emphasises the need to stop or at least reduce inhaled corticosteroids in young children to the lowest effective dose, and stop this therapy when possible.
- Children who developed airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids had more atopic features and lower levels of lung function compared to children who did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. Previous studies have demonstrated that children with persistent wheeze (allergic asthma) had lower levels of lung function and more atopic features compared children with transient wheeze ("toddler's" asthma). Therefore, the hyperresponsive children may represent persistent wheezers and the non-hyperresponsive children may represent transient wheezers found in earlier epidemiologic studies.
- We did not find a superior clinical effect of FP given in a stepdown approach after one year when compared with a constant dose strategy in children with asthma.
- A dose-dependent effect of high doses inhaled FP (1000 and 500 µg/day versus a "lower" dose of 200 µg/day) was found on airways hyperresponsiveness when assessed at 2 months intervals.
- Measurements of eosinophil counts, serum ECP, sICAM-1 and cytokine serum levels as well as cytokine production from stimulated PBMCs are not useful to monitor therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.
- Maintenance therapy with inhaled FP in doses of 200 μ g/day is effective and safe in asthmatic children.

- Inhaled FP at doses of 1000 and 500 μ g/day have marked systemic side-effects on growth velocity, biochemical bone turnover and adrenal cortical function. These side-effects, however, are relatively short-lived after tapering off this high dose to a low maintenance dose of FP (\leq 200 μ g/day).
- Inhaled FP given in either a stepdown strategy or a constant dose strategy for 2 years in asthmatic children (cumulative dose of approximately 146 mg) did not negatively affect standing height, bone mineral density, or adrenal cortical function.

General discussion

Anti-inflammatory therapy with inhaled corticosteroids are the cornerstone for the management of childhood asthma.^{1–4} Although guidelines suggest to start inhaled corticosteroid therapy with a high dose, there is limited evidence to support this strategy. The hypothesis of starting with a high dose of inhaled corticosteroids (in order to reduce airways inflammation powerfully) is based on a dose-dependent relationship of inhaled corticosteroids on markers of effectiveness in childhood asthma.

Despite there excellent clinical effects, systemic side-effects (reduction of growth rate, decreased adrenal cortical function, reduced mineral bone density) are a matter of concern in asthmatic children treated with inhaled corticosteroids.

We conducted a double blind prospective study to compare a stepdown approach with inhaled fluticasone propionate (FP, 1000 μ g/day tapering off to 100 μ g/day) with a constant dose approach (200 μ g/day) in school children with asthma. During the 2-year study period, efficacy and safety variables were examined.

Approximately half of the asthmatic children did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids during the baseline phase of the study. The most important factors associated with the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids were high serum IgE level, a history of eczema, and low levels of FEV₁ and serum sICAM-1.

A dose-dependent effect of FP on airways hyperresponsiveness and eosinophil counts was found during the first months of the study, without an effect of different doses of FP on cytokine levels. Short-lived dose-dependent systemic side-effects of FP on growth velocity, adrenal cortical function, and biochemical bone turnover were found. No significant differences on efficacy parameters (airways hyperresponsive-ness, lung function, symptoms, or exacerbation rate), systemic side-effects (growth velocity, adrenal cortical function, and biochemical bone turnover, bone mineral density), or inflammatory markers (eosinophil counts, serum eosinophilic cationic protein, cytokine levels, and sICAM-1 levels) were found between the two treatment schedules after one and two years.

Childhood asthma (transient wheezers versus persistent wheezers)

We were surprised by the finding that half of the recruited children did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids during the baseline phase of the study. When comparing the hyperresponsive children with the non-hyperresponsive children, we found that the hyperresponsive children had more atopic features (positive RAST, high IgE, eczema), lower levels of lung function, and lower sICAM-1 concentrations. This is the group that resembles in an epidemiologic setting children with persistent wheeze up to the age of 11 years.^{5,6} In contrast, the non-hyperresponsive children shared features with transient wheezers found in epidemiologic studies.^{5,6}

A longitudinal study showed that the presence of atopy at the age of 8 to 12 years was a significant risk factor for the <u>onset</u> of wheeze at adolescence.⁷ Moreover, that same study demonstrated that the presence of airways hyperresponsiveness at age 8 to 10 years was a risk factors for the <u>persistence</u> of wheeze at adolescence, suggesting an important contribution of airways hyperresponsiveness on the development of asthma in adolescence.⁷ This suggests that the hyperresponsive children in our study are prone to continue to wheeze at adolescence.

We reinvestigated the non-hyperresponsive children after a median follow-up of 13 months; 39% of these children did not develop respiratory symptoms and the remainder had mild asthmatic symptoms (cough, dyspnea on exertion, wheeze). The asymptomatic children had still a better lung function and a higher level of sICAM-1 when compared with the (symptomatic) hyperresponsive children, despite the fact that they withdrew their inhaled corticosteroids. In addition, IgE levels were lower in the asymptomatic children, although this difference was not statistically significant, most likely due to the small number of individuals in the asymptomatic group. Thus the finding of more atopic features and lower levels of lung function in the hyperresponsive children after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids are corroborated by the follow-up study.

It has recently been demonstrated that atopic children, with a median age of 7.3 years, who had apparently outgrown asthma, had elevated eosinophils in BAL fluid when compared to non-atopic normal controls, suggesting persistent airways inflammation.⁸ The finding of elevated concentrations of exhaled nitric oxide (eNO) in the hyperresponsive children compared to non-hyperresponsive children in our study supports the finding of ongoing airways inflammation. We did not measure, however, eosinophils in BAL fluid. Eosinophil counts in peripheral blood were similar between the hyperresponsive and non-hyperresponsive children. This suggests that inflammatory markers in peripheral blood are a poor reflection of (local) airways inflammation.

Elevated concentrations of IL-4 and IL-5, and reduced concentrations of INF- γ have been found in children with asthma and eczema, compatible with a Th2 skewing of

the immune response.^{9,10} The finding of an Th2/Th1 imbalance has recently be confirmed by a study in children (mean age 10.8 years) using exhaled breath condensate, showing increased levels of IL-4 and decreased levels of INF- γ in asthmatic children compared to healthy controls.¹¹ We demonstrated that the Th2 skewing of the immune response, as represented by levels of INF- γ and IL-4, reflected the presence of atopy rather than that of airways hyperresponsiveness. Our findings are supported by previous studies, showing that this Th2 skewing is associated with atopy and not with airways hyperresponsiveness.^{9,12}

sICAM-1 is an adhesion molecule, necessary for cell-cell interaction at inflammatory sites. Although some studies showed elevated levels of sICAM-1 in asthmatic children when compared to healthy controls^{13,14}, others failed to do so.^{15,16} We demonstrated that low sICAM-1 levels in serum were significantly associated with airways hyper-responsiveness, independent of the presence of atopy. It has been suggested that sICAM-1 may block cell-cell interactions, thus hampering inflammatory response.¹⁷ We hypothesised that low levels of sICAM-1 are responsible for an increase in the inflammatory response in the airways, resulting in an increase in airways hyperresponsiveness.

We described the results of a cross-sectional study. Prospective studies have to be performed to determine if blood inflammatory markers are useful to discriminate at an early age between children who are prone to continue to wheeze (persistent wheezers, allergic asthma) and to those who will stop wheezing (transient wheezers, "toddler's" asthma) at school-age. In addition, the relationship of sICAM-1 levels and airways hyperresponsiveness has to be elucidated.

Because objective measurements, like lung function and airways hyperresponsiveness, are not feasible in children below 6 years of age, blood inflammatory markers may predict which child will continue to wheeze and which child will cease to wheeze. Further research is needed to investigate the value of exhaled nitric oxide in separating "persistent wheezers" and "transient wheezers". Recently, it has been demonstrated that IL-4 and INF- γ levels in exhaled breath condensate differ between asthmatic children and healthy controls.¹¹ This may also be a valuable tool in distinguishing different types of childhood wheezing.

Efficacy

We found a dose-dependent effect of inhaled FP on airways hyperresponsiveness. In the first 4 months, PD_{20} was significantly more reduced after 2 months treatment

with FP 1000 μ g/day followed by 2 months treatment with 500 μ g/day compared to FP 200 μ g/day. In contrast, no significant differences on other efficacy parameters (e.g. lung function and symptoms) were found. This decrease in airways hyperresponsiveness during treatment with high doses of FP to a maintenance dose of FP 100 μ g/day, however, was temporary and did not sustain during tapering off this high dose of inhaled FP when compared to a constant dose of FP 200 μ g/day. In addition, a higher 1-year cumulative dose of FP in the stepdown approach (120 mg) did not result in an improved level of airways hyperresponsiveness compared to the constant dose approach after 1 year (73 mg).

No difference in level of airways hyperresponsiveness was found between 18 months treatment with FP 100 μ g/day and 200 μ g/day. After 2 years of treatment no significant difference in airways hyperresponsiveness was found between the two treatment approaches. We were surprised by this finding because both groups received the same cumulative dose of FP, i.e. approximately 146 mg. These results suggest that the effect of inhaled corticosteroids on airways hyperresponsiveness is rather dependent on the dose presently used. However, the dose-dependent effects on airways hyperresponsiveness may have been more pronounced when the high doses of inhaled FP were continued for a prolonged period of time (more than 2 months). This is likely to occur given the observation that previous studies have shown a slow effect of inhaled corticosteroids on airways hyperresponsiveness which continues during throughout the first 2 years of therapy.^{18–21}

Our results are in contrast with a study in asthmatic children, aged 1 to 3 years, comparing FP 100 and 200 μ g/day with placebo given *via* MDI with spacer after a run-in period of 4-weeks during which no inhaled corticosteroids were allowed.²² Although a dose-dependent effect on symptom-scores was found, no objective assessments were carried out, thus results are not easy to compare given the possibility of a different nature of the symptoms. Hofstra *et al* found a dose-dependent effect of FP on the PD₂₀ methacholine after 6 months treatment, after a run-in period of 2-weeks during which no inhaled corticosteroids were used.¹⁸ To our knowledge, no studies are available on dose-dependent effects of inhaled corticosteroids in steroid-naive asthmatic children. Therefore, the generalisability of our results to inhaled corticosteroid-naive ("newly detected") asthmatic children is limited, because all children had used inhaled corticosteroids for several years before entering the study.

We have included children with moderate severe airways hyperresponsiveness in the study, and they had chronic persistent asthma. Further studies have to demonstrate if our results can be extrapolated to both mild intermittent and severe persistent asthmatic children.

Systemic side-effects

We have shown that doses of inhaled FP of 1000 and 500 μ g/day are able to exert significant systemic side-effects over short periods of time. During 2-month treatment with FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day, growth velocity decreased when compared with FP 200 μ g/day. Also serum and urinary bone markers (implying a decreased level of bone metabolism), and urinary adrenal cortisol metabolite excretion were decreased with these high doses of FP. Like the effect on airways hyperresponsiveness, these systemic side-effects were relatively short-lived and were rapidly undone after tapering off a high dose of FP to a low maintenance dose (FP 200 μ g/day). Short-lived suppressive side-effects of moderate doses of FP (250 to 750 μ g/day) were found in a recently published paper, describing three case reports.²³

No differences in growth velocity, standing height, biochemical bone turnover, bone mineral density or adrenal cortical function were found during 18 months maintenance therapy with either FP 100 μ g/day or FP 200 μ g/day. Because we did not find differences in efficacy markers between these two doses, it appears that FP 100 μ g/day is equally safe and effective as FP 200 μ g/day in the long-term management of childhood asthma.

The decrease on growth velocity during 2-months treatment with FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day, respectively, compared to FP 200 μ g/day did not result in a decreased standing height, neither after 1 year (when the cumulative dose was 1.7 times higher in the stepdown group than in the constant dose group) nor after 2 years (with the same cumulative dose in both groups). The lack of a difference in growth velocity during further treatment for 18 months with FP 100 μ g/day and FP 200 μ g/day is in accordance with a previous study, showing no difference in height during 1-year between treatment with either FP 100 or 200 μ g/day in prepubertal (persistent) asthmatic children.²⁴ A meta-analysis on the effects of FP on growth, however, demonstrated that treatment with FP 200 μ g/day significantly reduced growth when compared to placebo.²⁵ We compared treatment of different doses of FP with each other and not with placebo, hence there may be a negative effect on growing yet without a difference between 100 and 200 μ g/day.

Our findings clearly demonstrate a reduction in growth velocity during 2-months treatment with either FP 1000 or 500 μ g/day. Growth suppression with FP in doses up to 750 μ g/day has recently been published in three case reports in asthmatic children, aged 4 to 8 years.²³ This growth suppression, like our findings, was rapidly undone after tapering off the high dose FP to a low maintenance dose. Although it is unclear if high doses of FP, given for a prolonged period of time (e.g. years), lead to a reduction in standing height, reassuring results of long-term treatment with

BUD (mean dose 412 $\mu g/day$ for a mean duration of 9.2 years) on height have been published.^{26}

We demonstrated that high doses of FP (1000 and 500 μ g/day) decreased both biochemical markers of bone formation and bone degradation when compared to FP 200 μ g/day. No significant differences were found during 18 months treatment between FP 100 and 200 μ g/day. This latter result is in accordance with previous work, showing no effect of FP 200 μ g/day on serum osteocalcin levels in asthmatic children, aged 5 to 10 years.²⁷ The relevance of the dose-dependent reduction of FP on biochemical bone turnover is unknown, since no significant differences in bone mineral density between the two approaches at any moment during the 2-year study were found.

A trend towards a decrease in bone mineral density in the group of children treated with FP 200 μ g/day during the first year was observed. This decrease became statistically significant in the second year of treatment with FP 200 μ g/day. The CAMP study, however, did not demonstrate a decreases in bone mineral density during treatment with BUD 200 μ g/day for 4-6 years.²⁸ Rao *et al* also could not demonstrate a difference in bone mineral density in asthmatic children, mean age 6.8 years, treated with FP 200 μ g/day or BDP 400 μ g/day for 20 months.²⁷ Like our study, this latter study did not compare treatment with placebo. Our results, therefore, should be interpreted with caution. Further placebo controlled long-term studies have to establish if treatment with (different doses of) FP reduces bone mineral density. In addition, it is unclear if biochemical bone turnover is a useful markers in predicting (long-term) bone mineral density.

Long-term use of oral corticosteroids is associated with suppression of the adrenal cortical function. In addition, inhaled steroids may suppress adrenal function in asthmatic children. It has been demonstrated that urinary cortisol metabolite excretion is a very sensitive method to detect dose-dependent effects of inhaled corticosteroids on the hypothalamic-pituitary-adrenal-(HPA) axis.^{29–31} We found a dose-dependent suppression of FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day when compared to FP 200 μ g/day on urinary cortisol metabolite excretion. This decrease in urinary cortical metabolites was short-lived after tapering off the high doses of FP to a low maintenance dose (FP 200 μ g/day). During further treatment with either FP 100 or 200 μ g/day for 18 months, no significant differences in urinary metabolite excretion were found between the two treatment groups.

Kannisto *et al* have shown that asthmatic children (mean age 9.5 years) treated with FP 500 μ g/day for two months developed an insufficient response after a low dose ACTH test.³² That study also demonstrated that a subsequent decrease in the dose of FP to 200 μ g/day resulted in a normal stimulation test. We did not perform dy-

namic stimulation tests in our study to assess adrenal cortical reserve. The clinical relevance of our study, therefore, remains questionable. Although adrenal failure has been described anecdotally in children on high-dose FP up to 750 μ g/day^{23,33}, it is unknown if long-term treatment with inhaled corticosteroids induces adrenal cortex atrophy.

Inflammation

Asthma is characterised by a chronic inflammatory reaction in the airways. The vast majority of studies on the inflammatory nature of asthma are inferred from studies in adults, using invasive techniques such as bronchial biopsy and bronchoalveolar lavage. These methods are not feasible in children. The inflammatory cells in the airways are activated to produce a myriad of cytokines. It has been demonstrated that inhaled corticosteroid therapy reduces cytokine production from inflammatory cells.^{34–36} Generally inflammatory markers are higher expressed in asthmatic children than in healthy children.³⁷ Therefore, it has been suggested that these inflammatory markers may be useful in guiding the dose of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.

Apart from a dose-dependent effect of FP on serum eosinophil counts and airways hyperresponsiveness, no dose differences were found on cytokine levels, neither in peripheral blood nor in Concanavalin A stimulated PBMCs, even when differences in FP doses were highest (FP 1000 and 500 μ g/day compared with FP 200 μ g/day). A trend towards a dose-dependent effect of FP was found on serum eosinophilic cationic protein (ECP) and sICAM-1 levels.

We only found a dose-dependent decrease in eosinophil counts between treatment with FP 1000 and FP 200 μ g/day. Our finding of a dose-dependent effect of FP on eosinophil counts without an effect on serum ECP are confirmed by pervious studies, showing an effect of different doses of FP on eosinophil counts without an effect on serum ECP.^{18,38} The limited role of serum ECP has also been demonstrated in another study, which did not found an association between serum ECP and asthma severity or inflammatory markers.³⁹

The lack of a significant dose-dependent effect with the other doses of FP may be due to an increased systemic bioavailability, resulting in an suppression of blood eosinophil progenitors and colony forming unit production in bone marrow. In addition, this amount of "systemic" FP may be too small to alter resting T-cells in the circulating blood.

A previous study in adult asthmatics demonstrated a decrease in eosinophil counts after treatment with FP 2000 μ g/day or oral prednisolone, without significant changes in airways hyperresponsiveness.⁴⁰

It has been demonstrated that therapy with inhaled corticosteroids resulted in reduced percentages of PBMCs expressing mRNA encoding IL-4 and IL-5, and an increase of INF- γ expression.^{34,41} We could not find a dose-dependent effect of FP on IL-4, IL-5, IL-10 or INF- γ levels. Previous studies have demonstrated a decrease in serum IL-5 levels, but not on serum IL-4 levels, after therapy with oral corticosteroids.^{42,43} This suggest that T-lymphocytes are directly influenced by oral corticosteroids due to systemic bioavailability, resulting in a decrease in cytokine production levels. We hypothesised that, although inhaled FP is able to reach the bloodstream (because systemic side-effects are present), high doses of FP (1000 and 500 μ g/day) are too small to alter resting T-lymphocytes in the circulating blood.

Previous studies in adults have shown that levels of IL-5 and IL-10 in peripheral blood are related to those in bronchoalveolar fluid.^{44,45} It is unknown if this is also true for children. Since cytokine concentrations in peripheral blood are lower in children when compared to adults, these differences may also be true for bronchoalveolar fluid.^{46,47}

We showed an increase in airways hyperresponsiveness after reduction of the FP dose, suggesting an increase in airways inflammation. Because invasive techniques (bronchoalveolar lavage) are not feasible in children, only indirect parameters of airways inflammation (eosinophil counts and cytokines in peripheral blood, eNO) could be performed.

sICAM-1 levels decreased after reintroduction of FP. Others also found reduced sICAM-1 levels in asthmatic children aged 9.6 years after treatment with inhaled corticosteroids (BUD 400 to 800 μ g/day).⁴⁸ We have demonstrated (chapter 3) that low sICAM-1 concentrations are associated with airways hyperresponsiveness. Because it has been suggested that sICAM-1 may hamper inflammatory responses by blocking cell-cell interactions¹⁷, low sICAM-1 concentrations may facilitate airways hyperresponsiveness and airways inflammation.

In conclusion, apart from a small and temporary dose-dependent effect on airways hyperresponsiveness no superior clinical effect of FP given in a stepdown approach was found when compared to a constant dose approach in children, aged 6 to 10 years, with chronic persistent asthma treated for 2 years.

The dose-dependent effects of high doses of FP (1000 and 500 μ g/day) on growth velocity, bone turnover and adrenal cortical function were relatively short-lived after tapering off the high dose of FP to a low maintenance dose. Furthermore, therapy with FP in doses of $\leq 200 \,\mu$ g/day for 18 months is effective and safe with respect to systemic side-effects. It appears that FP 200 μ g/day is a safe and effective dose in children and increasing the dose will be accompanied with increased systemic side-effects.

Our results suggest that measurements of inflammatory markers (eosinophil counts, serum ECP, cytokine concentrations in serum and stimulated PBMCs) are not useful in monitoring or titrating therapy with inhaled corticosteroids in the dose range used in asthmatic children. We assume that this is also the case for other inhaled corticosteroids. Studies in adult asthmatics have shown that airways hyperresponsiveness and eosinophil counts in sputum are appropriate markers in guiding the dose of inhaled corticosteroids.^{49,50} Further studies, investigating different doses, types and delivery devices of inhaled corticosteroids, have to demonstrate if these markers are also suitable in guiding the dose of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children.

Although further studies are needed to confirm our findings, we advice to avoid therapy with high doses of inhaled corticosteroids in asthmatic children whenever possible.

References

- [1] Asthma in adults and schoolchildren. The General Practioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S2-8.
- [2] Asthma in children under five years of age. The General Practitioner in Asthma Group, the British Association of Accident and Emergency Medicine, the British Paediatric Respiratory Society and the Royal College of Paediatrics and Child Health. *Thorax* 1997; 52 Suppl 1:S9-20.
- [3] National Heart, Lung, and Blood Institute, National Institutes of Health. International consensus report on diagnosis and treatment of asthma (NHLBI Publication No. 92-3091, March 1992). *Eur Respir J* 1992; 5:601-41.
- [4] Practice parameters for the diagnosis and treatment of asthma. Joint Task Force on Practice Parameters, representing the American Academy of Allergy Asthma and Immunology, the American College of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology, and the Joint Council of Allergy, Asthma and Immunology. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1995; 96:707-870.
- [5] Martinez FD, Wright AL, Taussig LM, Holberg CJ, Halonen M, Morgan WJ. Asthma and wheezing in the first six years of life. The Group Health Medical Associates. *N Engl J Med* 1995; 332:133-8.
- [6] Stein RT, Holberg CJ, Morgan WJ, Wright AL, Lombardi E, Taussig L, Martinez FD. Peak flow variability, methacholine responsiveness and atopy as markers for detecting different wheezing phenotypes in childhood. *Thorax* 1997; 52:946-52.
- [7] Xuan W, Marks GB, Toelle BG, Belousova E, Peat JK, Berry G, Woolcock AJ. Risk factors for onset and remission of atopy, wheeze, and airway hyperresponsiveness. *Thorax* 2002; 57:104-9.
- [8] Warke TJ, Fitch PS, Brown V, Taylor R, Lyons JD, Ennis M, Shields MD. Outgrown asthma does not mean no airways inflammation. *Eur Respir J* 2002; 19:284-7.
- [9] Hoekstra MO, Hoekstra Y, De Reus D, Rutgers B, Gerritsen J, Kauffman HF. Interleukin-4, interferon-gamma and interleukin-5 in peripheral blood of children with moderate atopic asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1997; 27:1254-60.
- [10] Leech SC, Price JF, Holmes BJ, Kemeny DM. Nonatopic wheezy children have reduced interferon-ganuna. *Allergy* 2000; 55:74-8.
- [11] Shahid SK, Kharitonov SA, Wilson NM, Bush A, Barnes PJ. Increased interleukin-4 and decreased interferon-gamma in exhaled breath condensate of children with asthma. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; 165:1290-3.
- [12] Tang ML, Coleman J, Kemp AS. Interleukin-4 and interferon-gamma production in atopic and non-atopic children with asthma. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1995; 25:515-21.

- [13] Laan MP, Koning H, Baert MR, Oranje AP, Buurman WA, Savelkoul HF, Neijens HJ. Levels of soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1, soluble E- selectin, tumor necrosis factor-alpha, and soluble tumor necrosis factor receptor p55 and p75 in atopic children. *Allergy* 1998; 53:51-8.
- [14] Tang RB, Chen SJ, Soong WJ, Chung RL. Circulating adhesion molecules in sera of asthmatic children. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2002; 33:249-54.
- [15] El Sawy IH, Badr-El-Din OM, El Azzouni OE, Motawae HA. Soluble intercellular adhesion molecule-1 in sera of children with bronchial asthma exacerbation. *Int Arch Allergy Immunol* 1999; 119:126-32.
- [16] Oymar K, Bjerknes R. Differential patterns of circulating adhesion molecules in children with bronchial asthma and acute bronchiolitis. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1998; 9:73-9.
- [17] Meyer DM, Dustin ML, Carron CP. Characterization of intercellular adhesion molecule-1 ectodomain (sICAM-1) as an inhibitor of lymphocyte function-associated molecule-1 interaction with ICAM-1. *J Immunol* 1995; 155:3578-84.
- [18] Hofstra WB, Neijens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Kouwenberg JM, Mulder PG, Kuethe MC, Sterk PJ. Dose-responses over time to inhaled fluticasone propionate treatment of exercise- and methacholine-induced bronchoconstriction in children with asthma. *Pediatr Pulmonol* 2000; 29:415-23.
- [19] van Essen-Zandvliet EE, Hughes MD, Waalkens HJ, Duiverman EJ, Pocock SJ, Kerrebijn KF. Effects of 22 months of treatment with inhaled corticosteroids and/or beta-2-agonists on lung function, airway responsiveness, and symptoms in children with asthma. The Dutch Chronic Non-specific Lung Disease Study Group. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1992; 146:547-54.
- [20] Verberne AA, Frost C, Roorda RJ, van der Laag H., Kerrebijn KF. One year treatment with salmeterol compared with beclomethasone in children with asthma. The Dutch Paediatric Asthma Study Group. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1997; 156:688-95.
- [21] Kerstjens HA, Brand PL, Hughes MD, Robinson NJ, Postma DS, Sluiter HJ, Bleecker ER, Dekhuijzen PN, de Jong PM, Mengelers HJ, . A comparison of bronchodilator therapy with or without inhaled corticosteroid therapy for obstructive airways disease. Dutch Chronic Non-Specific Lung Disease Study Group. N Engl J Med 1992; 327:1413-9.
- [22] Bisgaard H, Gillies J, Groenewald M, Maden C. The effect of inhaled fluticasone propionate in the treatment of young asthmatic children: a dose comparison study. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 1999; 160:126-31.
- [23] Wong JY, Zacharin MR, Hocking N, Robinson PJ. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children on moderate to high doses of fluticasone propionate. J Paediatr Child Health 2002; 38:59-62.

- [24] Allen DB, Bronsky EA, LaForce CF, Nathan RA, Tinkelman DG, Vandewalker ML, Konig P. Growth in asthmatic children treated with fluticasone propionate. Fluticasone Propionate Asthma Study Group. *J Pediatr* 1998; 132:472-7.
- [25] Sharek PJ, Bergman DA. The effect of inhaled steroids on the linear growth of children with asthma: a meta-analysis. *Pediatrics* 2000; 106:E8.
- [26] Agertoft L, Pedersen S. Effect of long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide on adult height in children with asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1064-9.
- [27] Rao R, Gregson RK, Jones AC, Miles EA, Campbell MJ, Warner JO. Systemic effects of inhaled corticosteroids on growth and bone turnover in childhood asthma: a comparison of fluticasone with beclomethasone. *Eur Respir J* 1999; 13:87-94.
- [28] The Childhood Asthma Management Program Research Group. Long-Term Effects of Budesonide or Nedocromil in Children with Asthma. *N Engl J Med* 2000; 343:1054-63.
- [29] Yiallouros PK, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function and high dose inhaled corticosteroids for asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1997; 76:405-10.
- [30] Bisgaard H, Damkjaer NM, Andersen B, Andersen P, Foged N, Fuglsang G, Host A, Leth C, Pedersen M, Pelck I. Adrenal function in children with bronchial asthma treated with beclomethasone dipropionate or budesonide. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1988; 81:1088-95.
- [31] Priftis K, Milner AD, Conway E, Honour JW. Adrenal function in asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 1990; 65:838-40.
- [32] Kannisto S, Korppi M, Remes K, Voutilainen R. Adrenal suppression, evaluated by a low dose adrenocorticotropin test, and growth in asthmatic children treated with inhaled steroids. *J Clin Endocrinol Metab* 2000; 85:652-7.
- [33] Todd G, Dunlop K, McNaboe J, Ryan MF, Carson D, Shields MD. Growth and adrenal suppression in asthmatic children treated with high- dose fluticasone propionate. *Lancet* 1996; 348:27-9.
- [34] Gemou-Engesaeth V, Fagerhol MK, Toda M, Hamid Q, Halvorsen S, Groegaard JB, Corrigan CJ. Expression of activation markers and cytokine mRNA by peripheral blood CD4 and CD8 T cells in atopic and nonatopic childhood asthma: effect of inhaled glucocorticoid therapy. *Pediatrics* 2002; 109:E24.
- [35] Lantero S, Sacco O, Scala C, Morelli MC, Rossi GA. Eosinophil locomotion and the release of IL-3 and IL-5 by allergen- stimulated mononuclear cells are effectively downregulated in vitro by budesonide. *Clin Exp Allergy* 1996; 26:656-64.
- [36] Robinson D, Hamid Q, Ying S, Bentley A, Assoufi B, Durham S, Kay AB. Prednisolone treatment in asthma is associated with modulation of bronchoalveolar lavage cell interleukin-4, interleukin-5, and interferon-gamma cytokine gene expression. *Am Rev Respir Dis* 1993; 148:401-6.
- [37] Lemanske RF, Jr. Inflammation in childhood asthma and other wheezing disorders. *Pediatrics* 2002; 109:368-72.

- [38] Juntunen-Backman K, Jarvinen P, Sorva R. Serum eosinophil cationic protein during treatment of asthma in children. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1993; 92:34-8.
- [39] Borland C, Cox Y, Higenbottam T. Measurement of exhaled nitric oxide in man. *Thorax* 1993; 48:1160-2.
- [40] Meijer RJ, Kerstjens HA, Arends LR, Kauffman HF, Koeter GH, Postma DS. Effects of inhaled fluticasone and oral prednisolone on clinical and inflammatory parameters in patients with asthma. *Thorax* 1999; 54:894-9.
- [41] Gemou-Engesaeth V, Bush A, Kay AB, Hamid Q, Corrigan CJ. Inhaled glucocorticoid therapy of childhood asthma is associated with reduced peripheral blood T cell activation and 'Th2-type' cytokine mRNA expression. *Pediatrics* 1997; 99:695-703.
- [42] El Radhi AS, Hogg CL, Bungre JK, Bush A, Corrigan CJ. Effect of oral glucocorticoid treatment on serum inflammatory markers in acute asthma. *Arch Dis Child* 2000; 83:158-62.
- [43] Tang RB, Chen SJ. Soluble interleukin-2 receptor and interleukin-4 in sera of asthmatic children before and after a prednisolone course. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2001; 86:314-7.
- [44] Borish L, Aarons A, Rumbyrt J, Cvietusa P, Negri J, Wenzel S. Interleukin-10 regulation in normal subjects and patients with asthma. *J Allergy Clin Immunol* 1996; 97:1288-96.
- [45] Tang C, Rolland JM, Ward C, Quan B, Walters EH. IL-5 production by bronchoalveolar lavage and peripheral blood mononuclear cells in asthma and atopy. *Eur Respir J* 1997; 10:624-32.
- [46] Lilic D, Cant AJ, Abinun M, Calvert JE, Spickett GP. Cytokine production differs in children and adults. *Pediatr Res* 1997; 42:237-40.
- [47] Elsasser-Beile U, Dursunoglu B, Gallati H, Monting JS, von Kleist S. Comparison of cytokine production in blood cell cultures of healthy children and adults. *Pediatr Allergy Immunol* 1995; 6:170-4.
- [48] Cengizlier R, Demirpolat E, Tulek N, Cakmak F. Circulating ICAM-1 levels in bronchial asthma and the effect of inhaled corticosteroids. *Ann Allergy Asthma Immunol* 2000; 84:539-41.
- [49] Sont JK, Willems LN, Bel EH, van Krieken JH, Vandenbroucke JP, Sterk PJ. Clinical control and histopathologic outcome of asthma when using airway hyperresponsiveness as an additional guide to long-term treatment. The AMPUL Study Group. Am J Respir Crit Care Med 1999; 159:1043-51.
- [50] R.H.Green, C.E.Brightling, S.McKenna, B.Hargadon, D.Parker, P.Bradding, A.J.Wardlaw, I.D.Pavord. Reduced asthma exacerbations with a treatment strategy directed at normalizing the sputum eosinophil count. *Am J Respir Crit Care Med* 2002; 165:A320.

Future perspectives

We demonstrated that approximately half of children, in whom asthma was diagnosed at an early age, did not develop airways hyperresponsiveness after withdrawal of inhaled corticosteroids. The hyperresponsive children had more atopic features and lower levels of lung function compared to the non-hyperresponsive children, suggesting that the non-hyperresponsive children shared features with transient wheezers ("toddler's" asthma) found in previous epidemiologic studies. Our results suggest that many young children may be unnecessarily treated with inhaled corticosteroids. However, our study was a cross-sectional one and our results have to be confirmed by prospective studies. In this respect it is of importance to use adequate measures that are risk factors to transient or persistent wheeze. A recent study in atopic children with outgrown asthma demonstrated increased numbers of eosinophils in BAL fluid when compared to normal controls.¹ Whether increased eosinophils ore other detected markers of eosinophil activation constitute a risk factor for future asthma relapse or even persistent wheeze needs to be established by prospective studies.

Further studies are also needed to evaluate the value of inflammatory markers (such as cytokines and adhesion molecules) in predicting which child will continue to wheeze (allergic asthma) and which child will cease to wheeze ("toddler's" asthma) at later age. Moreover, the interaction between airways hyperresponsiveness and sICAM-1 concentrations found in our study needs to be confirmed by others.

We have described the effects of 2 different dose schedules of inhaled fluticasone in asthmatic children, aged 6 to 10 years. It is unknown whether our results can be extrapolated to other age-groups. We included children with chronic persistent asthma and not with mild intermittent asthma or severe persistent asthma. Further research has to be performed to assess if our results also apply to these other types of asthma, as well as non-atopic asthma.

Airways hyperresponsiveness is a sensitive parameter to monitor therapy with inhaled corticosteroids. Apart from a dose-dependent effect of high doses inhaled fluticasone (1000 and 500 μ g/day) on airways hyperresponsiveness, no superior effect of a stepdown approach compared to a continuous dose approach after 1 and 2 years treatment was found. These high doses, however, were given for a period of only 2 months. Additional studies are needed to examine whether prolonged treatment (more than 2 months) with high doses of inhaled corticosteroids significantly improves airways hyperresponsiveness. In addition, we used dry-powder inhalers with inhaled fluticasone. Further research should investigate whether comparable results are found with different types and delivery devices of inhaled corticosteroids.

New techniques to assess airways inflammation have recently been developed. Exhaled nitric oxide is useful in distinguishing untreated asthmatics from non-asthmatics. Induced sputum and exhaled breath condensate are used to obtain inflammatory markers (cells and cytokines) from the lower airways in childhood asthma. Further studies have to investigate whether the effects of inhaled corticosteroids on these inflammatory parameters are dose-dependent, and whether these methods can be applied for follow-up reasons.

We have shown that 2-years treatment with inhaled fluticasone 200 μ g/day is safe with respect to height growth, although our study compared different doses of FP with each other and not with placebo. Nevertheless, our data suggest that suppression of growth height occurs during high-dose therapy with FP. Although reassuring results have been published, showing normal adult height after long-term treatment with inhaled budesonide, no longitudinal studies investigating the effects of inhaled FP on adult height are available. This is also a subject for further studies.

Bone mineral density decreased during treatment with inhaled fluticasone 200 μ g/day, but this decrease was not significant. Likewise, high doses of inhaled fluticasone showed a decrease in bone mineral density, but this decrease stabilised during tapering off the dose. Other studies have to demonstrate whether a decrease in bone mineral density will persist during prolonged therapy with fluticasone 200 μ g/day. In addition, effects of the dose of inhaled fluticasone on bone mineral density should be studied more extensively.

We demonstrated a dose-dependent suppression of the adrenal cortical function by inhaled FP. The clinical relevance of this suppression, however, is unknown and remains to be investigated.

We investigated the efficacy and safety of FP 200 μ g/day compared to 100 μ g/day given for 18 months in asthmatic children. Further studies have to be performed to compare long-term treatment with lower doses of FP (e.g. 50 versus 100 μ g/day) with respect to efficacy and safety parameters.

References

[1] Warke TJ, Fitch PS, Brown V, Taylor R, Lyons JD, Ennis M, Shields MD. Outgrown asthma does not mean no airways inflammation. *Eur Respir J* 2002; 19:284-7.

Chapter 9

Samenvatting voor de niet-medisch geschoolde

Astma

Astma is de meest voorkomende chronische ziekte op de kinderleeftijd. Recent onderzoek toont aan dat deze ziekte steeds vaker voorkomt. De ziekte uit zich in terugkerende klachten van piepen, hoesten, kortademigheid en benauwdheid bij allerlei prikkels, zowel allergische (bijvoorbeeld huisstofmijt, hond, kat, pollen) als niet-allergische (bijvoorbeeld (sigaretten) rook, mist, inspanning, virusinfecties of parfumluchtjes). Het feit dat luchtwegen van zowel allergische als niet-allergische astma patiënten sneller en heftiger reageren op geringe concentraties van deze prikkels wordt hyperreactiviteit genoemd. Dit is het basiskenmerk van astma.

Astma en ontsteking

Na het inademen van allergische stoffen worden er ontstekingscellen (die afkomstig zijn uit het beenmerg) naar de longen getransporteerd. Hierdoor ontstaat er een ontstekingsproces in de luchtwegwand, ook wel inflammatie genoemd. Dit inflammatieproces is erop gericht om de ingeademde deeltjes onschadelijk te maken. Bij astmatische patiënten is deze ontstekingsreactie echter te hevig zodat de luchtwegwand beschadigd wordt en daardoor verandert. Als gevolg hiervan wordt de luchtwegwand verdikt (oedeem) en rood (vaatverwijding) en komt er veel slijm in de luchtwegen. Daarnaast trekken de spiertjes rondom de luchtwegwand zich samen waardoor de doorgankelijkheid van de luchtwegen afneemt. Het geheel van deze reactie leidt tot het gevoel van kortademigheid en het optreden van een piepende ademhaling met hoesten en opgeven van slijm. Bij de ontstekingsreactie in de luchtwegen spelen bepaalde ontstekingscellen een belangrijke rol. Eén van de belangrijkste cellen is de eosinofiele granulocyt. Deze eosinofiele granulocyten zijn zowel te meten in het bloed als in de luchtwegwand. Aangezien onderzoek van de luchtwegwand een belastende ingreep is (het vraagt om een kijkoperatie), wordt er momenteel veel onderzoek verricht naar andere manieren waarop luchtweginflammatie kan worden gemeten. Het bepalen van de concentratie van stikstof monoxide in de uitademingslucht is één van deze niet belastende methoden. Het blijkt dat patiënten met astma een hogere concentratie stikstofmonoxide in de uitademingslucht hebben dan gezonde personen, waarbij een hogere concentratie stikstofmonoxide wijst op een ernstigere luchtweginflammatie. In tegenstelling tot longfunctieonderzoek is dit type onderzoek ook gemakkelijk uit te voeren bij (jonge) kinderen (vanaf 2-3 jaar).

Longfunctie en luchtweghyperreactiviteit

De luchtwegvernauwing kan gemeten worden met behulp van longfunctieonderzoek. Hierbij wordt onder andere de hoeveelheid lucht gemeten die in de eerste seconde van de uitademing wordt uitgeblazen (de FEV_1). Bij een vernauwde luchtweg zal er in 1 seconde minder lucht kunnen worden uitgeademd dan bij een wijde (normale) luchtweg. Wanneer deze FEV_1 waarde verlaagd is, is er dus sprake van luchtvernauwing bij de uitademing. Dergelijk longfunctieonderzoek kan worden verricht bij kinderen vanaf 5-6 jaar.

Het inademen van niet-allergische (rook, mist) prikkels bij patiënten met astma leidt tot luchtwegvernauwing. Bij gezonde mensen treedt deze reactie echter niet op. Het hiervoor beschreven inflammatieproces is mede verantwoordelijk voor het ontstaan van luchtweghyperreactiviteit.

De luchtweghyperreactiviteit kan gemeten worden met behulp van methacholine, een luchtwegvernauwende stof. Inademing van methacholine leidt tot het samentrekken van glad spierweefsel rondom de luchtwegen. Deze luchtwegvernauwing is te meten met behulp van de FEV₁. Zowel luchtweghyperreactiviteit als longfunctieonderzoek is mogelijk vanaf de leeftijd van ongeveer 6 jaar.

Astma op de kinderleeftijd

Recidiverend piepen is de meest voorkomende klacht waarmee kinderen met astma zich melden bij de arts. Sommige kinderen piepen alleen bij verkoudheden (door virale luchtwegontstekingen), anderen piepen ook zónder dat er sprake is van een luchtweginfectie. Uit recent onderzoek blijkt dat er op de kinderleeftijd verschillende vormen van recidiverend piepen zijn, namelijk allergisch astma en "peuterastma".

Allergisch astma kan al op zeer jonge leeftijd optreden. Deze vorm van astma wordt gekarakteriseerd door de aanwezigheid van allergie bij het kind, ook wel atopie genoemd. De moeders van deze kinderen zijn vaak ook allergisch. Daarnaast zijn deze luchtwegklachten onafhankelijk van de aan- of afwezigheid van luchtweginfecties (verkoudheid). Allergisch astma gaat meestal niet over maar blijft luchtwegklachten geven tijdens de kinderjaren. "Peuterastma" daarentegen wordt gekenmerkt door perioden van piepen die alléén optreden tijdens verkoudenheden zonder dat er sprake is van allergie. Tussen deze verkoudheden door hebben deze kinderen geen luchtwegklachten. Risicofactoren voor deze vorm van "astma" zijn roken van de moeder, zowel tijdens als na de zwangerschap, en een lagere longfunctie vóór de eerste aanval van piepen. Vaak verdwijnen de klachten tussen de leeftijd van 4 en 6 jaar.

Op jonge leeftijd is het erg moeilijk om deze twee vormen van recidiverend piepen te onderscheiden doordat beide ziektebeelden in hun klinische uitingsvorm erg op elkaar lijken. Longfunctieonderzoek is op jonge leeftijd niet gemakkelijk uitvoerbaar, zodat men uitsluitend afhankelijk is van de anamnese en lichamelijk onderzoek.

Behandeling van astma

Naast het vermijden van uitlokkende factoren die een astma aanval kunnen veroorzaken (bijvoorbeeld sigarettenrook, huisdieren, huisstofmijt) vormt het dagelijks gebruik van geïnhaleerde ontstekingsremmers (inhalatiesteroïden) de hoeksteen van de astmabehandeling, zowel op de kinderleeftijd als op volwassen leeftijd. De in Nederland gebruikte inhalatiesteroïden zijn beclomethason dipropionaat, budesonide en fluticason propionaat.

Inhalatiesteroïden onderdrukken het ontstekingsproces in de luchtwegen waardoor de luchtwegvernauwing afneemt, de hyperreactiviteit verbetert en daarmee de kortademigheidsklachten verminderen. Omdat de luchtweghyperreactiviteit het onderliggende ontstekingsproces in de luchtwegwand weerspiegelt en de luchtweghyperreactiviteit verbetert na gebruik van inhalatiesteroïden, wordt de mate van verandering hierin vaak gebruikt om het effect te onderzoeken van verschillende soorten (en toedieningsvormen) van inhalatiesteroïden.

De internationale en Nederlandse standaard voor de behandeling van astma advi-

seren om tijdens het begin van de ziekte kinderen met astma te behandelen met een hoge dosis inhalatiesteroïden, zodat het ontstekingsproces krachtig onderdrukt wordt. Deze hoge dosering kan daarna stapsgewijs worden afgebouwd naar een lagere onderhoudsdosering (de zogeheten "stepdown" benadering). Deze strategie kan ook worden toegepast wanneer er een korte periode van toename van luchtwegklachten is (exacerbatie) bij kinderen die reeds inhalatiesteroïden gebruiken. Er is echter weinig bewijs of deze behandelstrategie inderdaad beter wanneer deze vergeleken wordt met een behandeling met een constante dosis inhalatiesteroïden.

Bijwerkingen

Inhalatiesteroïden kunnen zowel lokale als systemische bijwerkingen veroorzaken.

Lokale bijwerkingen komen zelden voor. Ze bestaan met name uit heesheid en schimmelinfecties in de mond en keel. Systemische bijwerkingen worden veroorzaakt doordat een deel van de inhalatiesteroïden in de bloedbaan terecht komt door opname uit de darm na het doorslikken van de medicijnen en door opname in de bloedbaan vanuit de longen. Deze systemische bijwerkingen zijn zeer zeldzaam, maar wel een bron van grote zorg voor artsen en voor ouders van kinderen met astma. De belangrijkste systemische bijwerkingen van inhalatiesteroïden zijn negatieve effecten op de groei, de bijnierschorsfunctie en de botstofwisseling.

- Effecten op groei. Kinderen met astma groeien minder goed dan gezonde kinderen. Verschillende onderzoeken hebben aangetoond dat inhalatiesteroïden de groei enigszins kunnen vertragen. Deze groeivertraging (van ongeveer 1 cm) vindt met name plaats tijdens het eerste jaar van behandelen. Onderzoeken die de effecten van inhalatiesteroïden op de groei op lange termijn hebben onderzocht vonden geen verschillen in de "eindlengte" op volwassen leeftijd vergeleken met mensen die niét waren behandeld met inhalatiesteroïden maar wel astma hadden.
- Effecten op de bijnierschors. Inhalatiesteroïden kunnen een onderdrukking van de bijnierschorsfunctie veroorzaken, waardoor er een onvoldoende reactie bij stress situaties op kan treden. Het vinden van een effect is echter afhankelijk van de dosis en het type inhalatiesteroïden, maar ook van de manier waarop de bijnierfunctie wordt gemeten.

Effecten op het botstofwisseling. De botten in het lichaam worden voortdurende opgebouwd en afgebroken. Deze opbouw en afbraak is in balans. Inhalatiesteroïden kunnen deze beide processen beïnvloeden, waardoor zowel de botopbouw als de botafbraak verminderen. Uiteindelijk zou dit kunnen leiden tot een verandering in de botsamenstelling (botdichtheid), waardoor er een groter kans is op botbreuken. Hoewel er dosisafhankelijke effecten van inhalatiesteroïden op de botstofwisseling zijn gevonden, zijn er geen aanwijzingen dat dit nadelige effecten op de botdichtheid bij kinderen heeft.

Doel van het onderzoek in dit proefschrift

In dit proefschrift beschrijven we de resultaten van een 2-jarig onderzoek naar 2 verschillende behandelschema's met fluticason bij kinderen met astma tussen de leeftijd van 6 en 10 jaar. Eén groep kinderen begon met een hoge dosering fluticason (1000 μ g per dag). Na 2 maanden werd deze dosis gehalveerd naar 500 μ g per dag, weer 2 maanden later 200 μ g per dag en uiteindelijk 100 μ g per dag gedurende de resterende 18 maanden van de studie (stepdown groep). De andere groep kinderen kreeg 200 μ g per dag gedurende 2 jaar (constante dosis groep). Zowel de kinderen/ouders als de onderzoekers wisten niet welke behandeling de kinderen kreegen.

Er werd onderzocht welke behandelingsvorm het beste (meest effectief) was en de minste bijwerkingen had (veiligheid). De kinderen kwamen iedere 2 maanden op de polikliniek voor het meten van de luchtweghyperreactiviteit en de longfunctie. Ook werd gevraagd naar luchtwegklachten en werden bijwerkingen onderzocht.

Uiteindelijk waren er 55 kinderen met astma (gemiddelde leeftijd 8 jaar) die geschikt waren om mee te doen aan het 2-jarige onderzoek: 27 in de stepdown groep en 28 in de constante dosis groep.

In **hoofdstuk 2** beschrijven we de resultaten van de periode voorafgaand aan de daadwerkelijke studie (de baseline fase). Bij alle kinderen die geschikt werden geacht om aan het onderzoek mee te doen werden hun eigen inhalatiesteroïden gestopt en kregen ze 6 weken lang fluticason in een dosering van 200 μ g per dag (run-in periode). Na deze 6 weken werd de fluticason gestopt (gedurende maximaal 8 weken: washout periode). Wanneer de luchtweghyperreactiviteit toenam tot een matig ernstig niveau tijdens deze 8 weken, begonnen de kinderen aan de eigenlijke studie, waarin stepdown- en constante dosis benadering vergeleken werden.

Van de 95 kinderen bij wie de inhalatiesteroïden gestopt waren, ontwikkelden er 48 geen luchtweghyperreactiviteit. Bovendien had een aanzienlijk aantal van deze kinderen (35%) helemaal geen luchtwegklachten. De overige 47 kinderen ontwikkelden wél luchtweghyperreactiviteit en hadden ook luchtwegklachten. Wanneer we deze 2 groepen kinderen met elkaar vergelijken, blijkt dat de kinderen met luchtweghyperreactiviteit meer allergische kenmerken en een slechtere longfunctie hadden dan de kinderen zonder luchtweghyperreactiviteit. Er waren geen verschillen in de duur van het astma of de duur van de behandeling voorafgaand aan het onderzoek tussen de 2 groepen.

Omdat luchtweghyperreactiviteit een goede methode is om het effect van (verschillende soorten en doseringen) inhalatiesteroïden te onderzoeken, wordt een zekere mate van luchtweghyperreactiviteit vaak gebruikt om kinderen met astma te includeren in klinisch onderzoek. Onze resultaten laten echter zien dat veel kinderen geen luchtweghyperreactiviteit meer hebben na (langdurig) gebruik van inhalatiesteroïden. Dit duidt erop dat het werven van kinderen met astma voor klinische onderzoeken moeizaam kan zijn wanneer luchtweghyperreactiviteit als belangrijkste (en enige) inclusiecriterium wordt gebruikt.

Hoofdstuk 3 beschrijft een subgroep van de kinderen met astma die in hoofdstuk 2 zijn beschreven. Eenenveertig kinderen met luchtweghyperreactiviteit en 37 kinderen zonder luchtweghyperreactiviteit werden vergeleken met elkaar met betrekking tot demografische, klinische en immunologische factoren.

Evenals aangetoond in hoofdstuk 2 bleek dat de luchtweghyperreactive kinderen vaker allergisch waren (meer allergieën voor huisdieren en/of huisstofmijt) en vaker eczeem hadden. Ook bleek bij hen de longfunctie verminderd te zijn en hadden zij een verhoogde concentratie van de stikstofmonoxide in de uitademingslucht. Dit laatste wijst op een verhoogde ontstekingsactiviteit in de luchtwegen. Er bleek echter geen verschil in ontstekingsactiviteit in het bloed te zijn tussen de 2 groepen.

Bij verdere statistische analyse bleek dat allergie, verminderde longfunctie en een tweetal onstekingsparameters voorspellend zijn voor het ontwikkelen van luchtweghyperreactiviteit na het stoppen van inhalatiesteroïden.

Wanneer we onze resultaten vergelijken met onderzoeken die eerder zijn gepubliceerd dan hebben de kinderen die luchtweghyperreactiviteit ontwikkelen na het stoppen van inhalatiesteroïden kenmerken van allergisch astma en kinderen die geen luchtweghyperreactiviteit ontwikkelen van "peuterastma".

Inhalatiesteroïden kunnen systemische bijwerkingen veroorzaken. Dit is onder an-

dere te meten aan de hand van de groeisnelheid van het onderbeen (knemometrie). In **hoofdstuk** 4 beschrijven we het effect van de behandeling met inhalatie van 200 μ g fluticason per dag op de groeisnelheid van het onderbeen bij kinderen met astma. Eenentwintig kinderen tussen de 6 en 10 jaar werden behandeld met 200 μ g fluticason per dag gedurende 6 weken. Na deze 6 weken werd de behandeling met fluticason gestopt. Iedere 2 weken werd de onderbeenlengte gemeten. Er waren geen verschillen tussen de kinderen aan het begin van het onderzoek. Alle kinderen bleven klinisch stabiel tijdens de onderzoeksperiode van 8 weken.

Tijdens de behandeling met het inhalatiesteroïd fluticason was er geen verschil in de groeisnelheid van het onderbeen ten opzichte van de periode waarin de kinderen geen fluticason kregen. Het blijkt dus dat 6 weken behandeling met 200 μ g fluticason per dag geen systemische bijwerkingen heeft, zoals met knemometrie kan worden gemeten.

Hoofdstuk 5 toont de resultaten gedurende en na 1 jaar behandeling met 2 verschillende doseringsschema's fluticason bij kinderen met astma (leeftijd 6 tot 10 jaar). Eén groep kinderen (27) werd behandeld met een hoge dosis fluticason, welke geleidelijk werd afgebouwd naar een lage onderhoudsdosering (stepdown groep), terwijl de andere groep kinderen (28) een constante dosis fluticason kreeg. Er werd onderzocht of er verschillen waren in luchtweghyperreactiviteit, longfunctie, concentratie stikstofmonoxide in de uitademingslucht, luchtwegklachten en aanvallen van ernstige benauwdheid (exacerbaties). Daarnaast werd onderzocht of er een verschil was in lengtegroei.

Er was een kortdurend betere luchtweghyperreactiviteit na behandeling met fluticason 1000 μ g per dag gedurende 2 maanden gevolgd door 2 maanden behandeling met 500 μ g per dag vergeleken met een constante dosering fluticason (200 μ g per dag). Gedurende het verdere onderzoek was er echter geen verschil in luchtweghyperreactiviteit tussen de 2 groepen. De concentratie van stikstofmonoxide in de uitademingslucht, longfunctie, luchtwegklachten en aantal exacerbaties verschilden niet tussen de 2 groepen kinderen met astma. Er was geen verschil in groei, ook al hadden de kinderen in de stepdown groep 1.7 keer meer fluticason gebruikt gedurende 1 jaar behandeling dan de kinderen die een continue dosis fluticason hadden gebruikt.

De conclusie van dit 1-jarige onderzoek is dat een stepdown behandeling (hoog beginnen, laag eindigen) met fluticason geen voordeel biedt ten opzicht van een continue behandeling met 200 μ g fluticason per dag bij kinderen met astma. Daarnaast blijkt dat beide behandelstrategieën even veilig zijn met betrekking tot de groei. Het advies om een stepdown behandeling met inhalatiesteroïden te kiezen bij kinderen met

astma wordt niet ondersteund door de resultaten van onze studie.

Ontsteking van de luchtwegen speelt een belangrijke rol bij astma. De ontstekingscellen maken een groot aantal stoffen, de zogeheten cytokinen. Deze cytokinen kunnen in het bloed worden bepaald. Aangezien inhalatiesteroïden de luchtwegontsteking kunnen onderdrukken, wordt verondersteld dat zowel de cytokine productie als de eosinofiele granulocyten hierdoor worden beïnvloed. In **hoofdstuk 6** beschrijven we de effecten van verschillende doseringen fluticason op cytokinen en eosinofiele granulocyten bij kinderen met astma.

Hoewel er een dosisafhankelijk effect van fluticason op het aantal eosinofiele granulocyten in bloed werd gevonden was dit verschil alleen statistisch significant bij een hoge dosis fluticason (1000 μ g per dag) ten opzichte van een normale onderhoudsdosis (200 μ g per dag).

Er was geen dosisafhankelijk effect van fluticason op de cytokine concentraties gemeten in bloed of in het laboratorium gestimuleerde cellen.

Concluderend lijkt het meten van ontstekingscellen (eosinofiele granulocyten) en cytokinen in het bloed niet zinvol om te bepalen wat de optimale dosis van inhalatiesteroïden bij kinderen met astma is.

Hoofdstuk 7 tenslotte beschrijft de effecten van de verschillende doseringen fluticason op systemische bijwerkingen. We vonden een duidelijke afname in de groeisnelheid wanneer kinderen een hoge dosis fluticason gebruikten (1000 en 500 μ g per dag) ten opzichte van een "normale" onderhoudsdosering (200 μ g per dag). Daarnaast werd zowel de botstofwisseling als de bijnierschors geremd tijdens behandeling met deze hoge doseringen. Opvallend was echter dat na het afbouwen van deze hoge doseringen deze bijwerkingen snel verdwenen. Tevens bleek dat er na 1 en 2 jaar behandelen geen verschillen waren tussen de 2 doseringsschema's op de lengte, ondanks de verschillen in groeisnelheid tijdens deze periode. De botdichtheid ten opzichte van het begin van het onderzoek nam in beide groepen af na 1 jaar behandelen, zonder dat er een significant verschil was tussen beide behandelgroepen. Ook tijdens het 2^e jaar werden er geen significante verschillen gevonden tussen beide groepen. Bijnierschorsonderdrukking was niet verschillend tussen beide groepen na 1 en 2 jaar behandelen.

Wij concluderen dat fluticason in hoge doseringen duidelijke systemische bijwerkingen heeft bij kinderen met astma, die echter snel verdwijnen na het afbouwen van de hoge dosering naar lagere onderhoudsdoseringen. Er is echter wel een afname in de botdichtheid bij kinderen met astma die gedurende 1 en 2 jaar behandeld worden met 200 μ g fluticason per dag.

Omdat een stepdown benadering met fluticason niet effectiever is dan een constante dosis fluticason (hoofdstuk 5) en omdat hoge doseringen een aanzienlijk risico op systemische bijwerkingen met zich mee brengen, adviseren wij om hoge doseringen fluticason te vermijden bij kinderen met astma.

Conclusies

- Bij een deel van de kinderen bij wie op jonge leeftijd de diagnose astma is gesteld, is er waarschijnlijk sprake geweest van "peuterastma" (een voorbijgaande vorm van piepen) en niet van het (klassieke) allergische astma.
- Bij kinderen (tussen de 6 en 10 jaar) die worden behandeld met inhalatiesteroïden in verband met astma, moet regelmatig geëvalueerd worden of deze medicatie verminderd dan wel gestaakt kan worden.
- Het gebruik van luchtweghyperreactiviteit alléén als inclusiecriterium voor klinisch onderzoek naar effecten van inhalatiesteroïden bij kinderen met astma kan onvoldoende zijn, aangezien een groot aantal kinderen geen luchtweghyperreactiviteit meer kan hebben na (langdurig) gebruik van inhalatiesteroïden.
- Hoog beginnen en langzaam afbouwen met fluticason bij kinderen met astma (leeftijd 6 tot 10 jaar) levert geen voordeel op ten opzichte van een behandeling met een constante dosis fluticason.
- Fluticason in een onderhoudsdosering van 200 μ g/dag heeft geen systemische bijwerkingen.
- Hoge doses fluticason (1000 en 500 µg per dag) hebben duidelijke bijwerkingen op de groeisnelheid, botstofwisseling en bijnierschorsfunctie. Deze bijwerkingen verdwijnen snel na afbouwen van de hoge dosis naar een lagere onderhoudsdosis.
- Hoge doses fluticason moeten vermeden worden bij kinderen met astma omdat er geen voordeel is gebleken ten opzichte van een constante dosis fluticason terwijl er wel sprake kan zijn van systemische bijwerkingen
- Het meten van stikstofmonoxide in de uitademingslucht is niet zinvol om de dosis van inhalatiesteroïden te bepalen bij kinderen met astma.
- Het meten van ontstekingsparameters (cellen en cytokinen) in het bloed is niet zinvol om de dosis fluticason, en daarmee de behandeling van astma, te optimaliseren.

Aanbevelingen voor verder onderzoek

Het onderscheid tussen allergisch astma en peuterastma is niet eenvoudig. Uit ons onderzoek blijkt dat bij ongeveer de helft van de kinderen, bij wie op jonge leeftijd de diagnose astma is gesteld, er waarschijnlijk sprake was van peuterastma en dat deze kinderen mogelijk ten onrechte jarenlang behandeld werden met inhalatiesteroïden. Kinderen zonder luchtweghyperreactiviteit na het stoppen van inhalatiesteroïden hebben minder allergische kenmerken en een betere longfunctie dan de kinderen die luchtweghyperreactiviteit hielden na het staken van de inhalatiesteroïden. Omdat het echter een cross-sectioneel onderzoek betreft zal prospectief onderzoek, waarbij kinderen vanaf de geboorte tot de leeftijd van 8 jaar worden gevolgd, moeten aantonen of er inderdaad een onderscheid tussen "peuterastma" en allergisch astma is te maken aan de hand van allergische kenmerken. Tevens kan er dan gezocht worden naar voorspellende factoren voor het hebben van allergisch astma, zodat op jonge leeftijd een onderscheid gemaakt kan worden tussen allergisch- en peuterastma en er daardoor een meer gerichte behandeling mogelijk is. Dit kan dan wellicht onnodige behandeling voorkómen. Het is de vraag of inhalatiesteroïden in staat zijn om peuterastma te "genezen". Toekomstig (prospectief) onderzoek dient verricht te worden om aan te tonen of dit inderdaad het geval is.

Tevens verdient de invloed van verschillende ontstekingsparameters in het bloed (cytokinen) op het beloop van luchtwegklachten op jonge leeftijd verder onderzoek.

Ons onderzoek naar de twee verschillende behandelingsschema's van fluticason heeft zich gericht op 6 tot 10-jarige kinderen met matig ernstig astma. Het is onduidelijk of de resultaten kunnen worden geëxtrapoleerd naar kinderen in andere leeftijdsgroepen. Ook is het onbekend of de resultaten van dit onderzoek gelden voor kinderen met mild of juist heel ernstig astma. Verder onderzoek moet aantonen of onze resultaten ook van toepassing zijn op andere leeftijdsgroepen en andere "vormen" van astma.

In ons onderzoek zijn gedurende 2 maanden hoge doseringen fluticason onderzocht. Hoewel er vrijwel geen voordeel van deze hoge doseringen ten opzichte van een lagere onderhoudsdosering was op de klachten, longfunctie en luchtweghyperreactiviteit, is de periode van 2 maanden mogelijk te kort geweest om een effect op de luchtweghyperreactiviteit vast te stellen. Onderzoeken, waarin langer dan 2 maanden hogere doseringen fluticason (of andere inhalatiesteroïden) gebruikt worden, moeten aantonen of er inderdaad geen voordeel is van een hogere dosering inhalatiesteroïden. Hierbij dient ook het effect van deze hoge doseringen op (systemische) bijwerkingen onderzocht te worden. Ons onderzoek heeft zich alleen gericht op fluticason, toegediend met een droogpoederinhalator. Naast fluticason zijn beclomethason en budesonide veel geb**rui**kte inhalatiesteroïden. Het is onduidelijk of onze resultaten ook gelden voor deze andere medicamenten. Gelet op het werkingsmechanisme van inhalatiesteroïden kunnen vergelijkbare resultaten verwacht worden. Tevens moet verder onderzoek uitwijzen of dezelfde resultaten gevonden worden met andere toedieningsvormen van inhalatiesteroïden, zoals dosisaërosolen met voorzetkamers.

Langdurig toedienen van een onderhoudsdosis fluticason (200 μ g per dag) lijkt veilig te zijn. Er zijn echter wel dosisafhankelijk systemische bijwerkingen van fluticason. Omdat de botdichtheid bij kinderen met astma afneemt na 1 en 2 jaar behandelen met 200 μ g fluticason per dag, dient het effect van langere toediening (langer dan 2 jaar) en de klinische relevatie (kans op botfracturen) van deze dosis fluticason (en ook van andere inhalatiesteroïden) op de botdichtheid verder onderzocht te worden. De dosisafhankelijke bijwerkingen van fluticason op het botmetabolisme en de invloed hiervan op de botdichtheid verdient eveneens verder onderzoek. Ook de klinische relevantie van de dosisafhankelijke bijwerkingen van fluticason op de bijnierschorsonder**drukking** is een onderwerp voor nader onderzoek.

Ons onderzoek toont een dosisafhankelijke vertraging van de groeisnelheid aan tijdens behandeling met fluticason, hoewel dit niet leidt tot een vermindering in groei ten opzichte van een continue dosering. Het betreft echter een onderzoek met een (beperkte) duur van 2 jaar. Recent onderzoek heeft aangetoond dat langdurige behandeling met budesonide geen invloed heeft op de lengte op volwassen leeftijd. Er zijn echter (nog) geen lange termijn resultaten van fluticason bekend met betrekking tot deze eindlengte. Verder onderzoek bij kinderen met astma moet aantonen of langdurige behandeling met fluticason invloed heeft op de lengte op volwassen leeftijd.
Dankwoord

Ruim zeven jaar na het starten van het onderzoek is het dan eindelijk tijd om iedereen, die zich hiervoor heeft ingezet, te bedanken!!

Als eerste wil ik alle kinderen en hun ouders bedanken voor de moeite en tijd die ze hebben genomen om iedere keer weer naar het Academisch Ziekenhuis Groningen, De Weezenlanden te Zwolle of het Medisch Centrum Leeuwarden te komen. Beste Jasper, Sanne, Jop, Marjan, Nando, Saskia, Ingrid, Ricardo, Melvin, Jan, Arjan, Jacob, Patrick, Natasja, Rachida, Yoran, Moniek, Edwin, Noraly, Gebert, Esther, Deborah, Jessica, Yvonne, Nout, Vincent, Rosanne, Jeroen, Johnny, Jans, Marieke, Julius, Bram, Yje, Stephan, Jan, Daisy, Ilona, Denise, Paulinka, Stevan, Rik, Moniek, Jenneke, Ronald, Jelle, Meerthe, Leonie, Danny, Yvonne, Anneline, Gideon, Monique, Alina, Pieter, Roland, Robin, Liesanne, Raphael, Ellen, Janna, Celeste, Mandy, Rick, Jeroen, Krista, Alida, Cecile, Gijs, Tim, Reinder, Niek, Suzanne, Jelmer, Esther, Stefan, Patrick, Miranda, Herman, Gert, Jasper, Astrid, Megan, Andy, Jeroen, Gerrianne, Charyta, Adinda, Bianca, Sybe, Wilbert, Simone, Chantal, Eyso, Jacoba, Pascal en Arthur, zonder jullie hulp en medewerking was dit boekje er niet geweest.

Bijzonder veel dank ben ik verschuldigd aan prof. dr D.S. Postma. Beste Dirkje, dank voor je tomeloze inzet en vertrouwen in het feit dat het allemaal goed zou komen. Je hebt gelijk gehad! Ook je betrokkenheid op het persoonlijke vlak is een zeer goede stimulans geweest om één ander tot een goed resultaat te brengen.

Prof. dr E.J. Duiverman, beste Eric. Veel dank voor je hulp tijdens de periode dat ik niet in Groningen was en het onderzoek op jouw schouders terecht kwam. Ook je aandeel in het schrijven van de artikelen heb ik als bijzonder leerzaam ervaren.

Dr P.L.P Brand ben ik zeer veel dank verschuldigd voor zijn nimmer aflatende steun tijdens de gehele duur van het onderzoek. Beste Paul, zeer dankbaar ben ik je voor je onuitputtelijke en geduldige hulp tijdens de begeleiding van het onderzoek en het schrijven van de artikelen. Ik heb erg veel van je geleerd.

Dank aan dr H.F. Kauffman. Beste Henk, ik dank je voor je hulp om mij in te wijden in de wereld van de "inflammatory mediator soup". Daarnaast wil ik je bedanken voor je hulp tijdens het schrijven van de artikelen. Prof. dr J.C. de Jongste, prof. dr J.G.R. de Monchy en prof. dr H.P. van Bever, wil ik bedanken voor hun bereidheid om plaats te nemen in de promotiecommissie. U allen wil ik bedanken voor de snelle beoordeling van het manuscript.

Martijn Farenhorst en Hedwig Wildeveld ben ik zeer dankbaar voor het draaiende houden van het onderzoek tijdens mijn afwezigheid gedurende mijn vooropleiding in Zwolle. Ook wil ik Arvid Kamps en Tjalling de Vries ontzettend bedanken voor het includeren en "meten" van patiënten in de andere ziekenhuizen.

Lidia Arends, jou wil ik bedanken voor de uitgebreide statistische analyses die je verricht hebt op de bulk aan data. Ook jouw suggesties hebben tot mooie resultaten geleid.

Prof. dr W.M.C. van Aalderen, dr M.O. Hoekstra en dr J. Gerritsen, beste Wim, Maarten en Jorrit. Dank voor jullie inzet en hulp tijdens mijn onderzoeksperiode op de afdeling Kinderlongziekten. Zeer veel hulp heb ik van jullie gekregen bij het vergaren van de data voor mijn onderzoek. Mede dankzij jullie was de onderzoeksperiode een erg gezellige en leerzame tijd!

Dr E. van der Veer, beste Eveline. Dank voor je hulp bij het opzetten van de metingen met betrekking tot het meten van het botmetabolisme. Je enthousiasme heeft mij sterk gestimuleerd om in de uitslagen te geloven! Daarnaast ben ik je dankbaar voor je hulp bij het schrijven van de artikelen.

Mijn opleider, prof. dr G.H. Koëter, wil ik dankzeggen voor de mogelijkheid om tijdens mijn opleiding te promoveren. Binnen "zijn" afdeling longziekten heeft het secretariaat (Evelyn, Trudy, Christa en Catharina) mij altijd goed geholpen!

Dorothea de Reus, Brigitte Dijkhuizen en Janny Zonderland wil ik bedanken voor hun hulp bij het analyseren van de bloedmonsters. Ook Gert Hofstede en Jan van der Molen wil ik bedanken voor hun hulp bij het analyseren van de bloed- en urinemonsters. Dr Piers en alle andere medewerkers van de afdeling nuclaire geneeskunde wil ik bedanken voor hun hulp bij het meten van de botdichtheid bij de kinderen.

De apotheek van het Academisch Ziekenhuis Groningen wil ik bedanken voor de hulp bij het verstrekken en opslaan van de medicatie, in het bijzonder Janny Kamphuis, Ida Sikkema en Tiny van Diggelen.

Pauline Bloemen en Martijn Akveld wil ik bedanken voor hun hulp bij het opzetten van de studie en het monitoren en bewerken van de data voor het onderzoek.

Op de afdeling Kindergeneeskunde wil ik Aaf Teuben en Jackeline Bakker bedanken voor hun hulp bij de administratieve verwerking van de patiënten gegevens. Nooit heb ik een zucht van ongeduld vernomen wanneer ik weer eens een stapel statussen van patiënten nodig had. Ook alle (prik)zusters op de polikliniek Kindergeneeskunde ben ik dank verschuldigd voor hun hulp wanneer er kinderen geprikt moesten worden. Ook Barabara Elliott ben ik veel dank verschuldigd voor het altijd weer geduldig meten van de patiënten, ook op momenten dat het niet zo goed uit kwam.

Alle leden van de GRIAC (voorheen CARA Research Group) wil ik bedanken voor hun waardevolle commentaren tijdens de protocol besprekingen en "oefenpraatjes".

Natuurlijk wil ik in dit dankwoord ook mijn mede-opleidingsassistenten bedanken voor hun bereidwilligheid om dit onderzoek tot een goed einde te brengen. Beste Jellie, Ronald, Steven, Dirk Jan en Eelco: dank voor jullie tolerantie tijdens de periodes wanneer er weer eens wat op tijd af moest!

Koos Heerink, zeer bedankt voor je hulp en adviezen tijdens het "lay-outen" van dit boekje. Al ons overleg heeft tot een mooi resultaat geleid!

De onderzoekers van weleer, Peter Dijk, Jan-Peter Rake, Aline Sprikkelman, Marion Grol en Marlies van Houten, wil ik bedanken voor hun gezelligheid tijdens en na het onderzoeksgebeuren. Het is een onmisbare stimulans geweest om het onderzoek tot een goed einde te brengen.

Mijn paranimfen, Auke Post en Caspar van Sambeek wil ik bedanken voor hun hulp en ondersteuning voor en tijdens "de dag".

Mijn vader en moeder wil ik bedanken voor de mogelijkheid om de studie geneeskunde te kunnen volgen. Lieve vader, helaas kan je niet bij deze dag aanwezig zijn. Ik weet zeker dat je er enorm van zou hebben genoten!

Tot slot wil ik Alberdien bedanken voor het feit dat je me altijd gesteund en gestimuleerd hebt om dóór te blijven gaan en het onderzoek af te maken. Lieve Eline, ook jou ben ik veel dank verschuldigd. Jij hebt de afronding van het proefschrift in een stroomversnelling doen komen en bent de drijvende kracht geweest om alles tot een goed einde te brengen!!!